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13-10-04 update

The surviving MEDIEVAL  CHURCH  BUILDINGS at Beddgelert:

The following range of architectural descriptions and opinions has been gathered:

CHANCEL: 

c1220 the chancel was rebuilt longer than before and slightly wider than the nave; the  south and east walls remain. (C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file)

A triple lancet east window  is possibly the finest architectural feature in the whole of Snowdonia. The central light is 17 ft 6" (534) long by 1 ft 10" (56mm) and the side ones are 16 ft (488mm) by 1 ft 9" (53mm), the stone was probably brought in small boats up to Aberglaslyn. (Hughes & North, 1924, Old Churches of Snowdonia, p 222 & Elias's Abbeys and Convents of the Vale of Conwy, p 32)

The remains of the string course which passed under the east windows can also be found where the southern buttress joins the east wall. (Hughes & North, Old Churches of Snowdonia, 1924, p 226) 
A triple lancet window with two chamfered orders externally and splayed internally.

(C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file)

The surviving detail is all of the second quarter of the thirteenth century; the eastern triplet and the north arcade are among the finest surviving work of this date in Gwynedd and give a good idea of the manner in which the native style was developing in the time of Llewelyn Fawr. (CA Raleigh Radford, Beddgelert Church, Arch. Camb, 1948-9 p 308)

Three lancets of early thirteenth century date, each with a two-centred head, continuous chamfered jambs of two orders, and wide internal splays. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

Fine early English triple lancet group of unusual height; of gritstone with chamfered reveals and inner arches, the latter showing signs of former ferrumenta. (Cadw, Listed building schedule. 1998)

The Carboniferous gritstone of all the thirteenth century dressed stone may be from either near Red Wharf Bay or the Menai Strait near Pwll Fanogl. (pers. comm. 1998, Prof. D Woods)

A Door in the north wall of the chancel, with a two-centred arch: 

It was called the old priest's door from the vestry, which latter appears from an old print to have been of two stories. (Hughes & North, Old Churches of Snowdonia, 1924 p 223]

In the north door of the chancel is a doorway of the early thirteenth century, with two centred arch, plain chamfered jambs, and segmental rear arch towards the vestry. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

Thirteenth century north door arch (now leading to the vestry), with deep chamfered reveals and evidence of original lime-wash plaster. (Cadw, Listed building schedule. 1998)

South jamb of window in the east wall of the north aisle:

The east wall of the boiler room is built on old foundations, and adjoining the chancel it incorporates old walling which still retains part of the south jamb of a window of the same character and grit-stone as the thirteenth century dressings. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p18.

Projection with the south jamb of a window at the east end of the vestry. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)

The east wall of the vestry is partly medieval and has a section of a thirteenth century grit-stone window jamb surviving to the left (south). Further angle buttressing to the east end, thirteenth but with nineteenth capping. (Cadw, Listed building schedule. 1998)

Exterior buttress and chancel wall:

The exterior buttresses and much of the south corner of the chancel are modern, but on the north the old masonry continues along the east side of the vestry. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17) 

The south wall is of uncertain date but the lower part, including a battered plinth, appears to be old. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

Buttress projecting from south east side of chancel may be remains of an early wall as it is of a different style to those on the east side.

Sedile recess:

Recess for sedilia in inside (south wall of chancel) but no details. (C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file)

Internally there is a recess that may represent the position of an original sedile. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

Internally in the south wall of the chancel there is a recess, now with a timber relieving beam, which may mark the position of the sedile. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)

The two gritstone jambs of a narrow opening were revealed during restoration work in 2000. Below was a rectangular recess in the wall which is now again covered by wooden panelling. There was a smaller opening in the south side of the east wall; this may have been an aumbry or the space for a safe.

NAVE:

Earliest dateable works are the north & east walls of the church which are of early thirteenth century (c1230) date, and probably, the lower part of the south wall of the chancel, which however, has been increased in thickness externally 

(Hughes & North, 1924, Old Churches of Snowdonia, p 222)

Parts of north wall of nave may date from the twelfth century: 

The remains are too slight to throw much light on the layout of the Priory church and cloistral buildings ; it is suggested that the north & west walls of the nave  may be twelfth century, as  they are both without a battered plinth (C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file), 

"One of the most interesting ecclesiastical buildings [in Snowdonia] is the Augustinian Priory church, now the parish church, of Beddgelert. The north wall of the nave is all that remains of twelfth century work. Early in the following century the chancel was rebuilt with its small and impressive triple east window and at the same time, or slightly later, the elaborate arcade leading into the north chapel was set up. Small as the building is, it remains a remarkable illustration of local Welsh workmanship, and one of the monuments to the power and piety of Llywelyn the Great, who gave or confirmed by charter many lands to the long-established 'celtic' monastery which became a priory of Austin Canons". (W J Hemp, 1948, Antiquities of Snowdonia, p 16 in Forestry Commission, Snowdonia: National Forest Park Guide)

The building is of un-coursed local rubble. (C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file)

It seems possible that the north and west walls of the nave may be older than c1230. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

The north & west walls of the nave  may be twelfth century, as they are both without a battered plinth because the stonework differs from that of the thirteenth century in the east wall of the chancel - possible but evidence is not very convincing. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)

Two bay arcade of pointed arches with three richly moulded orders.

The most elaborate ... in Snowdonia (Hughes & North, Old Churches of Snowdonia, 1924 p 223)

The surviving detail is all of the second quarter of the thirteenth century; the eastern triplet and the north arcade are among the finest surviving work of this date in Gwynedd and give a good idea of the manner in which the native style was developing in the time of Llewelyn Fawr. (CA Raleigh Radford, Beddgelert Church, Arch. Camb, 1948-9 p 308)

At the north side of nave at east end, are two arches of arcade compound Early English type piers with attached shafts flat moulded bases and heavy moulded caps. Above complex moulded arches of three orders sat uncomformably on piers. Date copying English or c1220-c1240. The west pier is built as a respond with the outer order towards the nave carried down and stones dressed flat with wall surface but arches clearly form beginning of arcade for aisle and not transept. (C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file)

At the east end of the nave two arches open to the north transept. These are of three richly moulded orders with a hood-mould on the nave side, and spring from attached shafts with circular moulded caps and water holding bases, all typical of c1230. The termination of the hood-mould shows that it did not extend further to the west, but they were so planned that the addition of two more arches to the west would reach the west wall. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

The two easternmost bays of the north side of the nave form a fine early thirteenth century two-bay arcade, dividing the nave from the north chapel. The central pier and engaged flanking piers have clustered shafts with standard early English capitals and bases; heavily-moulded pointed arches with continuous moulded label on the nave face. (Cadw, Listed building schedule. 1998)

The Choir terminated most probably at the west end of the arcade, probably a solid screen, leaving an anti-chapel for the laity westward of it. (Hughes & North, Old Churches of Snowdonia, 1924 p 226)

West end of the Nave north wall:

The north wall has been much messed about with and a later medieval north door inserted with pointed relieving arch which alone remains. (C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file)

The modern window probably marks the position of the opening leading from the west end of the nave into this (north) aisle. (C A Raleigh Radford, Beddgelert church, Arch.Camb, 1948-9 p 308)

The partly blocked doorway near the west end of the wall, containing a modern window, is not an original feature, and may be an eighteenth century insertion; its threshold was at a higher level than the doorway now incorporated in the buttress; the arch is not of the grit-stone used in the medieval dressings and contains a keystone which is not characteristic of early work in this district. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

A demolished north aisle formerly ran along the length of the north side of the church and is evidenced by a stretch of partially demolished walling, with the *south jamb of a door projecting from the north west wall, and a similar projection with the *south jamb of a window at the east end. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5) (See late 18th century drawing of I Evans (Pennant 1783 Pl X )

* identified as belonging to the 13th century by the similarity in grit-stone to that in +;

although the presence of only two arcades in place of four may mean that there was initially a north transept, which was later lengthened into an aisle, perhaps in 1286 during the (possible) rebuilding following the fire. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)

See 18th century drawing (NLW Moses Griffith Mss Book 27. nos 29, 46.) for traces of north aisle & structure on south side of church.

External doorway to north aisle:

The north wall to the west of the arcade has been patched, but is of masonry which differs in character from the known thirteenth century work, and may be part of an older church. The buttress at the north west corner is bonded with the west end of this wall, and retains part of the inner splay and chamfered jambs of the pointed doorway shown in Moses Griffith’s drawing. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

Medieval entrance jamb: Projecting northwards (from the west wall buttress) is a masonry continuation with part of a chamfered medieval entrance, adapted as a buttress in the nineteenth century. (Cadw, Listed building schedule. 1998)

Pre 1830 views of the exterior of the south wall of the Nave:

Two small lancet windows high up in south wall, suggesting the presence of lower roofed buildings on the south side of the church. (Jones mentions a blocked door in the centre of south wall which may have led from the cloistral buildings on the south side into the central area of the church). (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)  

Thirteenth century external door at west end of south wall of nave. (See 1827 sketch (Jones Rev H L 1847, Arch Camb. p 153) There is now no sign of the pointed door at the west end (of the south wall) illustrated by Moses Griffith, so the south wall of the nave must have been completely rebuilt with a battered base in the nineteenth century. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

Lancet window in west wall:

In 1864 Sir Stephen Glynne : "the west window is a small lancet"; "the west doorway within a modern porch is very plain and pointed" so it is probably that this western wall may have contained thirteenth century features (Hughes & North, Old Churches of Snowdonia, 1924, p 223) 

There is a relieving arch for single narrow window in centre of west wall. (C A Raleigh Radford, 1939, RCAHMW file)

The relieving arch over the present window (in the west wall) has the same character as the east lancets of the early thirteenth century. The relieving arch over the porch door is composed of coarse grit-stone voussoirs which are probably of thirteenth century date. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

Voussoirs of blocked window above modern inserted west window may be of thirteenth century date. However, the head of arch of this window is flatter than would be expected for an early thirteenth century window & contains a key stone in contrast to the relieving arches of the east lancets. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)

Above the porch in the west gable is a simple chamfered, pointed arched window (nineteenth century) with part of its Romanesque predecessor visible above. (Cadw, Listed building schedule. 1998)

In addition, the relieving arch above west door may be of thirteenth century date. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)

Buttress at west wall:

The wide flat buttress at the north end (of the west wall) is of small stones characteristic of the early work, but its date is uncertain. (Caernarvonshire III, RCAHMW, 1960, p17)

2.4 m buttress, parts of which have been rebuilt, extending west from the north west corner of the nave with a straight joint above. Its purpose and date are unclear.

i) The west wall may have been built against a continuation of the buttress at a higher level. The straight joint would have survived when the buttress was lowered & the north west corner rebuilt, probably in nineteenth century.

ii) The straight joint may have been the northern end of an earlier (possibly twelfth century - see Raleigh Radford) church which had been abutted by the construction of the north aisle. The north wall may have continued further west than at present. Part of this wall may have been retained as a buttress against which the west wall was built. This continuation of the north wall may even imply the presence of a west tower. In Augustinian houses, this usually occurs over a central crossing, as at Penmon in the twelfth century, but a west tower was present at Ynys Enlli in the thirteenth century. Former clas churches also have western towers as at Llaneilian. The interpretation of this feature must remain unanswered and can only be resolved by an examination of the internal wall after the removal of the plaster and the excavation of the area immediately to the west of the church.

(GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5)

To the left of the porch is an early masonry projection, probably Romanesque work, and forming an irregular projection. (Cadw, Listed building schedule. 1998)

Roof:

The walls and roof were 4 ft (122mm) higher - very fine proportions of the front in its pristine beauty. (Hughes & North, Old Churches of Snowdonia, 1924, p 226) 

The arrangement with a continuous roof, abolishing the clerestorey, dates from the restoration  after the  fire traditionally dated to the sixteenth century. (CA Raleigh Radford, Beddgelert Church, Arch. Camb, 1948-9 p 308)

The pre 1830 external views of the east end indicate that the height of the roof has not been altered, but there are records of the insertion of a lower internal ceiling.

In rebuilding the priory it is said that the stones used in making the arches were brought from Anglesey and the whole building was a very substantial description. There is also a tradition that the stones were brought up to Pont Aberglaslyn in small boats. (Bezant Lowe, Heart of Northern Wales, Vol 2, p 269-70 quoting Elias, c 1897, Abbeys and Convents of the Vale of Conway, p 32) 

The Carboniferous dressed grit-stone is probably from either the Menai Strait near Pwll Fanogl or near Red Wharf Bay, Anglesey. (1998, Pers. Com., Prof. Dennis Woods)

Remains of Priory buildings in the later graveyards.

''While digging a grave on the south side of the church c 1859 two distinct layers of charcoal were seen. The upper layer, which was about six inches thick, was within a foot of the surface; the other was about six inches further down and was at least twelve inches thick. (D E Jenkins, Beddgelert its Facts Fairies & Folklore,1899, p 106) These may  be evidence of the two fires of the  thirteenth & fifteenth/sixteenth  centuries.

c1800-1810 there still remained an extensive old ruin on the southern side of the church, which the old people called Plas Prior. In 1899 the foundations still existed in some places. (D E Jenkins, 1899, Beddgelert its Facts Fairies and Folklore, p 106)

When enlarging the churchyard in 1849-50 and while cutting the foundation of the present southern wall of what may be called the old churchyard , the workmen had to cut through the foundations of three walls. The first of these was opposite the south-eastern corner of the church; the second was opposite the south-western corner; and the third was some 24 feet more to the west - all running from north to south.

1n 1853, when digging a grave immediately in front of the porch, in the direction of the last-mentioned wall, a piece of an old foundation or wall was discovered. It had been built with lime mortar, and beneath it were found 24 coins bearing the date of Henry 111's reign. [1216 - 1272] (D E Jenkins, Beddgelert its Facts Fairies and Folklore, 1899, p 106) 

"On Wednesday 20 April (1853) as the sexton was opening a grave in the churchyard of Beddgelert, he turned up about 24 silver coins of Henry III, in a good state of Preservation. "Henricus Rex III" can be easily deciphered. The head is full faced, and crowned; the septre can be traced. The crown consists of a pretty thick line, raised at each end, with a cross in the middle above the line. On the reverse are three pellets, in the form of a triangle, and a large double line cross continued to the outer rim."

(Arch. Camb., 1853, p 216)

c1830-40 The stump of an old tree was being uprooted within the area marked out by the middle and western wall-foundations referred to above, when large stone steps were discovered. They seemed to be leading down to a cellar, and four of them were laid bare, but nothing of importance was further found. (D E Jenkins, Beddgelert its Facts Fairies & Folklore, 1899, p 106)

The old Priory wall can (1899) still be traced within the new burying ground. It runs right through the middle of the graves which lie next to the path on the Aberglaslyn side of it, and it reaches out about 12 feet into the field. The eastern wall of the old building must reach from that point to the wall of the church, intersecting the churchyard wall as before mentioned.

Measuring the length and the breadth of the ground covered by these remains, from the wall of the choir, that was on the north side of the body of the church, to the old foundation-wall on the southern side, and from the old foundation west of the church to the eastern wall of the church itself, we find that the buildings of the Priory covered 105 feet by 135 feet.''  (D E Jenkins, Beddgelert its Facts Fairies and Folklore, 1899, p 106)
Medieval JUG  HANDLE. 
Dated : Last quarter of thirteenth century. 


In the summer of 1964 a slashed handle was found  in the 'new' churchyard on the south side of St Mary's Church. It was found about 80 ft from the south wall of the church in line with the west wall*. Although this handle had been disturbed before its discovery it had almost certainly not been moved from where it was dug up. 

Deposited by the Parish Council of Beddgelert in the National Museum of Wales.


 The handle is of a fine grey ware, very dark at the centre and oxidised pink in a thin layer on the surface. There is no sign of glaze. The slashing is very heavy. It was most likely made around Chester. Products from this area are distributed along the north Welsh coast. Alternatively the handle may have originated in north-east Ireland.  (Arch .Camb., 1967; p 206-7, Note by B P Day)

*This position is over an unmarked grave in the second row to the south side of the once wider path, one grave east of the central north-south path. This is within the area of the presumed south range of the conventual’s buildings.
Re-appraisal of the Dimensions of Priory given in 1899.

The dimensions given by Jenkins were first thought to indicate that the priory was 105 feet north to south, and 135 feet west to east. However, on measuring this on the ground it appears that, for the following reasons, these measurements may have been transposed.

1. North - South dimension: 

The south wall  is given as running “right through the middle of the graves which lie next to the path on the Aberglaslyn side of it, and it reaches out about 12 feet into the field”. A new row of graves was inserted between 1955-1960 into the south (Aberglaslyn) side of the formerly wide east-west path across the centre of the later graveyard,  and in the next three rows to the south,  those east of the path from the church are post 1899, whereas those in the second row south to the west of the path were pre 1899. If 105 feet are measured north even from the second row of graves, across the west side of the present porch, this terminates  south of the northwest corner of the present church, too far south to include the width of the “choir that was on the north side of the body of the church”. This cannot be correct. Even though the exact width of this former north aisle/choir is not known, early paintings showing the west doorway into it and the once continuous slope of the roof suggest that the aisle was about 13 feet wide, making the total external width of the church 42 feet. This is the same as the width at the east end including the church and vestry. If 105 feet are measured south from the estimated north-west corner of the north choir this terminates in the second row of graves north of the central east-west path; if however 135 feet are measured, this terminates in the fifth / sixth row of graves south of the path. Considering which graves would have been present in 1899, this may be a more realistic north - south measurement.

2. East-West dimension:

The east wall of the chancel has not been altered and is therefore a fixed starting point. The chancel and nave  extend 84 feet to the west. Although the south wall of the nave was rebuilt in 1830, the line of the west side of the church remains as in pre 1830 paintings. The 1880 porch on the site of, and probably of similar dimensions to, the earlier porch, extends 11 feet west of the nave. If the 135 feet measurement was correct, the western corner of the north-south wall-line would be another 40 feet to the west of the porch. However, “the third (wall) was some 24 feet more to the west” of the south-west corner of the church. This would give a total east-west length of 84 + 24 = 108 feet, much closer to the 105 than the 135 feet. In several of the pre 1830 drawings / paintings of the west end of the church a wall is shown to the south of the porch. In the clearest drawing this wall continues west for a short way before turning south. This would appear to support the shorter east-west dimension. 

Other statements give further information. Before the 1848 building of the churchyard wall “the stump of an old tree was being uprooted within the area marked out by the middle and western wall-foundations …, when large stone steps were discovered. They seemed to be leading down to a cellar, and four of them were laid bare, but nothing of importance was further found”. In 1853 “When digging a grave immediately in front of the porch, in the direction of the last-mentioned (western) wall, a piece of an old foundation or wall was discovered. It had been built with lime mortar, and beneath it were found 24 coins bearing the date of Henry 111's reign”. These may represent parts of the north end of the western range of the conventual buildings, frequently used as the lodging of the prior and for visitors and thus likely to contain a cellar.

The accompanying plans ** suggest alternative dimensions of the priory buildings.

Report on Archaeological Investigations undertaken during the Church Restoration Works in 2000 - 2001. 

A Summary of pre-Dissolution  finds. 

Window glass - white half quarries probably of the fifteenth century were found outside the east window (2001 Report, p 33)

Pottery - Two sherds from jugs or cooking pots of the thirteenth or fourteenth century were found south of the chancel. (2001 Report, p 37).


One sherd from a jug or storage vessel of the fifteenth or sixteenth century was found south west of the nave (2001 Report, p 37).



Two sherds from a small jug of the late fifteenth to mid sixteenth century were found south of the chancel. They are of Raeren stoneware from the Rhineland, now in Belgium. (2001 Report, p 37)



SEE the copies of early drawings/paintings for details of the building pre 1830.

MARY’S WELL : FFYNNON FAIR

Ffynnon Fair (Mary‘s Well) is mentioned in 1861. The monks “looked for the most secret remote places to establish their dwellings; and it is said that they used to take care to be near a spring source which was called, since then in the middle ages, Mary’s Well, through the virtue of which the monks, according to tradition, were performing healing miracles”. (rough translation from Y Brython 1861 p169)

“Not far from the village was a well, once consecrated to the service of the monks, with the waters of which they wrought their miracles of healing”. (D E Jenkins, 1899, Beddgelert Its Facts Fairies and Folklore, p 105)

'This was situated  close to a stream on the right-hand of the road, about 200 yards beyond the Royal Goat Hotel on the way to Aberglaslyn. The well has been filled in , so there is now nothing left to mark the position.' (Hughes & North, 1924 The Old Churches of Snowdonia p 227-8.) 

To this well, tradition attributed  “lawer o rinweddau swyngfareddol” “many miraculous vitues”. Merfyn Fardd, 170. (F Jones, 1954, Holy Wells of Wales p 150)

There are now no local recollections concerning its location. Local people remember hearing of a Ffynnon y Person (The Parson’s spring) near the new cemetery south of the Royal Goat Hotel which may have been the same site. The dedication to Mary may indicate that it was  new source of fresh water first used after the re-dedication of the church, or that it had a former name, possibly being to dedicated to Celer or some other saint.

Llwyn y Prior  (The Prior’s Grove). (Grid Reference SH 584 480) 


There was in 1861 a tradition that a magnificent palace belonging to the Priory existed in a place called Llwyn y Prior near the hotel, but that by 1861 nothing at all remained. (Y Brython 1861; repeated in D E Jenkins, 1899, Beddgelert its Facts Fairies and Folklore, p 34)  Llwyn prior was a field name in Cwmcloch farm land marked on a map of 1857. (Twiston Davies private papers)



Llwyn y Prior was said in 1861 to be the recent find spot of ''a large stone/slate slab, not unlike a gravestone, with distinctly inscribed letters carved on it, was found by William Williams, Cwm Cloch, [1781-1855] when he was digging peat ... but, as no one could read it, he cut it up to make a gully for drainage purposes. (Y Brython 1861) It is a sloping field with several rocky ridges and is now twice crossed by embankments and cuttings of the early twentieth century narrow gauge railway. No remains of structures are visible except a barn not shown on the 1857 plan. It was possibly close to the medieval bridle-way to Caernarfon. If there was an early inscribed stone at this site, that would add to the likelihood of part of the community having been sited on this rise above the river flood plain, and therefore to a later Prior's house here. An east-west rectilinear stone dump with a perimeter of large stones may be over a knoll of bedrock or may be the site of an earlier structure possibly robbed for the new 1850 field walls.

EVENTS  after the  DEATH OF LLEWELYN ap Gruffydd in December 1282, and the CONQUEST of WALES by the Anglo-Normans.

1267-died in 1307: 
Anian, Bishop of Bangor

1281-1285 

Pope Martin IV

Einion ap Engan (Anian), Bishop of Bangor was in great favour with King Edward I, and received many gifts from him, including lands. In 1280 the latter gave him a house in London, called Bangor House in Shoe Lane, near St Andrew's Church, Holburn. 

(Elias, c 1897, Abbeys & Convents of the Vale of Conway, p 31)

1283 July 9: Letter of the Lord Anian, Bishop of Bangor, and of ten trustworthy men of the cantref of Dinnedin concerning the £2,000  to be paid by that community to the aforesaid King for the having of peace.
In the Year of the Lord 1283 three days after the Feast of St Cyril, an assembly was held at Lam(er) of the men of the cantref of Dinnedin, which has two commotes, namely Euyonith and Hardidew (Eifionydd and Ardudwy). [This included the Beddgelert area]. There, in the presence of the Lord Anian, by divine mercy Bishop of Bangor, and with the express approval of the said assembly, unanimously it was agreed that to maintain a firm, true and stable peace with the Lord King and his Kingdom in perpetuity, ten of the most  worthy, noble and trustworthy should be held forfeit in punishment of their offence.

In witness whereof the aforementioned Lord Anian and the ten men of the aforesaid assembly of their own express will and that of the entire community, following collective discussion, append their names to this document.

(Littere Wallie no 274. Translated by Peter Llewellyn)

1284 February: Archbishop Pecham visited north Wales & was in Bangor in late June. 

“He issued injunctions for the clergy … placing particular emphasis on the need for enforcing discipline in the matter of clerical dress, behaviour, and celibacy, and the observation of divine service. … From Bangor he travelled southward and was at Tywyn, Merioneth by 3 July”. 

(Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation p 41) 

It is not known which route he may have taken. He would probably have stayed overnight at houses of religion. He could therefore have stayed at Beddgelert, although probably did not, due to the recent fire damage.

“Concubinage, which he could not dignify with the name of clerical marriage, and drunkenness were common causes of offence (to Archbishop Peckham). Quite as bad, if not worse in his estimation, was the ignorance which marred so much of the Welsh clergy. He declared that he could never remember having seen such illiterate priests and clerics as he had found in Wales. … It has been said that “in him the Welsh found a just and considerate arbiter”.” (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of the Church in Wales, p 45)

1272-1327: During the reign of Edward I and Edward II there were four developments which were indicative of efforts to subordinate the interests of the church more closely to those of the secular power: the changing relationship between king, marcher lords, and the Church; the pressure on the Church by the officials of the royal administration in Wales; a sharp rise in the amount and incidence of clerical taxation; and an increased number of royal presentations to Welsh benefices”. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation p 46).

1284 June 11: Archbishop Pecham wrote to King Edward I urging him to send a commission  to inquire into the state of plundered and deserted churches in Wales. 

1284 June 15: King Edward I issued a writ enjoining spoilers of church goods to make reparation and promising, in case of default,  that he would himself make good the deficiency.

1284 June 25: Archbishop Pecham appointed a commission of inquiry consisting of two friars, the prior of the Dominicans at Rhuddlan, and the warden of the Franciscans at Llanfaes, and a secular clerk, Ralph de Brocton. 

(Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation p 43)

1284 July. Littera per quam Rex concessit restituere bona ecclesiastica, ablata in guerra Walliae. Baladeulyn. (NLW, Rymer Foedera, Vol i, part 2, p642) The letter in which the King allowed that ecclesiastical property should be made good.

1284 De satisfactione, pro ecclessiis in guerra Walliae spoliatus & combustis, facienda. (NLW, Rymer Foedera, Vol i, part 2, p643) Concerning the reparations for the churches ruined and burned during the Welsh war.

1284 September - December: King Edward I’s Tour of Wales, starting in Flint. After visiting Bardsey he travelled south and must have crossed Traeth Mawr.  (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation p 44) 

He might  have visited Beddgelert, but that is unlikely if it was still devastated following the recent fire.

1284: From 31 October to 6 November compensation was paid to a large number of clergy, nearly all from north Wales. … The largest amounts, apart from those paid to bishops and chapters, were paid to the religious houses. Valle Crucis received £160; the Dominicans at Bangor received £100.

(Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation p 43-4).

1284 October "Receipt by Anian bishop of Bangor for £250 given by the King in compensation for injuries done to church property in the late war in Wales, by the hand of the Prior of Rhuddlan and Robert Gardiani of Llanfaes. (Syllabus of Thomas Rymer's Foedera - Record i.648)  




1284 Nov 2:  To all who shall see these present letters, the Prior of Bethkelerd (Beddgelert) in the diocese of Bangor, sends greetings,


You must know that we have received fifty pounds sterling at the hands of those discreet men the Prior of Rodland, Gardian of Namfaes (Llanfaes) and Radulf of Broucton, which money the Lord King has given us for the damage and burning done to our house during the late wars waged against us. In return for these fifty pounds we render a quitclaim in perpetuity to the said Lord King.


In witness whereof we append our seal to the present document, Given at Chester on the Feast of All Souls [1 Nov] in the 12th year of the reign of King Edward. (Littere Wallie Ms 91. p 61; translated by Peter Llewellyn) 

Comments about the 1283 fire 

a) It was probably confined to the roof & woodwork only.  (Hughes & North, 1924, Old Churches of Snowdonia, p 223);

b) There is a tradition that the destruction of the buildings was due to the carelessness of the King's soldiers, who were burning the valley forests as a military precaution, allowed the flames to devastate the priory and that the King's generosity was prompted by the dictates of the conscience. (The Church of St Mary Beddgelert, H A Jones & G A Lister, 1949, p 6)

c) The Priory church apparently escaped damage any serious effects, for there is no evidence of rebuilding at that date to be seen in the existing work, but the conventual buildings to the south were probably entirely destroyed, and with them went all the charters and documents. (C A Gresham, Eifionydd, 1973, p 63)

The modern equivalent of £50 is £25,000.  It is not known if this was the actual cost of repairs, just a token  sum. £18 worth of repairs were needed to Caernarvon town after the 1295 uprising; the modern equivalent being £9,000.

1285-1287 Pope Honorius IV. In 1286 he condemned the “Apostolics”, a sect with extreme views on evangelical poverty, but in general he was a keen supporter of the religious orders. (J N D Kelly, 1986, The Oxford Dictionary of Popes)

1286 : Archbishop Pecham (1279-1292) made a second visitation of the Bangor diocese. (D Walker, Medieval Wales, 1990, p88)

1286 April 1: "Anianus bishop of Bangor asks for alms for the rebuilding of the priory of the Valley of St Mary of Snowdon, accidentally destroyed by fire; he has seen certain charters granted to that house by divers princes of Wales.  Maesyllan.

1286 : To all the faithful in Christ, who shall see or hear these letters. Anian, by divine permission, the humble minister of the church of Bangor, eternal salvation in the Lord. Know that we have seen various charters of divers Princes to the Prior and Convent of the Valley of the Blessed Mary of Snowdon. That is to say, 

the charter of Llewelin the Great, over all the land of Kyndewewic ap Rannaut; 

Also the charter of Lewelin, son of Griffin, over all the lands of the sons of Ithael de Penard; also the charters of Lewelin, son of Griffin, over all the lands of Tehan, at Kenynbeind and Lecheitaur;

Also the charter of the Lord Owen over all the Vill, which is called Tref Ybeyrd, in Kynind Meney;

Also the charter of  the Lord Lewelin, son of Griffin, over all that land and place of Beckellers;

Also the charter of the Lord David over all the lands which Ierberd Vab Yerfeynt may have had, and Feraul at Epennant;

Also concerning the said lands we have seen Papal letters, confirmatory with bulls, not cancelled, not abolished, nor in any way weakened in effect.

Whereupon, know all, that the said house of the Blessed Mary is the senior religious house in all Wales, (except the Island of Saints, Bardigeya,) and of better hospitality and of more common resort for the poor, and for the English and Welsh travellers, for those passing from England and West Wales to North Wales, and for those going from Ireland and North Wales into England. But, to the no small loss and common deficiency of all, the said house having been totally destroyed by an accidental fire, although in the time of hospitality it must suffer the greatest destruction, has nevertheless been fully restored by the pious, Catholic and liberal king, by the grace of God, Lord Edward. And because it is a pious act to assist the afflicted and oppressed, We, by the mercy of God, and the intercession of his Mother, and trusting in the suffrages of all the Saints, do mercifully relax forty days of the penance enjoined them to all the benefactors of the said house, assisting it from whatever quarters, who from the goods, granted them by God, have given it pious alms and other favours, so that they be truly penitent and confessed. In testimony of which, etc, Given at Maesyllan, on the octave of the Annunciation of the Blessed Mary, in the year of our Lord, 1286.

(14 Edw I., Ex bundella Brevium et Literarum; 14 Edw 1, in Turri; Dugdale Monasticon Anglicanum vol vi p 200 new edition; Rymer Foed Et Convent etc vol ii p316, AD 1286; Arvona Mediaeva No II Beddgelert Priory, H Longueville Jones, Arch Camb., Vol II; Beddgelert Facts Fairies & Folklore, D E Jenkins, 1899,  p94)

1286 May 10: The King to the archbishop, etc, greeting. Brother Madoc, Prior of the House of the Blessed Mary of Bethkelert, and brother Hugh, fellow canon with himself of the same house, having come to us, have humbly and devoutly supplicated us that, whereas all the buildings of the Priory itself, and the charters and others their instruments given to that Priory concerning different lands and tenements, have unfortunately been, together with the same instruments lately burnt, we should for the sake of charity take care to make for them and their successors, serving God in the same place some security  for the lands and tenements aforesaid; and because the venerable father, Anian, Bishop of Bangor, has sent to us his letters patent, by which he testified that he had seen the charters of divers Princes granted to the Prior and Convent of the aforesaid place, viz.: 

the charter of  Lewelin the Great, concerning all the land of Kindeluluyt, of Pennant; the charter of Lewelin, son of Griffin, concerning all the lands of the sons of Ixthael of Pennard; 

the charter of Lewelin, son of Griffin, concerning all the land of the men of Treban, at Kenynbemd and Letheyeaur; 

the charter of the Lord Owen concerning all the Vill, which is called Frefynerd in Kimidmeney; 

the charter of Lewelin, son of Griffin, concerning all that land and place of Betkelert; the charter of the Lord David concerning all the land of Adver, in Ypenant; 

the charter of  the Lord David of all the land of Legwaret, Vayre, Gneyr, of Penant; and the charter concerning all the land  which Iorverd Vab Yrefyrat and Steyraul had in Epennant.

We, piously compassionating the innumerable losses which the aforesaid Prior and Convent have sustained by the aforesaid combustion, and giving full faith to the laudable testimony of the aforesaid bishop concerning the inspection of the aforesaid charters, do, for the salvation of our own souls and of the souls of our predecessors and heirs, accept the aforesaid donations of the aforesaid lands made to the aforesaid Priory by the aforesaid donors; and, for ourselves and our heirs, as far as in us lies, do grant and confirm them to the aforesaid Prior and Convent, according as they have hitherto reasonably used these donations, and to their successors for ever.

These being witnesses: the Venerable Father Robert Burnell, bishop of Bath & Wells, our chancellor; Edmund, Earl of Lancaster, our brother; Gilbert de Clare, Earl of Gloucester & Hereford; Edmund, Earl of Cornwall, our relation; Edmund de Mortimer; William de Breus; Robert, son of John (Fitz-John?) William de Leyburne, and others. Given by our hand, at Canterbury, the 10th day of May.

(Charter of 14 Edw I, n5;Cal of Charter Rolls vol II, 1257-1300. Page 337. See Monastocon, VI, 2001, no ii) 

King Edward I had thus confirmed to the priory all the lands granted by the Welsh princes in the charters lost in the fire.

1288-1292 
Pope Nicholas IV. (C H Lawrence, ed., The English Church and the Papacy in the Middle Ages, revised 1999, p 122,134)

1289 June 11: Inquisition before Sir W de Grandissono & R de Staundone, Carnarvon. Monday after St Barnabas [which is 11 June]. (17 Edw I - 1289)

Griffith, son of Tudur, & his brother have greater right in certain lands in Pennant Gwernogon by hereditory right after the death of Tudur, son of Madoc, their father, and by his seisin, than Philip prior of Bethkellard, by reason of a grant of David ab Lewelyn, then prince of Wales.

(Cal. of Inquisitions Misc, Chancery I (1219-1307) p 416; Inq. Misc. File 48. [14] 

no 1468)

Between 1240-1246 Prince Dafydd ap Llewelyn bestowed on Beddgelert priory some lands in Pennant Gwernorgan / Gwernogof. However it appears that it was farmed by Tudur ap Madog, an eminent member of the court of both prince David ap Llewelyn and prince Llywelyn ap Gruffydd, whose descendents were in the two gwelyau Tudor ap Madog and the gwelyau Wyrion Iarddur and Wyrion ap Cynddelw in Dindaethwy, Anglesey. This Tudor ap Madog ab Iarddur had a son Gruffydd who was involved in the inquisition of 1289 detailed below.

(Rev P B Williams, 1821, Tourist's Guide through the county of Caernarvon p 138-39; D Stephenson, The Governance of Gwynedd, 1984, p 99, 132) 

These lands in the township of Pennant, which have not been identified, would in 1289 have been returned by the priory to the sons of Tudor.

1291: There was a heavy increase in papal taxation in second half of thirteenth century. (D Walker, Medieval Wales, 1990, p 80) This was mainly caused by the increased value of temporalities. In Wales the steep rise was caused by more vigorous methods of assessment and by the greater prosperity resulting from post-conquest stability. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation p 59).

1291: In the Taxation of Pope Nicholas IV  the Prior of Bethkellard had 50 cows & 

22 sheep. Most of these were probably grazed on the lands in Nant Colwyn but some would have been kept on outlying granges belonging to the priory. (C A Gresham, 1973, Eifionydd, p 63)

As the 1254 Valuation of Norwich documents for the priory of Beddgelert have not survived, it is unfortunately not possible to compare that level of taxation and land holdings with those of 1291.

Temporalities: Goods of the Priory of Beskeler / Bethkellard
1. The Prior has the grange of Lecheydor*/Leycheydor*+/Llecheidior^ and Ippennant*+’/Is penant^ with part of the mills, two carucates of land   30s 0d      3s 0d

2.  Also he has the grange of Fentidill^/Fenhydell’* and the vill of Geibi*/Gwelelyn^/ Gyeberi*/Geybi+ with the commodities

    

    42s 0d   4s  2.5d

3.  Also he has the grange of Haberreich*/Habberrerth+/Habersesth’/Tre’rbeirdd^, one carucate of land, and from bees



 
    16s 8d     0s 20d

Produce of the animals of the Priory of Beskeler/Bethkellard
The Prior has 50 cows; produce.................................................
      50s 0d     5s 0d

Also he has 22 sheep; produce....................................................
      5s 6d  0s 6.75d


Sum of the Goods of the Prior of Beskeler/Bethkellard…

   £7  4s  2d


Sum of the Tithe..............................................................  
          £9 14s 5.25d

(’ Dugdale, Monasticon, vol vi, p 200, ed Ellis; 

^  Browne Willis, Survey of the Cathedral Church of Bangor, 1721, p 208; 

+   Taxatio Ecclesiastica P. Nicholai IV, 1802, Public Record Commission, p 293;

*   Record of Caernarvon, 1838, Record Commission, p 230) 

The land holdings of the priory are listed here under the temporalities, but the transcription of the text into modern place names raises a number of issues. 

1. The holding, or grange described first clearly includes land in Llecheidior and in Pennant, both portions of the later parish of Llanfihangel y Pennant where four land holdings were owned by the priory. The Prior’s land in the Colwyn valley adjacent to the priory had been granted in 1268, and may be within the Pennant entry.

2. The second grange and vill have been transcribed in various ways, and none have at present corresponded with known holdings. Together they are the most valuable of the three granges, and the largest holding at this period is thought to be that of the township of Tre’rbeirdd with the vill of Berw on Anglesey, and they are also the only known township and vill combination belonging to the priory. Research by T Williams indicates the steps through which the vill of Gyeberi could be a mis-transcription for the township of Tre’rbeirdd, and Fenhidellauc for Ysgeifiog, the parish in which part of Berw now lies. (T Williams, 2004, pers. com)

3. The third holding has been transcribed to variously indicate two separate holdings of the priory. Browne Willis suggested Tre’rbeirdd, possibly because he knew that the priory had land there, whereas others suggests Abererch for this text. Further study of the original text, of medieval names for land holdings and the copy of the 1286 priory charter, is required to clarify which land is referred to, but Abererch appears more similar to the original. 

By 1268 the priory had been granted land in Dolwyddelan and in Pennardd, but they may have been small and do not appear under this heading in the Taxation.

1291
Taxation of Goods Spiritual & Temporal in the Diocese of Bangor: Spiritualities: In the archdeaconry of Bangor - Deanery of Arllechwedd:

Ecclesia de Penanmeu (i.e. Dolwy-felen)
vij m. & dim.

(Browne Willis, Survey of the Cathedral Church of Bangor, 1721, p 203) 

Dolwyddelan is not now in the deanery of Arllechwedd, and it is possible that this is not a reference to Dolwyddelan, but to Penmorfa, as given in the Taxation, p 291. If it is a reference to Dolwyddelan it may indicate that the priory at Beddgelert did not yet have the cure of souls at Dolwythelan, although holding land there.

1291: Produce, Rents and Revenues:

Proventus Redditus & Obventiones 
Abbatis de Enlli

xxx m.
(£20)

Proventus Redditus & Obventiones 
Prioris de Prestholm

xxx m.
(£20)

Proventus Redditus & Obventiones 
Abbatis de Conwey

xx m.
(£13 6 8)

Proventus Redditus & Obventiones 
Abblatis de Kymer

xxv m.
(£16 3 4)

Proventus Redditus & Obventiones 
Prioris de Valle Beate Marie, i.e. Bethcelert in Com, Carnarvon






xxx m.
(£20)

(Taxatio Ecclesiastica P. Nicholai IV, p 291; Browne Willis, Survey of the Cathedral Church of Bangor, 1721, p 204)

There is no mention of Ynys Tudwal in this summary list, but under Lleyn there is an entry: Church of the priory of Ynys Tudwall: 
£5 6s 8d
tithe 10s 8d.

(Taxatio Ecclesiastica P. Nicholai IV, p 291)

1291:  Bishop Anian summoned a synod which issued constitutions for his clergy; the details have unfortunately not survived, but it is probable that they were based on those of Archbishop Pecham. The famous Pontifical, attributed to Anian, may have been compiled about the same time. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 72).

1293 Nov 1: Westminster. Power to Robert de Staundon, justice of North Wales, on petition by Hugh, canon of the priory of Vale St Mary, Bethkelerd, which is void by the cessation of Philip, the late prior, to grant, on behalf of the king, to the sub-prior and convent letters of licence to elect, give the royal assent to the election when made, signifying the same to the diocesan, and after confirmation by the bishop of the person elected, and after taking his fealty, to restore to him the temporalities; first obtaining from the elect and his chapter letters patent that this grace shall be without prejudice to the king. Same date.

(Cal of the Patent Rolls. Edward 1292-1301, page 40-41)

1292-1294
Abdication of Pope Celestine V.

1294-1303
Pope Boniface VIII, a canon lawyer. He proclaimed 1300 a year of jubilee, with plenary indulgences for pilgrims to the Apostle’s shrines.

1294 to April 1295: The uprising of Madog ap Llewelyn, a descendant of Cynan ab Owain Gwynedd and one of the four sons of the last ruler of Meirionydd.

1295 Aug 7 - Dec 18 : After the damage caused at Caernarfon by the Madog uprising 

"£17 19s 9d had been expended on rebuilding the damaged or destroyed 'king's houses beside the castle' [at Caernarvon]. (PRO E 372/146) Principal items of expenditure included: (iv) Granary - timber and  shingles (wooden roof tiles) for which were brought from (Bethkelard) - £3 13s 9d." 




(PRO E 101 / 486/9; A J Taylor, The Welsh Castles of Edward I, London, 1986 p 86)

This may have been obtained from priory land; there was no known settlement  at the site of the present Beddgelert apart from the Cistercian and Augustinian holdings.

1303-1304
Pope Benedict XI

1304-1314
Pope Clement V. He never moved to Rome, but stayed in Gascony, then moved to Avignon, south France.

1307-1327 
King Edward 11

1307- 1309: 
Gruffudd ab Iorwerth, Bishop of Bangor, a local cleric elected by the canons.

1309 - 1328: Einion (Anian) Sais, Bishop of Bangor. Another member of the Bangor chapter, having been from the archdeaconry of Anglesey and the deanery of Bangor. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 66)

1316-1334
Pope John XXII: he was efficient and ruthless, and was based at Avignon.

1322 April 25: Adam de Evyonyd canon of St Mary's Beddgelert brings news of death of Philip late prior of that place. Licence to elect. (Cal Pat Rolls Coll. 1321-24, p 101)

1322 May 20: Mandate of Edmund earl of Arundel, (?) justice of Wales to restore the temporalities of the priory of the Vale of St Mary, Bedkelerte to Llewelin, a canon of that house whose election as prior has been confirmed by An. [Anian Sais] Bishop of Bangor. Writ of intendo directed to the tenants of the house. 

(Cal Pat Rolls, 15 Ed II pt 2 p 102-126)

1322 May 20: Certified confirmation by bishop of Bangor. (PRO, C84/20/15)
1327-1377 King Edward III

1328 - 1357: Matthew de Englefield (ap Kirid), Bishop of Bangor. He was another member of the Bangor chapter, having been from the archdeaconry of Anglesey and the deanery of Bangor. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 66)

1333 King Edward III gave his eldest son responsibility in Wales (the Black Prince), and made him Prince of Wales in 1343.

1334-1342
Pope Benedict XII: he was a Cistercian theologian, still based at Avignon. He was to be a reforming pope, stopping abuses, and sending “hangers-on” back to their benefices.  In 1339 he issued new constitutions for the Augustinian canons in 39 articles.

1337-1453 The Hundred Years war between England & France. 

1337: Prior Llewelyn resigned by 3 March, probably 1 March 1337. (PRO, C84/23/50)

1337 March 13. Westminster. Malbrice, canon of the priory of Bedkelerk, brought news of the resignation of Lewelin, his prior,  and has letters of licence to elect. 

(Cal Pat Rolls II Edw III part1, page 392)

1337 April 10: Woolmer. Mandate to Richard, earl of Arundel, justice of North Wales, or such as supplies his place, for restitution of the temporalities of the priory of St Mary, Bedkelert, to John de Leyn, one of the canons, whose election as prior has been confirmed by Matthew, bishop of Bangor, and who has done fealty to the king.

The like to Robert de Hamburg, king’s clerk, chamberlain of North Wales, and escheator there. Writ de intendendo directed to the tenants of the priory.

(Cal Patent Rolls II Edw III part 1, page 419)

In 1339 the Pope issued new constitution for Augustinians. The Benedictines established joint colleges, Worcester College Oxford & Magdelene college, Cambridge. The Augustinians established St Mary’s College, Oxford. (Monastic Life in Medieval England, Dickinson, 1961, Adam & Charles Black., p 112-113)

1342-1352
Pope Clement VI: he supported France, and had a magnificent expensive court; he was still based at Avignon.

1343: Edward III placed Wales under the rule of his eldest son (the Black Prince) who was created Prince of Wales. Edward III was driven by the war with France to exploit to the limit all the sources of income available to him. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 118).

1343 August 5: Commissioner, Richard de Stafford, at Carnarvon. - where officials took the oaths of their office and the tenants and others in the county did their fealty. Magnates, the bishop of Bangor, the abbots, priors and clergy were asked what aid they would give, and obtained leave to delay their answer until the next feast of the Nativity of the Virgin in Shrewsbury.

The unusual privileges exercised by some of the religious orders and ecclesiastics in North Wales  attracted the Black Prince’s attention, and so the abbots of Conway, Cymmer and Bardsey, the prior of Bedd Gelert and Bishop of Bangor were summoned to show by what authority they exercised them

No one in North Wales could be ordained to holy orders without leave of the King or Prince, and celibacy does not appear to have been enforced on the clergy in North Wales by the Diocesan. (Arch. Camb., 1873, On the Welsh Records  in the time of the Black Prince, R.W.B.,  p 158-170)

1345: “North Wales was in a state of unrest and tension. …In February the prince’s own deputy, Henry de Shaldeford had been murdered by Tudur ap Gronwy, one of the native magnates of Anglesey, and his cleric brother Hywel. … Among those charged with conspiracy in March 1345 were the dean of St Asaph and the abbot of Conway, while other leading clerics, including the archdeacon of Bangor and the rural dean of Llyn, were still at large”. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 124).

1348: The Prior of Beddgelert claimed right to amobr from his tenants 

(Record of Carnarvon, Extent of Anglesey p 166; Huw Pryce, Native Law & the Church in Medieval Wales, p 219) From his Anglesey and/or Caernarfonshire lands?

1349-50 The Black Death, the most devastating of many outbreaks of bubonic plague,  killed between one third and one half of the population. It is not known how Beddgelert fared. (A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire, p 17) 

It is possible that people sought help from the priory at times of plague, thus bringing it with them.

1348-9 “Two parts of the Welsh people” died. (Pen MS 32); there was a death rate of 43% in Hereford. No episcopal records survive showing the death rate, but mass ordinations suggest efforts to bring the priesthood up to strength. Many were rushed through holy orders from acolyte, sub deacon, deacon & priest within three months.

(Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 146-8)

1350 Dec 27: At Crukeyth (Cricieth) Witness to a gift of lands in the town of Cruckeyth …include Hoell ap Gruffydd Brior.  (GAS Mer, Tanybwlch, Z/DV. Ms178)   It is not known whether Hoell ap Gruffydd or Gruffydd was the prior, nor he was prior of Beddgelert or Bardsey. 

1350 The prior (Prior domus Vallis Beate Marie de Bethkellert- the house of valley St Mary of Beddgelert) was summoned to answer to the (Black) prince on a plea of Quo Warranto, and to show why he and his successors claimed to be quit of  “every vexation, talliage, and exaction of courts, and from secular service, and also from suit of mills and hundred courts, and all other courts throughout the whole domain of the prince; and to have the offices of bailiffs, raglots, ringilds and woodwards, and americium, with wild animals and birds, over all their land in North Wales, and with all other rights in any way belonging to the Prince, as well as concerning transgressions as forfeitures, so that no bailiffs nor ministers of the Prince or his heirs  could have or require anything from the men or tenants of the lands of the Prior and his Canons, but that the said Prior and Canons were to have the whole profit and dominion of the aforesaid lands for ever; and also that the same Prior and Canons should be free and quit of all amerciaments throughout the whole domain of the Prince, and in whatsoever manner they might be liable to amerciaments; and if any of their tenants should be fined in the court of the Lord the Prince, the said Prior and Canons were to have and receive these fines; contrary to the interest and dignity of the Prince”, etc

The prior replied that Llewelyn ap Gruffydd had granted by his charter to one of his predecessors all the liberties above stated, to have and to hold for the benefit of this house “in free and perpetual alms” for ever, “ and he produced the said charter, which testified the same thing, and of which the date was Kaernarvan, on the day of St James the Apostle, 1271”. The Prior then related how one of his predecessors had appeared before King Edward I, after the conquest of Wales, and the Bishop of Bangor being present and testifying to the truth of his statement, had rehearsed the calamitous loss of the muniments of the house by fire; and that the king had then granted to the Priory a new charter, which he quoted at length. This documented here recited in the pleading the same as it has been above.

 Upon this, John de Delves acutely observed, that whereas the Prior had actually produced in court a charter which he asserted to be that granted by Llewelyn, and then had afterwards alleged that all the charters and monuments of his house had been destroyed by fire, and whereas it had been actually recognized in King Edward’s charter above cited that they had been so destroyed, it was evident that the charter produced under the name of Llewelyn could in no wise be called, or admitted to be, that very charter by which the privileges in question had been granted. And further, that it appeared by the seal itself of the charter, that it had been newly sealed, and not at the time supposed by its date. 

Hence it followed that the charter was false and fabricated, and he claimed that judgment should pass if the Prior claimed his privileges by virtue of this document. He also claimed of the court that the Prior, on account of this counterfeiting and falsifying Prince Llewelyn’s charter, should be committed to gaol as a seductor of the Lord Prince, and all liberties and possessions of the said house, that is to say its temporalities, should be taken into the hands of the Prince. 

The Prior, in his justification, declared that he had not counterfeited this charter, nor was he guilty of any action of the kind, nor of any sedition, but that at the time when he was made Prior of the aforesaid house, he found the charter in the state in which it now was, in his Priory. 

This he professed himself ready to verify to the court in any way it might determine; and on account of this he alleged this charter as good and true for the maintenance of his liberties. The charter appears to have been put in and examined, and the pleading states that it appeared manifestly false and counterfeited one, because the wax with which it was sealed was “ new and recent”, while the date was seventy two years previous, and therefore it was of no avail to the Prior. It was then immediately granted by the court that all the liberties and temporalities of the Priory should be taken into the hands of the Prince, and the Prior is stated to have been committed to gaol. The place of his confinement is not mentioned, but it was probably Caernarfon Castle, nor does it say anything as to the duration. However, the record ends by stating:

“Afterwards, in the presence of Richard de Stafford, the aforesaid prior for the recovery of his temporalities aforesaid, and similarly for the other matters aforesaid 

(the liberties are not here specified), paid a fine of 100 shillings, under bail of the following persons: Gervaii. Beneyt, Howell Moel ap Joz ap Ad Loit. Mad ap Jor Vaughan and Mad ap Jor Jo’r’w.” These names, given as they are in the Record, may admit of correction. 

Then follows the entry: "Let Io (John), the same prior recover his temporalities aforesaid; and let him be liberated from the gaol aforesaid".   

(Record of Caernarfon p 166-7 & p iv footnote; H Longueville Jones, Arvona Medieva II, Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., vol II, 1847, p161-163)

From late 1350s, there was papal provision for making episcopal appointments at Bangor; and fewer Welsh were appointed.

1352-1362
Pope Innocent VI was based at Avignon.

1357 - 1366: Thomas de Ringstede, Bishop of Bangor. He was an eminent Englishman of scholarship, a Dominican Friar of the university of Oxford and had travelled to Rome.

1360 : Charter of Tre'r Beirdd

" ... I, Iorwerth ap Dafydd ap Garw, a free tenant of the Prior of Beddgelert in the township of Tref Beirdd, commot of Menai, and county of Anglesey, have given, granted, sold, and quietly surrendered for ever to Cynrig ap Meredydd ddu, and Ithel his son, free tenants, or their assignees, all the lands in the township of Berw, and in the hamlet of Tref-Beirdd, with all their appurtenances, by permission of Mr. Cynhelin, Prior of Beddcelert; and I have given, granted, and quietly surrendered for ever to the aforesaid Cynrig ap Meredydd ddu, and Ithel, their heirs, or assignees, all my lands at Glas Ynys in the aforesaid township of Trefeyrd, with all their appurtenances and easements which are determined on one side by Ynys-y-Meirch opposite to Trefarthen, and on the other by Gwaur Walchmai facing Tref-beyrd; to have and to hold the said lands of me and my aforesaid heirs, Cynrig and Ithel, their heirs and assignees, having free and peaceable possession thereof by hereditary right in perpetuity, with power to give, sell, and assign them whensoever or to whomsoever they please. And I, the aforesaid Iorwerth, or my heirs, will warrant that surrender, grant, and peaceable claim, against all people, and will defend the same at our own private cost. In testimony of which I have affixed my seal to this present deed, the following persons being witnesses and sureties, viz., Evan ap Gwilym ap Rathro, Einion ap Cynwrig ap Madyn, Madoc ap Iorwerth ap Bleddyn, Iorwerth ap Howel ap 

Tegeryn ddu, with many others. 

Given at Llanidan, in the monastery there, on Friday, by authority of the See of the Holy Father, in the 34th year of the reign of Edward III., King of England, and in the year of our Lord 1360".

It appears that the land was appropriated to the monastery of Beddgelert by lord Owain and that the prior had the authority, under the prince, to exercise dominion and receive rents and maybe other dues, until 1535. 

Henry Rowlands suggested that the prior's residence in the township, designated a monastery, was situated where ruins called Merddyn y Prior, near Blochdy, on the south side of the township, were, in 1723,  to be seen. (Henry Rowlands, Antiquitates Parochiales IX, Arch Camb, 1848, p165-6) 

It is more likely that the monastery, where the 1360 document was signed by the prior, was what is now the old parish church of Llanidan.

1362-1370
Pope Urban V, was a canon lawyer who led a simple life and wanted to see reform. In 1367 he returned to Rome, but then returned to Avignon.

1371-1378
Pope Gregory XI returned to Rome.

1366 - 1370: Gervase de Castro, Bishop of Bangor, was a Dominican friar, probably of Welsh origin.

1371 - 1372: Hywel ap Goronwy, Bishop of Bangor. This may be the same man involved in 1345 in the murder of Henry de Shaldeford. He had been Dean & Canon of Bangor, & Archdeacon of Anglesey; he died in Rome.

1372 - 1375: John Gilbert, Bishop of Bangor. He obtained economic concession, the full legal title to Bangor House, Shoe Lane, London. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 157) he was translated to Hereford in 1375.

1370s
Papal provision became the normal method of the appointment of bishops at Bangor from the 1370s. (D Walker ed., 1990, A History of the Church in Wales, p 43)

1372
Lease (beginning November 1372) by Cuhelyn prior of the monastery of Beddgelert and by consent of the conventus, to Madoc ap Hwlcyn ap Meredydd, of lands in the hamlet of Tre’r Beirdd in commote Menai, lying between the lands of Madoc Voel and those of Grono ap Adda. (UWB, Baron Hill ms 1647 catalogue notes)

“to those presents … brother Cehelyn, prior of the monastery of Beddgelert and the convent of that place … unanimous consent having been given, by this charter confirm … Madog ap Cynwrig ap Meredudd, free tenant of the commote of Menai in the County of Anglesey and his heirs and assigns or administrators … land in the hamlet of Trefbeird in that commote at Berwissaf …Cynwrig ap Meredydd in former tenancy and everything of his appertaining, which lands lie between Madog Voel on the one side and Carreg ?bwrynog on the other side, having and holding the aforesaid lands … (obligations of Madog, heirs, assigns, administrators, successors etc in respect of money payments at Feast of All Saints and all services, suits and charges). Witnesses: Llywelyn ap Dafydd ap Hwlcyn, Meredudd ap Llywelyn ap Ednyfed, Ieuan (or Iorwerth) ap Gruffydd ap Dafydd, Bleddyn ap Ieuan Fawr, Gruffydd ap Tudor ap ?Hywel and Bed’? ap Dafydd with several others … at Llanidan on Tuesday 20th day following the Feast of All Saints in the 46th year of Edward III (i.e. November 1372). (Translated by David Longley)

1375 March 7: Caernarvon Town Court held on Wednesday  before St. Gregory's day.

Cuhelyn, Prior of Beddgelert [MS. Bethkelerd] versus Ken' ap Goronwy ap Phylip 

in an action for debt; the latter amerced 6d., for absence, and summoned to be at the next; on which day with the defendant still absent, Cuhelyn claimed half a mark, the price of an ox  bought  of  him,  payment  being  due  by the feast of St. John ante portam Latinam. 48 Edward III [6th May, 1374] ; it was adjudged that he should recover from plaintiff the debt and damages assessed at 2s; and  Ken'  amerced  6d.     

(Caernarvon Court Rolls,  Town Court,   1374-75, p 89) 

1376 May 7: Commission to the archdeacon of Bangor to proceed to the election of a new prior on the death of Keelin - [Cuhelyn] (Lambeth Reg. Sudbury, f 117r)

c1376 "the Prior and Convent represent by petition, that a mill of theirs at Pennant Wernokyon, in Caernarvonshire, having been destroyed in time of war, they agreed with one Llewelyn ap Conan that (they being incompetent to meet the expenses of doing so) he should rebuild the mill on condition of receiving half the profits, until a certain time, and that this time being then expired, the king's officers had seized on that half of the mill; and therefore they petitioned for remedy of this grievance" 

In the next record, his son, Llewelyn ap Llewelyn ap Conan petitioned on the same case, stating the facts as mentioned in the former petition; and to this, as well as apparently to the proceeding, answer is given that the Justicary will inform himself of the manner and cause of this seizure, and the truth of the fact, and will acquaint the King therewith. (Henry Longueville Jones, Arvona Medieva No II Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., 1847, p 163; & Record of Caernarvon, p 220) 

[Black Prince Inquisitions 44 Edw III - 1376?]

This mill at Pennant Gwernogyon appears to be near to or the same land as that mentioned in the inquisition of 1289. There are numerous streams in Pennant, and there is also one in the detached portion of Pennant in Llecheiddior. The location of this mill has not been identified.

1377-1399 King Richard 11

1376 - 1398: John Swaffham, Bishop of Bangor. He was a rigid opponent of Lollardy. In 1395 Wales was included with England in papal measures against Lollards. 

The Bishop was a Carmelite of Norfolk. He was present at a synod in London for suppression of the doctrines of Wycliffe, against which he was a great stickler, and, by writing a book to disprove them, obtained this See. (Brown Willis, Survey of the Cathedral Church of Bangor, 1721, p 81)

1370s: Clerical taxation had increased for a generation or more and “some Welsh clergy were thoroughly rebellious. In Bangor the justices of north Wales had to be called in to compel, by distraints and otherwise, the “contrary and rebellious” clergy who were hopelessly far in arrears with the payment of their tenths”. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 140-1).

In the 1370s and 1380s there was  a fresh outburst of appropriations once Pope Urban’s prohibition had expired. These seem to be closely related to the economic crisis of those decades. Appropriations, though requiring a very heavy initial capital outlay, were one of the favourite devices of an energetic abbot for buttressing the failing revenues of his monastery. … In 1381 the Austin Canons of Carmarthen were required to pay adequate annual stipends to the vicars of the many churches appropriated to their priory, but still acquired two more churches within the next fifteen years. …In 1403 an act of parliament was passed, but never enforced, laying down that a secular vicar should be appointed in every appropriated church and that no monk should serve as vicar in one. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 164-7).

It  may well be, however, that it was the need to try to stabilize their income which was the greatest concern of clerical landowners as it indeed was of all property -owners at this time. Under the pressure of economic decline, falling land-values, and labour shortages, laymen and clerics alike found it necessary to change from an economy of direct exploitation to one of fixed rents. For clerics this meant the farming out on lease of temporal and spiritual sources of income. The process was stimulated by the growth of pluralism and appropriations. Absent pluralists were only too anxious to try to secure an assured income by farming out benefices they never saw. As for appropriated churches, they were regarded “principally as an economic asset to the owner”. There was a strong incentive, therefore, to farm them out to the highest bidder, especially when they lay at any distance from the institution which had appropriated them. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 169).

For much of the thirteenth century the Cistercians tried to uphold the original ban against leasing land  to lay persons. After 1302 the pope permitted Cistercians to order the lease of their possessions without having to submit them to the claims of rectors and other tithe-owners, and the way was open to leasing on a large scale. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 172).

1377 : Court of the Fairs of Caernarvon held  there before John de Stanworthin and John Newent bailiffs, on Wednesday next after Michaelmas in the first year of  Richard  II. [30th September 1377]    Toll of this fair : 38s. 8d.

     Rhys ap Tudur versus Iorwerth Ddu ab Eden' in an action for breach of contract; the latter amerced (no amount entered) for absence and summoned for the next hour, at which the parties came and Rhys said that on Monday next after the feast of the Nativity of St. John Baptist 51 Edward III [29th June, 1377]* Iorwerth agreed with him to carry divers timbers from Beddgelert [MS.  Bethkelard] to the port of Llanidan [MS.  Lanydan] by St. James's day next following [25th July] under a penalty of forty shillings to be evenly divided between the Lord Prince and the said Rhys, and that Iorwerth had not carried the timber and thus incurred the penalty, for his part of which Rhys brought suit; Iorwerth came and, without denying the agreement as to the penalty, said that the date for completion of the carrying was the feast of SS.  Philip and James next following (1st May, 1378], and this he was ready to prove by a jury (et hoc paratus est verificare per patriam); Rhys said the date was St. James's day, as above, and with regard to that he put himself before a jury; and Iorwerth similarly ; therefore by consent of the parties a jury was chosen, which found that the date for the carrying was St. James's day ; therefore Rhys to recover his half of the penalty and Iorwerth was amerced (amount not entered).

(Caernarvon Court Rolls, Court of the Fairs, 1377-78 , p 97)   

It is not known whether this timber was for a building or church on the Priory land on Anglesey. 

The Llanidan Ferry

Suggested positions were suggested. Firstly, the field named “ inlet of the ferry-boats” (Llwyd, Poems, p 171), where the road comes down to the shore a little to the eastward of Llanidan church, and on the Caernarvonshire side, beneath the point on which Llanfairisgaer church stands. The two old churches render it fairly certain that these two roads must have existed from early days.

Secondly, where an old road comes down to the shore at Barras, a mile and a half further west, but still within the parish of Llanidan. In 1820 an unauthorised ferry plied here, landing its passengers on the Caernarvonshire side below Plas Brereton, where the 1841 OS marks “Ferry-house”, but no road led inland.

One is tempted to regard the Prior of Beddgelert as one of the most likely to have held the early ferry. When one recalls Bishop Anian’s statement that the priory was the resort for English and Welsh travellers, “ for those going from Ireland and North Wales into England”, and others, and remembers that the Prior had a house at Llanidan and considerable possessions in the parish, and that the churches and rectories of both Llanidan and Llanfairisgaer were appropriated to the Priory, one may well hold that no one was more likely than the Prior to have established a boat upon the Straits and to have received some such grant as the early holder would appear to have possessed. 

There is no known Extent of the Temporalities of the Priory. But, if one could trace an Escheator’s account, at any date during the fourteenth century, the required information should be available. The Anglesey Escheator does render an account headed “Temporalia Prioris de Bethkellard” in 1438. But it is, unfortunately, only a correction of his account rendered the previous year, in which he had wrongly returned as “temporalia” certain lands held by the late Prior “Daicus ap Kejelyn” in the township of “Llannaden”. He has now received a “writ from the King” directing immediate restitution to “Gruffith” now Prior, and amends his account accordingly. (PRO, M.A. 1153/4. Ministers’ Accounts. General Series. NOT YET SEEN) The previous year’s accounts are missing, and an account of this date would, perhaps, in any case have been too late for our purpose.

No particulars of these temporalities have been traced of an earlier date than 16 Elizabeth (1574), when they were sold to Lord Chesney. Surveys were made and inquisitions held at Beaumaris and Caernarvon, in this year, and full particulars are given. The Anglesey Schedule comprises five tenements and a large number of rents, ranging from 2d to 3s 4d, all in the township of “Tree yrbeith”. (PRO, NOT YET SEEN) The tenements are Maes Arge, Tithing y Rivn, Tethen Athe ap David, Tithing y prior and Tithin yskibor.

The Caernarvonshire Schedule, commencing with the site of the late priory “ voc’ Tuthin y llan als dict y priordie”, is much more extensive. (PRO Exchequer Augmentation Office E 318/2310. Particulars for grants of Crown Lands)

We have to note that the Tyddyn y Prior of the present day appears to be situated “where the ruins (now called Merddyn y Prior) near Blochdy” were placed by Rowlands (Arch Camb, Vol III (1848) p 166). If this marks the position of the Prior’s house in Llanidan, it is considerably nearer to Barras than to where the road reaches the shore below Llanidan Church. Should the Prior’s title to the ferry be established we might thus still be in doubt as to its location. Here we must leave the unsolved problems of the early Llanidan ferry.

(The Conway & the Menai Ferries. H Rees Davies, 1942, p 70-1)

See also RCAHM, Anglesey. 1937, p clxxii)

1377-1381: Poll Tax returns give the most reliable indication of clerical numbers. 

There were four monks at Beddgelert. (PRO, E 179/3/1-5 for Bangor diocese. NOT YET SEEN; Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 56)

Numbers in monastic houses may have been halved. … from about 1370 onwards the combined effects on the Church in England and Wales of a long process of economic decline, heavy pressure from curia and court, a series of major military campaigns, and three large scale visitations of the plague, were becoming plainly visible. The Church, indeed the whole realm, was entering upon a period of disaster and exhaustion. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 150-4).

1379
Prior John is recorded. (PRO, E179/3/3)

1378-1389
Pope Urban VI in Rome. He retained the support of the English King.

1378

Antipope Clement VII was ALSO elected. Papacy split until 1417

The GREAT SCHISM; one pope was in Rome and one was in Avignon.

In 1381 the diocese of Bangor the bishop had to seek permission to unite parishes because they were so poor that no one would accept them. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 158).

1389-1404
Pope Boniface IX was elected to follow Pope Urban VI in Rome.

1384 The death of John Wycliffe at Lutterworth (born 1329). He was an Englishman, an Oxford don and reformer opposed to transubstantiation and the need of a priest to mediate with God. He initiated a new translation of the Latin Vulgate Bible in English (1388). In the 1380s Wycliffe sent out preachers advocating spiritual enlightenment through reading the Bible] (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 207).

His followers were known as Lollards, meaning mumblers or heretics, opposing the Catholic church, and they developed as an organised group in 1395.

Wycliffe was a friend of Geoffrey Chaucer and it is said that the Parson in the Canterbury Tales was written as a tribute to John Wycliffe:


A kindly Parson took the journey too.


He was a scholar, learned, wise, and true.


And rich in holiness though poor in gold


A gentle priest; whenever he was told


That poor folks could not meet their tithes that year,


He paid them up himself; for priests, it’s clear


Could be content with littlel in God’s way.


He lived Christ’s Gospel truly every day,


And taught his flock, and preached what


Christ had said.

(John Wycliffe, The Parson, Word Alive magazine, 2001, Wycliffe Bible Translators of Canada)

1390 Sept 7 Westminster. Licence for the sub-prior and convent of Beddgelert (de valle in diocesi Bangorensis) to elect a prior in the room of Jevan ap Bled, deceased. 

By p.s. [6564] (Cal Patent Rolls 14 Richard II page 300; PRO C84/34/41)

1390 Oct 3. Westminster. Signification to J[ohn Swaffam], bishop of Bangor, of the royal assent to the election of Matthew, canon of the Augustinian house of St Mary, Beth(gelert) (de valle), in the diocese of Bangor to be prior thereof. 

(Cal Patent Rolls 14 Richard II page 305; PRO C84/34/41).

1391 : 13 Kal. March : (St Peter’s, Rome) 'To the abbot of Enlli, the prior of Beddkelert, in the diocese of Bangor, & the archdeacon of Bangor. Mandate to collate & assign to Howel ap Madoc, priest, of the said diocese, the church of Llanergart  [Llaneugrad, Anglesey?] in the same diocese, value 15 marks, void by reason that David ap Gruffud Says held it for more than a year without being ordained priest or obtaining a dispensation  and void so long that by the Statutes of the (Fourth General) Lateran Council its collation has lapsed to the apostolic see; notwithstanding that Howel is expecting under letters of the present pope, a benefice with or without cure in the gift of the bishop, and has had provision of a canonry of Bangor with expectation of a prebend, which letters shall upon his obtaining Llannergart be null as far as regards a benefice with cure only'. 

 2 Boniface IX. (Cal of Papal Registers. Papal Letters IV (1362-1404) p 414).

1398 Papal pressure lay behind the unsuccessful bid to obtain the bishopric of Bangor for Lewis Aber. (D Walker ed., 1990, A History of the Church in Wales, p 43-44)

1398 - 1404: Richard Young, Bishop of Bangor. He dared not spend any time in the diocese due to the circumstances of the period. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 132). He was translated to Rochester.

Probably as a result of the Black Death, the financial  position of the house deteriorated, and by the end of the fourteenth century Beddgelert was amongst those houses that petitioned Rome for papal indulgences to help pay its way. 

It was one of the several Welsh monastic houses which had been seeking assistance since the 1360s. In 1384 the Austin monks at Bardsey were in trouble and had to seek royal help and favour. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 155).

Indulgences had long been common in the Middle Ages, but it was not until the end of the fourteenth century that they became very widely encouraged as an important source of revenue to the papacy. The indulgences then being granted offered pardon of enjoined penance up to forty days … and more. The first Welsh church to obtain one of these papal indulgences was Meifod in 1391. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 160).

1399 is the date of a papal letter supporting its appeal for alms to repair dilapidation 

1399 8 Kal. April at St Peter's Rome. 10 Boniface IX. [Pope from 1389-1404]

Relaxation of three years and three quadragene of enjoined penance to penitents who on the principal feasts of the year and those of SS Philip & James, St Jerome. St Nidan & St Kawrda, confessors, and St Michael the Archangel, and on All Saints, and the octaves of certain of them; and of a hundred days to those who on the said octaves visit and give alms for the repair of the church of the Augustinian priory of Valley (Vallis) St Mary, Bedthkelert, in the diocese of Bangor, whose house, as well as its church is in need of repair.' Univ. Christfid. etc. Licet is.

(Cal of Papal Registers, Papal letters, V (1396-1404), [Lateran Regesta, vol LXIX ]

p 245; C A Gresham, 1973, Eifionydd, p 64)

The above-mentioned feasts are linked with some dedications of churches appropriated by the priory.

SS Philip & James: 31 May :

St Jerome: 
        30 Sept.

St Nidan:



Llanidan [? St Aidan - 30 Sept]

St Kawdra:     



Abererch. St Cowdra: Festival Dec 5

St Michael the Archangel: 29 Sept. 
Llanfihangel y Penant

All Saints: 
      1 Nov.

1377-1399: Travels in Wales of King Richard 11 

1399-1413: King Henry 1V 

1404-1406
Pope Innocent VII, followed Pope Boniface IX in Rome. During the Great Schism (1378-1417) England supported the Roman pontiff while France continued its longstanding support for the Avignonese papacy. It was probably important for Glyndwr’s advisers that the Scots also supported Avignon. Gruffydd Young, in alliance with France, gave the allegiance of Wales to the papacy at Avignon. Pope Benedict XIII used his authority to make possible the appointments which Owain Glyndwr desired to make in the Welsh church. (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of the Church in Wales, p 48-49)

1406-1415
Pope Gregory XII was at Rome; he abdicated,  and died in 1417.

1404 - 1408: Llewellyn Bifort (Byford), was bishop of Bangor. A Welshman, a supporter of Glyndwr, the papal provisor, was installed, indicating the influence of Glyndwr. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 221)

1400-1414: The Church & the Glyn Dwr Rebellion

This period is described in some detail as events would have affected all the churches and lands belonging to the priory.

The higher clergy resented the monopolisation  of the highest preferment in the Welsh Church by royal nominees to the detriment of Welshmen. … The causes which led the lower clergy to lend their support to Glyn Dwr were … economic dislocation and decay. Many of the secular clergy, especially in northern Welsh dioceses were active rebels … The regular clergy provided Glyn Dwr with recruits … the head of Llanfaes, and those of the Austin Canons at Bardsey and Beddgelert were also Owain’s men, even though the abbot of Bardsey’s brother was one of the king’s staunchest supporters in north Wales, and the abbot of Bardsy had himself in 1401, like the abbots of Conway and Cymer, sought the king’s protection. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 216-9)

The support of the clergy was essential if Owain’s movement  was to be more than a local conspiracy. This included the local and regional secular clergy (cf. the archdeacons of St Asaph and Bangor) and members of the monastic and mendicant orders. They were  drawn from leading Welsh native families and were thus sucked into the revolt by their kinship links, and were able to contribute from the organisation skills (as had happened in the revolt of 1345). The leadership and moral sanction of the local clergy, beneficed and un-beneficed, was even more important.

The communities of Cistercian monks and Augustinian canons in those monasteries which were seen as essentially Welsh in orientation and sympathies, provided a pool of ready and predictable supporters. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p211)

Amongst those houses to have enlisted in his cause were the abbots of Conway, Strata Florida, Whitland and Llantarnam and the heads of the houses of Augustinian canons at Beddgelert and Bardsey. 


Ecclesiastical buildings seem to have been the targets for English forces rather than for Welsh rebels, more often than not as a direct punishment for the support the clerics had given to the rebel cause. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p279)

In rapidly changing situations, revolts flared up suddenly and unpredictably but were often short lived. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p100)

There were raids on Anglesey to feed the needs of the Welshmen of Caernarfonshire. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p236)

1399 Henry VI came to the throne. It was an insecure government with rumours of plots. The psychological disarray of the country was compounded by many elements: deep doubts about the legitimacy of the dynastic revolution of 1399, recurrent noble conspiracies, resentment of high taxation, anticlericalism and heresy, invasion scares, bad harvests and poor weather. There were many rumours, even in Wales, that large sums of money were being dispatched by abbots, priors and laymen to subsidise Owain Glyn Dwr’s activities in Wales. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p175)

1399 October 13: The title “prince of Wales” was conferred on the eldest son of Henry 1V, young Henry “of Monmouth”, the later king Henry V. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p162)

1400 Sept 16: Owain was proclaimed prince of Wales at his own manor of Glyndyfrdwy. At much the same time rebellion broke out in north-west Wales, including Anglesey. The whole of north Wales was to some degree involved in the rising; that is confirmed by the general pardon issued in March 1401.

Henry IV arrived at Shrewsbury on September 2 and led a lightening campaign into north Wales, returning to Shrewsbury by 15 October. He left a garrison of 20 men-at-arms and 80 archers to defend the castles of Caernarfon, Cricieth and Harlech, and smaller forces at Conway, Denbigh and Beaumaris. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p102)

p237
1400 By Sept 26: Henry IV was at Shrewsbury. Thence he led his troops through north Wales as far as Caernarfon, then struck south into Merioneth and returned to Shrewsbury by 15th October. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p237)

In late April/early May 1401: Hotspur (Henry Percy junior, son of the earl of Northumberland) held judicial sessions at Caernarfon (while the siege and negotiations at Conway proceeded), where the communities of Caernarfonshire and Merionethshire gave subsidies of 1,000 marks each to the prince of Wales, payable over the next four years. 

Early in 1401 King Henry IV sent spies into Merionethshire and Llyn and Eifionydd to try to track Owain down. Spies were dispatched to look for him in the uplands of Nantconwy or on the distant shores of Traeth Mawr. (Dispatch of messengers to Harlech and Cricieth) Hotspur reported on 3rd May that the men of north-west Wales were in a most submissive mood. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p104)

1401 August: Two men were dispatched from Caernarfon to Merioneth to try to find out Owain’s movements and plans. Much of the strength of the revolt was, as in guerrilla movements, in its unpredictability. Between April 1401 and June 1402 it was transformed from a dormant local conspiracy into a national rebellion by three events: the capture of Conway castle (1 April 1401), the seizure of Reginald Grey (spring 1402), and the massacre at Bryn Glas (22 June 1402). (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p265)

The uprising broke out from its base in the mountain fastnesses of Snowdonia to erupt into dashing victories at Hyddgen in the Plumlumon range in mid Wales (summer 1401) and at Pilleth not far from the English border (June 1402).

There came to be areas which were regarded as rebel redoubts and virtually no-go areas for the government: north-west Wales beyond the river Conwy, and more specifically Snowdonia and the uplands of Nantconwy around Dolwyddelan, were regularly identified by contemporaries as such districts. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p266)

In summer 1401 Harlech was being besieged by the Welsh and a force of over 500 men was organised at Chester and dispatched via Bala to relieve it in the autumn.

In early November1401 there was a skirmish or battle of Twthill, between the defenders and besiegers of the town and castle of Caernarfon. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p105)

In late winter 1401 Owain and his forces were laying siege to Harlech and threatening the town of Caernarfon. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p100)

In 1401-2 harsh penal statutes were issued against the Welsh depriving them “of all liberty and freedom”. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p329)

In late August 1402 the young (15yrs) prince Hal, prince of Wales was sent with a force to relieve the pressure on Harlech and Caernarfon castles and to tempt the Welsh into battle. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p109)

English boroughs were a prime target of Owain’s initial assault. Houses were burnt, there was loss of goods, stock and trade. John Collier, the leading townsman of Harlech, itemized his losses: 165 head of cattle, 40 horses, 100 sheep, and goods to the value of £40. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p221)

Sir John Wynn of Gwydir: “Owain Glyn Dwr’s wars, beginning in 1400, continued for fifteen years, which brought such desolation that green grass grew on the market place in Llanrwst called Bryn y boten and the deer fed in the churchyard of Llanrwst, as it is reported, for it was Glyn Dwr’s policy to bring all things to waste, that the English should find not strength nor resting place in the country”. This was however almost certainly the responsibility of the king’s army as it passed through the district in 1402. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p278, 280)

In 1402 the chamberlain of North Wales was still able to collect dues, though admittedly at a reduced rate, from various parts of Caernarfonshire. In December 1402 the officials of Hotspur (Henry Percy junior, son of the earl of Northumberland) were still auditing his accounts. None of the subsidy due from Merionethshire could be collected “because of various new insurrections of Owain Glyn Dwr”. In Caernarfonshire most of the instalment of the subsidy to be collected after December 1401 remained uncollected. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p110)

1403: isolated incidents were converted into a national revolt.

From 1403 the upland districts of north-west Wales  became an area where Owain’s authority was generally unquestioned and which would serve as a base for much more wide-ranging ambitions. The government’s authority in this area was to remain for the next three years at best vestigial, at worst non-existent. The four castles of Beaumaris, Caernarfon, Harlech and Aberystwyth were now isolated outposts of English authority; frequently besieged by the Welsh, they relied on supplies delivered by sea and on a very occasional relief-expedition launched from Chester. 

Welsh momentum was sustained in the winter months. In January 1403 reports indicated that rebels from Llyn and other distant parts of north Wales had recently infiltrated Flintshire and incited people to insurrection.

1403 May & June brought recurrent messages about the desperate plight of the besieged castles of Harlech and Aberystwyth.  By late June the tide of revolt overwhelmed almost every part of Wales. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p111)

1403 early June: very large relief force of 1,300 mainly composed of Cheshire men was sent to the relief of Harlech. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p113)


1403 June 23rd the battle of Shrewsbury when Henry defeated the Percy family. Fighting alongside Hotspur (Henry Percy junior), who was killed, was Hywel Coetmor of Nantconwy, one of Owain’s most committed supporters.

1403 Nov/Dec: Welsh continued besieging Caernarfon, accompanied by French troops. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p205)


early 1404:  Welsh winter campaigns continued. The Constable of Harlech castle was captured; the castles of Caernarfon and Harlech were said to be in dire straits. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p115)

In 1404 the garrison at Conway undertook raids into the surrounding countryside to replenish their depleted stocks, especially of cattle and sheep. Harlech and Aberystwyth almost certainly fell to the Welsh in late 1404. 

(RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p116, 236, & 255). 

1404 August: Lewis Byford was nominated by the pope to be bishop of Bangor. He had had a career in universities before a long spell of service in the papal court in Rome. He quickly supported Owain and by April 1405 the profits of the parish of Byford in Herefordshire from which he took his name, were declared forfeit because he was “in the company of Owain Glyn Dwr”. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p212)

1404: Owain’s first parliament was held in Machynlleth. Defection to Owain of men of status and experience, included  the newly nominated bishop of Bangor, Lewis ab Ieuan or Lewis Byford, a well-educated and much travelled clergyman. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p162/3 )

Owain in effect established an alternative power structure in north-west Wales. Adam of Usk implied that Caernarfonshire and Merionethshire were “at his beck in respect both of governance and of war”. It is also supported by the reports that Owain held two parliaments in 1404-5 and by evidence that the wheels of ecclesiastical administration were turning quite effectively in areas under Owain’s control. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p268)

In February 1405 a Tripartite Indenture, a Treaty or alliance was signed between Henry Percy, earl of Northumberland, Edmund Mortimer senior (the brother of earl Roger (d 1398)  and since November 1402 Owain’s son in law) and Owain Glyndwr.

It was dated between the election of Pope Innocent VII in October 1404, and the crushing of the revolt of the earl of Northumberland in June/July 1405.

It was recorded in the sixteenth century as having been concluded by proxy in the house of the archdeacon of Bangor. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p166)

In February 1405 a force of Frenchmen joined the Welsh of Caernarfonshire in ambushing the Sheriff of Anglesey. Also in February, a number of French ships laden with wine and spices arrived in the Llyn peninsula. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p193)

The commote, and to a lesser extent the cantref, had been the basic units of communal and seignorial governance in most of Wales before the Edwardian Conquest; beneath the larger units of shires and lordship, the commote in particular retained that role after the Conquest. It was the unit for local jurisdiction, the assessment of renders, and the levying of troops. That it should be the unit for selecting men for the process of political consultation was a natural extension of its function. Community representation in medieval society was such that leaders of the local community spoke frequently on its behalf in discussions of subsidies and aids (taxes), in the sharing of local dues, in compiling and organising communal petitions, in levying troops, and in securing charters of liberties. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p165)

1405 August: Owain held his second parliament in Harlech castle.
(RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p117)

During 1405  Owain’s brother was killed, his son, secretary & son in law were captured. These were deep personal blows. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p119)

In 1406 Owain’s highest ambitions were attained:

On 1406 January 12th an alliance with France was ratified.

By March 1406 Owain had transferred Wales’s ecclesiastical allegiance from the Roman pope (supported by the English) to the Avignonese pope (supported by the French). Owain laid out his vision for an independent native Welsh Church and a separate Welsh ecclesiastical province and the proposal to found two Welsh universities. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p121)

1406 March 31st: Owain sent a long formal letter from Pennal to the king of France announcing his intention to transfer the ecclesiastical obedience of the new principality of Wales from the Roman pope, Innocent VII, to the Avignonese pope, Benedict VIII. He gives reasons including  the Roman pope’s favour for “Henry of Lancaster” (Owain’s term for king Henry IV) by nominating English prelates for Welsh benefices, by denying convenient dispensations for marriage within the prohibited degrees for Welshmen etc. Owain asks that all papal appointments to ecclesiastical benefices in Wales should be made to those who knew the Welsh language. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p167)

In 1406 the bishop of St Asaph and bishop Lewis Byford of Bangor went on a mission to Scotland for Owain. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p214)

The English wished to control Anglesey and thus have a fortress from which they could assault the mountain fastnesses of north Wales and to deny the rebels access to their most valuable source of supplies and food. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p123)

In the summer of 1406 the people of Anglesey had come to peace with the King. By 9th November 1406 the names of over 2,000 men from Anglesey were recorded in the submission and fine recorded that day. By December the Anglesey county court was meeting again and normal life, including the collection of revenue, was being resumed. Similar events were taking places across much of Wales. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p123) The £500 fine was distributed over the 2,000plus  inhabitants in sums ranging from 2s. to £6-13-4d. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p306)

1406 Nov 11: Matheus, Prior of Bethkelert was number 10 amongst the list of those “men of noate” outlawed by the King for “being in arms and rebellion with Owain Glyndwr” . The abbot of Conway was on the same list, but he was pardoned 3 Nov 1409. These men had not surrendered / submitted after the siege of Beaumaris. (Glyn Roberts, 1952, BBCS; The Anglesey Submission of 1406, p 58)

David, vicar of Llanidan in the Cwmwd Menai was also listed (John Thomas, parson of Llandegai, 1775, A History of Anglesey , printed by J Dodsley - Memoirs of Owen Glendower transcribed from a ms in the Library of Jesus College, Oxford, p 80)

This penalty must have been for the prior of Beddgelert’s support given on Anglesey to Owain Glyndwr.

This writ of exigent naming “persons indicted, presented and fined for being in armes and rebellion with Owen Glyndyfrdwy” includes the names of a number of prominent Welsh supporters :

Lewys Byford, bishop of Bangor





Gruffydd Young, archdeacon of St Asaph





Mathew, Prior of Bethkellerd





Hywel ap Gwilym, abbot of Conwy





David Daron, dean of Bangor





Walter Swaffham, archdeacon of Bangor.

(Tomos Roberts, An ancient faer Record? Anglesey Adherents of Owen Glyndwr, 

1991, BBCS, vol 38, p 129-133) 

In 1406 the Anglesey’s submission of 2000 inhabitants there were also 10 clergy amongst those NOT pardoned, including 6 friars from Llanfaes. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p60) Four canons of Holyhead and 16 beneficed and 15 un-beneficed clerks were among those who craved pardon for rebellion in Anglesey. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p211)

Bangor cathedral was much damaged during the uprising, but suffered neglect through the latter part of the fifteenth century. (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of the Church in Wales, p 50)

In February 1407 Gruffudd Younge became the bishop of Bangor, having been archdeacon of Merioneth and Owain’s chancellor. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p213)

By May 1407 the only areas in which Owain could be said to have any sustained hold were probably Caernarfonshire and Merionethshire and northern Cardiganshire. In the north Gilbert Talbot, the justicar, was given a huge escort of 100 men at arms and 400 archers to accompany him for 60 days as he proceeded on tour to punish the rebels of Caernarfonshire and Merionethshire and to collect fines imposed at the sessions. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p124)

By late 1407 the revolt of Owain Glyn Dwr was reverting to a guerrilla war conducted from the fastnesses of north and west Wales. By February 1407 the chamberlain of North Wales submitted his account. 

Gilbert Talbot, chief justice of North Wales, set out with an intimidating escort of 500 soldiers during the summer to pacify the counties of Caernarfon and Merioneth. An exhausted, frightened and demoralised populace was being cowed into final submission, and it was a submission made with scarcely a fight. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p125)

In 1408 the chamberlain of North Wales submitted his account and declared that Arllechwedd, Nantconwy and Eifionydd were the only areas of Caernarfonshire from which he was able to collect no revenue. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p125)

1408 Feb 19th : the battle at Bramham Moor, where the earl of Northumberland was killed  challenging Henry IV. Lewis ap Ieuan, alias Lewis Byford, former bishop of Bangor (briefly from 1404) and supporter of the Welsh cause, was captured. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p186)

Between autumn 1408 and early 1409 both Harlech and Aberystwyth castles fell to the English. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p125)

By 1408-9 the only major districts which had not returned into some measure of obedience were probably northern Cardiganshire, Merionethshire and parts of Caernarfonshire. The revolt was contracting back into its north-western heartland, into the very area in which it had survived after the initial major setbacks of 1400-1. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p295)

1408-1417: Bishop Benedict Nicholls (alias Nicholas Bennet) was bishop of Bangor. He officially replaced Byford and was mainly absentee. He held high position in  the English court  and was on the Agincourt campaign as King’s chaplain. He was translated to St Davids in 1417. 

His Register names Ieuan ap Bleth, canon regular, of Augustinian priory of Ynystudwall (cf Taxation of 1291 Ecclesia Prioris de Enys Tudwal). (Dr H E Salter, 1922, Chapters of the Augustinian Canons, Oxford Hist Soc, lxxiv; p129,187;  Arch Camb 1922 p 400) The Priory is mentioned in 1509 & 1511, 


The Register names Clynnog fawr; and it confirms a prior of St Seriol of Penmon, an  Augustinian priory, and names Aberdaron church amongst others. 

There is no mention of Beddgelert, possibly because Prior Matthew supported Owain Glyndwr.  (The Register of Benedict, Bishop of Bangor 1408-1417, A I Pryce, Arch. Camb., 1922, p 80; Dr H E Salter, 1922, Chapters of the Augustinian Canons, Oxford Hist Soc, lxxiv; p129, 187).

1409 February: Gilbert Talbot was responsible for bringing the siege of Harlech to a successful close for Henry IV. Harlech fell due to lack of supplies and a Welsh war effort exhausted by hard winters, not to cannon-ball and guns. In spring 1409  Harlech proved a tough nut to crack: this remote, majestic outpost required the besieging skills of 300 men-at-arms and 600 archers and some of the most advanced technology of the day before it eventually capitulated. 

The revolt, it could now be believed, could be proclaimed officially dead. A series of incidents and alarums over the next few years showed that its embers had not finally been extinguished. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p244, 253, 293)

In spring 1409 with the fall of Harlech castle Owain’s wife, two of his daughters and three of his granddaughters were captured, along with all their household goods. His son in law, Edmund Mortimer had already died in Harlech during the siege. Edmund’s son Lionel was already dead. Lionel’s mother and two of his sisters were to die in prison in London in 1413.

Only one of Glyndwr’s sons, Maredudd, kept him company in his last desperate months, as the lay, in Adam of Usk’s words “miserably in hiding in the open country and in caves and in the thickets of the mountains. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p326)

Caves came to be associated with Glyn Dwr, as refuges in his time of need, including caves at Beddgelert (Caernarfonshire), Llangelynnin (Merionethshire) and Craig Gwrtheyrn (Carmarthenshire). (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p340)

1409: Pope Gregory XII was based in Avignon.

1409: Pope Alexander V in Rome was poisoned, probably by his successor, Pope John XXIII, who in 1412 instituted a large-scale selling of indulgences to finance his war against the King of Naples who had seized control of Rome.

In 1412 an effort was made to quell the last signs of the Glyndwr disobedience in Merionethshire by posting 180 men at Cymer and Bala, but by then nervousness had become chronic and doubtless explains the inquiry into unlawful congregations in Wales in November 1412. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p300)

1413 In March Henry V ascended the throne and he reigned until 1422. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p300)

By November 1413 Henry V issued a comprehensive pardon to the counties of North Wales not only in respect of all treason and other felonies but also with regard to all debts and arrears still outstanding on 5 November 1411. As the year drew to a close he ordered the chamberlain (or chief financial officer) of North Wales to spend £200 on the purchase of cows and sheep to help the tenants of Caernarfonshire and Merionethshire to restock their holdings. (Griffiths R A, The Glyndwr Rebellion in North Wales Through the Eyes of an Englishman, BBSC 22, 1966-8, p153) (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p307)

1413 November: the four royal counties of north Wales (Anglesey, Caernarfonshire, Merioneth and Flintshire) agreed to pay an enormous collective fine of £1,400 (2,100 marks) over the next six to eight years to secure communal pardons for their offences, including treason against Henry 1V, and for the cancellation of their debts still outstanding in November 1411. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p308)

1414 March: A group of royal justices held their solemn sessions at Bala (co. Merioneth),  Caernarfon and Beaumaris (co. Anglesey). At each venue huge numbers of local men appeared before the justices to make the most abject submission, to crave  pardon, and in particular to secure title to their lands (technically forfeit as a result of the rebellion), right of hereditary descent according to Welsh law, and protection of widows. Their pleas were successful, but again at a price - a further £833 6s 8d (1,250 marks) from the three counties of the north-west. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p308)

1414 is the first authentic record of Regular Augustinian canons at Penmon, but the plan of the cloister & large refectory are of the usual regular pattern of thirteenth century date - maybe from the 1221 re-foundation. The hermits of Puffin Island possessed the ecclesiastical & territorial rights of the 'clas' of Penmon before 1237.

(D Knowles & R N Hadcock, Medieval Religious Houses: England & Wales, 1st edition 1951, p 149)

In 1415 negotiations were still being conducted with the Glyndwr rebels in Merionethshire and officers refused to discharge their revenue-raising duties there for fear of the Welsh. By 1415 the English monarchy had virtually exhausted its opportunities for exploitation. (RR Davies, 1997, The Revolt of Owain Glyndwr, p300, 308)

In May 1415 Pope John XXIII was deposed and imprisoned for immorality and theft. Pope Gregory of Rome and Pope Benedict of Avignon were ordered to resign.

On 6 July 1415 John Hus was  burnt at the stake for stressing the primacy of Scripture and the abuses within the Catholic church. He was born in 1374 in Bohemia, and was later called “the father of Reform”; he was a follower of many of Wycliffe’s teachings. He wanted to reform the Roman Catholic church and he translated the Bible into his native tongue. In 1413 he wrote “On the Church”. From 1419- 1440 a group of his followers, called Hussites, forcefully attempted to bring change in Bohemia.

1417-1431
The Papacy was reunited under Pope Martin V

1417-1541: The next twelve bishops of Bangor were Englishmen, almost entirely absentee and also holding important appointments in England. (A I Pryce, 1923, The Diocese of Bangor in the Sixteenth century; Introduction p x).

1418 - 1423: William Barrowe, Bishop of Bangor. He was a Canon of Lincoln, and a former Chancellor of Oxford. Both Glyndwr rebels and English troops had “despoiled, burned and almost destroyed” churches. There was a slow rebuilding process. In 1421 the Bishop of Bangor claimed that it would take at least ten years to start improving the fruits of his diocese. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 229)

c1420-21: In Anglesey, Tano ferch Ieuan ab Adda, who died intestate without heirs, had the large sum of £3 6s 8d in cash; it had been paid to Deicws ap Cuhelyn, the prior of Beddgelert, who refused to hand it over to the escheator. 

(PRO SC6/1152/9, m.8b: A D Carr, 1982, Medieval Anglesey, p 188)

c1420 The bard Rhys Goch Eryri was buried at Beddgelert, within the Priory grounds.

(NLW, W Williams, Observations on the Snowdon Mountains, c 1800; quoted in H Longueville Jones, Arvona Medieva II, p 156 in Arch. Camb. Vol II)

1422-1461 King Henry V1

1423 - 1435: John Clederowe (Cliderow), was the Bishop of Bangor. He was an Oxford man, and a canon of Chichester.

1431- 1447
Pope Eugene IV. He had been a monk in an Augustinian house in Venice.

1432   Beddgelert had once more to petition Rome for papal grants of indulgences, this time to repair the church and to provide ornaments, books & chalices.

1432 17 Kal. July at St Peter's, Rome. 2 Eugenius IV. [ Pope from 1431-1447]

 'Relaxation of three years and three quarantines of enjoined penance to penitents who on the feast of the Assumption visit and give alms for the repair etc. of the Augustinian priory of St Mary, Bettkelerd, in the diocese of Bangor, which, with its church and buildings, is in a ruinous state, has been burned, has had its means diminished by wars and calamities, and lacks ornaments, books and chalices.' 

[Without limitation of the period of validity] Univ. etc. Dum precelsa. (An. and Poggius. / An. de Adria) (Cal of Papal Registers, Papal Letters, VIII (1427-1447) Lateran Regesta, vol CCCXVII, p 437; Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 230)

This must have been after the said fire of the early fifteenth century, the second fire to be recorded at the priory. However a fire of the sixteenth century is recorded in Y Brython 1881, iv p 170 and Cymru 1875, but the evidence for this later date is not known. It seems likely that the burning of the church and buildings and the lack of ornaments, books and chalices are linked to the 'wars and calamities'  associated with the Glyndwr rebellion at the beginning of the fifteenth century. 

Beddgelert Priory Land in Ardudwy:

The Extent of Merioneth of 1420 records that there was a parcel of land in Llanfair (juxta Harlech) called “tir stent of the Prior of Bethkelert, and it gives the  Lord Prince yearly 2d”.  (Record of Caernarvon p 281) This became the farm of Tir Mair, & must have been the triangular piece of land which was glebe in the Tithe Map. It later became Hafod-y-bryn and is now near the Llanbedr airfield.

'In the Merioneth Lay Subsidy Roll of 1292-3 the second highest assessment in Taltreuddyn was Gervase Presbyter, paying 8s 9d. In the early church a presbyter was one who had management of the affairs of a local church, so this was doubtless the priest appointed by the Prior of Beddgelert to serve the church at Llanfair and settled on the Extent land, which he farmed and so owned goods that were taxable. Since there was a peppercorn rent of 2d. this had to be recorded in the Extent of 1420 unlike other church land, and was there set down in the parish of Llanfair. ... This land may have been given by the Lords of Ardudwy before the Conquest... to the Prior of Beddgelert for the support of the church at Llanfair and the pilgrims who visited (the cult of the Virgin Mary at) Llanfair.' ... References in the Edwardian Extent of 1284  sets down, under Prysor, payments due from the freemen of Ardudwy & includes: ''From Master Gervase Foel for that which was Gwyn Foel's and held by the gift of Prince Llywelyn 10s. The said Gervase says that he ownes no render.''  Here we have two tonsured priests, and Gwyn, the predecessor of Gervase, would have received Tir Mair at the hands of Llywelyn ap Gruffudd, who was the principal patron of Beddgelert.” (C A Gresham 1986 JMHRS p 110) 

It could however have referred to Llywelyn ab Iorwerth. No Beddgelert priory land in Merionethshire was recorded in 1286 by Bishop Anian or Edward I, nor is it recorded in the 1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus.

1436
Letter written by a papal collector in England to Pope Eugenius IV, notifying the pope of important vacancies in England. “ Although I have often written to Your Holiness about the provision to be made in vacant churches in this kingdom, the letters are often stolen because of the dangers of the roads; but not neglecting the matter I am repeating the information. Of the higher benefices there are four cathedral churches vacant, namely Ely, Bangor, London and Lincoln, and there has been much questioning here for a long time about the provision to be made to them by Your Holiness; not that there is any doubt amongst important people here about the right of provision, but rather about the persons to be elected. They have, however, arrived at unanimity at last, and so I think it best to inform Your Holiness of this opinion. …To Bangor the king wishes the Duke of Gloucester’s confessor to be preferred, and this man is a religious from the Order of Preachers. …(C H Lawrence, ed., The English Church and the Papacy in the Middle Ages, revised 1999, p226)

1436 - 1447
Thomas Cheriton, a Dominiacn, was Bishop of Bangor. He may have been the man described above.

1439-1449 (resignation) Antipope Felix V ; whilst Pope Eugene continued until 1447.

1447-1455
Pope Nicholas V, who reorganised the Vatican Library.

1438: “The Anglesey Esceator does render an account headed “Temporalia Prioris de Bethkellard” in 1438. But it is, unfortunately, only a correction of his account rendered the previous year, in which he had wrongly returned as “temporalia” certain lands held by the late Prior “Daicus ap Kejelyn” in the township of “Llannaden”. He has now received a “writ from the King” directing immediate restitution to “Gruffith” now Prior, and amends his account accordingly”. 

(M.A. 1153/4. Ministers’ Accounts. General Series. PRO) (The Conway & the Menai Ferries. H Rees Davies, 1942, p 70-1)

1446: At the General Chapter of the Augustinian Canons held in 1446, the Visitors for the diocese of Lichfield stated that they had not visited the Augustinian Houses in North Wales, partly because they could not speak the Welsh language and partly because travelling was not safe in Wales. From this it is evident that the priories of North Wales were reckoned to be attached to the diocese of Lichfield, and those of South Wales to the diocese of Hereford. (H E Salter, 1922, Chapters of the Augustinian Canons, Oxford Historical Society, v LXXIV, p269) 

1448 - 1453: John Stanbury, Bishop of Bangor. Archbishop Kempe had to remit, on account of the leanness of his see, the fees due to him and his officers on the occasion of his consecration. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 229-30) He was an Oxford man born in Devon, and was a Carmelite (White Friar); he was translated to Hereford in 1453.

As a result of the penal laws imposed on the Welsh following the Glyndwr uprising (1400-1415), the devastation caused during the uprising and the great distrust between the two nations, there was much unrest in the early fifteenth century.  

“Many thousands of Welshmen crossed the sea to take part in the French wars. … The archer’s pay was twice that of a labourer. Service abroad was a relief from disabilities and bondage at home”. Eventually they returned home to the desperate conditions in Wales. “The peasantry retaliated upon the insolence and ferocity of the municipal officials of North Wales with organised raids upon Conway, Dolgellau and Beaumaris on market days, which sometimes ended in bloodshed. … John Meredith, cousin of Owen Tudor, fought out his feuds alternately with William Griffith, chamberlain of North Wales, and the Thelwalls of Dyffryn Clwyd. … About the year 1442 the blaze of riot raged with amazing fury, private property and public finance being equally involved in the general ruin” 

In 1443 “The government threatened to find a drastic remedy. … A conference actually took place at Harlech between Henry Norris, the deputy chamberlain of Carnarvon and the gentry of Merionethshire, to try to still the tempest of feud and riot”. (H T Evans, Wales and the Wars of the Roses, 1998 edition, p 19, 22 & 27)


c1450s : The Parson of Llanfrothen was murdered in family feuding. He had offended the wife of one of his leading parishioners by taking in another parishioner’s child to foster. (Askew Roberts, 1878 History of the Gwydir Family p 50; J Gwynfor Jones, History of the Gwydir Family and Memoirs- Sir John Wynn, 1990, p29)

1453 - 1464: 
James Blakedon, Bishop of Bangor. He was also the Bishop of Achonry in Ireland.

Until mid fifteenth century " it was probably as much as men could do to repair and rebuild damaged churches .... but from then on a wave of building rood-screens and lofts began" 

Much of this rebuilding and refurbishing arose from a new zeal for pilgrimages, domestic as well as foreign, to which the more settled conditions now gave a fresh impetus. Building schemes were to a surprisingly large extent determined and financed by the crowds which could be attracted to relics and other sacred objects housed in a church.  1450 papal proclamation of a Jubilee encouraged pilgrimages. Pilgrimages to the Rood in Chester, and to new roods in more local churches, which formed new centres of pilgrimage within the reach of wider sections of the population.

(Glanmor Williams, Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, 1962, p 264-6)

Around 1453 “the government became alive to the need of stringent supervision in Wales. Sir Thomas Stanley, chamberlain of North Wales was commissioned to  compel the payment of arrears of debts and revenues from Merionethshire, Carnarvonshire and Anglesey, and to make inquisition … touching trespasses, services, and customs concealed from the king, officers negligent of their duties etc. …Cymmer Abbey was committed to the charge of the duke of Somerset and Ellis ap Griffith ap Einion”. “The Lancastrians could claim supremacy in the Principality - Anglesey, Carnavonshire and Merionethshire”. (H T Evans, Wales and the Wars of the Roses, 1998 edition, p 50, 54)

1455-1458
Pope Calixtus III

1458-1464
Pope Pius II; he was an humanist church leader.

c1460 The poet Dafydd Nanmor died and was buried at Beddgelert, within the priory grounds. He lived c1450-1490. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 261)

WARS  OF  THE  ROSES: c 1460 -1485

The Wars of the Roses were between the Houses of Lancaster (Royalists) and York, beginning in 1460 when the Duke of York claimed the throne of England and concluded at the Battle of Bosworth in 1485 with Henry Tudor’s victory against Richard III.


1460 July 10
The Lancastrians were overwhelmed at the battle of Northampton. Queen Margaret fled to Harlech castle with  the young prince Henry aged six years; she left Wales in October for Scotland.

1461 Feb 2
The Lancastrians were defeated at the battle of Mortimer’s Cross and Owen Tudor was killed. (H T Evans, Wales and the Wars of the Roses, 1998 edition, p 69, 72, 76)

1461 June -1483 
King Edward 1V (Duke of York)

Impact on north Wales

On 4 October 1461 it was reported that all Welsh resistance to the Yorkist crown was at an end, and that Jasper Tudor had taken refuge in the mountains of Snowdon, the last stronghold of so many lost causes and the nursery of as many new enterprises. … But Harlech castle has not submitted, and was to remain inexorable for another seven years. Jasper Tudor and the North Wales Lancastrians were brought to bay near Carnarvon. They made their last stand at Tuthill, just outside the walls of that town, on 16 October 1461. … The Yorkists once more triumphed … Jasper Tudor escaped to Ireland. … The Yorkists did not pursue their advantage to compelling Harlech, the only remaining Lancastrian stronghold in Wales, to surrender”. (H T Evans, Wales and the Wars of the Roses, 1998 edition, p 86)

1464:  The temporalities of the sees of St Asaph and Bangor were forfeited on account of the bishop’s participation in these Lancastrian movements. Herbert was once more empowered to pacify Wales. In October 1464 he obtained a commission to receive into the king’s allegiance all rebels, with few exceptions, within Harlech and Merionethshire”. (H T Evans, Wales and the Wars of the Roses, 1998 edition, p 90-1)

1464: Petition to Pope Pius II: Complaint of the clergy and people of the dioceses of St Asaph, Bangor and the border dioceses: “The number of murderers and ravishers of virgins and other women, of thieves and robbers had so increased as to make life hardly safe”. (Cal of Papal Registers, vol xi, p 648; A I Pryce, 1923, The Diocese of Bangor in the sixteenth century, Introduction p x) 

1464-1471
Pope Paul II, who encouraged pompous display.

1465 - 1494: Richard Edenham (Ednam), Bishop of Bangor, was a Franciscan. In 1468 he recounted the poverty of his diocese as a result of the wars and rebellions which had long prevailed in those parts, and other misfortunes. His living did not exceed £100 p.a. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 257, 270)

In 1468 he made representation to the Pope concerning the great poverty of his bishoprick, and he got leave to hold with it the Headship of some Religious House. (Browne Willis, Survey of the Cathedral Church of Bangor, 1721, p 93)

1468 August 14 : Harlech castle, held by Lancastrians, fell to Sir William Herbert of Raglan [a Yorkist, later that year elevated, to the Earl of Pembroke] approaching from the south, and his brother Sir Richard Herbert who had approached down the Conwy and through Eryri. He left a trail of destruction and "unparalleled desolation" of burning buildings. It is said that this was when the skirmish at Bwlch y Batel (on the slopes of Cnicht near Beddgelert) was said to have occurred. Pennant (Tours II, p347) describes Nant Gwynant as "the scene of many a bloody skirmish in the time of Edward IV between William, earl of Pembroke and the Welsh Lancastrians, under Ieuan ap Robert [of Gesail Gyfarch, Penmorfa]. By November 1468 Edward IV had issued a general pardon to all. (JMHRS, Emyr Wyn Jones, 1985, The Quest for a Crown, p 8)

“The entire Snowdon district experienced such unparallel destruction that it had barely recovered more than a century later. … Llanrwst was destroyed and the devastation was followed by plague”. (H T Evans, Wales and the Wars of the Roses, 1998 edition, p 100)

1468 “During the time the earl of Pembroke’s army lay in Snowdon Ieuan ap Robert was fain to leave his own house and lodge at night in the rock called Ogo’r Filan, standing at Meillionen in the parish of Beddgelert, and all the day with the Lancastrians, his friends and followers, skirted the army and skirmished with them in the straight and rough  passage of Nanhwynan until, at last, being sent for by the earl under his protection and received into grace as may appear by the earl’s deed under his hand and seal”. (Sir John Wynn, History of the Gwydir Family and Memoirs, 1620s, ed. by J Gwynfor Jones, 1990, p 36) 

It is unlikely that Beddgelert escaped unscathed, being on an important route-way through the mountains. 

The Beddgelert priory fire of the fifteenth or sixteenth century. 

If there was a fire in the early fifteenth century, it would probably have been the result of skirmishes during the uprising of Owain Glyndwr, and be that recorded in the 1432 papal grant of indulgence to which reference has already been made.

If there was a fire in the sixteenth century, as reported without references in Y Brython and repeated by others, such a fire may well have resulted from skirmishes during the wars of the Roses,  “the description of the woodwork in the church before the destructions (i.e the alterations of 1830) correspond with work of that date. Cymru (1875) tells us that the church was covered with one steep pitched roof, from which we may gather that there no gables but that the main roof continued as a lean-to over the vestry and Lady Chapel, the main walls being 4 ft higher than at present. He adds that the roof was of carved woodwork and the sides of carved woodwork of various designs - possibly open-work cornices like those of the roof at Cochwillan, Llanllechid. He also says that there was a fine screen between the Lady Chapel and the church, similarly carved. Pennant and the Cambrian Traveller's Guide mention the “pretty fretwork in the roof”'. (Hughes & North, 1924, Old Churches of Snowdonia, p 224)

1471-1484 
Pope Sixtus IV

1476

A printing press was set up at Westminster.

1483 

King Edward V, one of the young princes who disappeared in the Tower of London.

1483 -1485 
King Richard III - a Yorkist

1484-1492 
Pope Innocent VIII

1485 Battle of Bosworth 
King Henry VII (- 1509)

The advent of a more stable government under the Tudor dynasty led to improvement of ecclesiastical life of the Diocese, a revival in church building and restoration, and also a sign of spiritual revival. (A I Pryce, 1923, The Diocese of Bangor in the sixteenth century, Introduction p x) 

Late fifteenth century  church reconstruction or refurbishment was common, before as well as after  1485. Work at Clynnog Fawr is attributed to the early Tudor period when the wave of church building did gain momentum. There was a determination to put in new and larger windows. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 429, 434)

1492-1503
Pope Alexander VI, who was a wily politician and  an efficient manager, but  careless of morals, having many children.

1496-1500: Henry Deane, Bishop of Bangor. (A I Pryce, 1923, The Diocese of Bangor in the sixteenth century, Introduction p x) He was elected for his services to King Henry VII as Lord Chancellor of Ireland. He was also prior of Llantony. He re-fenestrated the cathedral transepts and the chancel, actively supported by his dean, Richard Kyffin. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 430)

“Henry Deane, the first Tudor appointment to the see, was also Chancellor of Ireland, but at least the passage to and from his civil post took him frequently through his diocese, and during his five year episcopate he began the work of rebuilding the ruined cathedral and of recovering some of the alienated episcopal property. 

(A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire, p 42)

1408-1500 During this period no Welshmen were made bishop of Bangor. (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of the Church in Wales, p 51)

From 1496 - 1539 all the bishops of Bangor were also heads of religious houses. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 303-04)

“The disorders of the age had left their mark on parochial life … There was much neglect of church fabric, much non-residence among the clergy. This was partly due to the absence of parsonages in most parishes, partly to the pious but unfortunate practice of “appropriating” parish churches to the support of monasteries, which meant that the monks collected the rectorial tithe and appointed to the cure of souls in the parish either a vicar - who would be regularly instituted by the bishop and supported from the “lesser” tithes and the people’s offerings - or a curate or chaplain, dependent on monastic bounty. Not more than a fifth of the many churches so appropriated in Bangor diocese had vicars; the rest had often to make do with clerical “sweated labour” at £5 a year or even less. It has been estimated that only a quarter of the Bangor livings were worth more than £15 a year, for war and pestilence played havoc with tithes and offerings as well as with manorial dues. No wonder the clergy scrambled for leave to hold several livings together - another fruitful cause for non-residence. 

… Most of the resident parish clergy were local men whose mother tongue was Welsh. This made for neighbourly relations with their neighbours; but the service was in Latin, and while no doubt most of them could flounder through it without mishap, there is nothing to tell us how much, in the absence of systematic instruction in Latin or in divinity, it conveyed to them or their congregation. For what was there to attract a scholar to a poverty-stricken Welsh living? Few, in fact, of the Bangor clergy were university men; it is doubtful whether many had even a grammar school education, or stood much above their congregation in theological or ant other branch of academic knowledge. …a later bishop of Gloucester declared that more than half of those he examined could not repeat the Ten Commandments and nearly a tenth knew nothing of the Lord’s Prayer beyond the bare words, while three out of ten could not even repeat these”. (A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire 1284-1900, p 38,39)

1500 May 1: Thomas (Pigot), abbot of monastery of “St Peter, Chertesi” to be bishop (elect) of Bangor; he was allowed to keep Chertsey, where he lived and died in 1504. (Cal of Papal Register, Papal Letters vol xvii part 1, 1495-1503. Page 385, No 605. Reg. Lat. 1094, fos167r - 168r; A I Pryce, 1923, The Diocese of Bangor in the sixteenth century, Introduction p x) This connection may explain why Beddgelert Priory was given to Cherstey in 1536.

The Feast of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin Mary - 15 August - Gwyl Fair Mawr - in medieval thought the greatest of the Festivals of the  Blessed Virgin Mary and a favourite day for fairs in Wales. (Arch. Camb., 1936, p 283)

Cattle fairs were held in Beddgelert on 18 August and 23 September. It is not known when these commenced. The August fair may have been associated with the Feast of the Assumption of the Blessed Virgin Mary on 15 August. 

c1500 Maredudd ab Ifan removed the church of Dolwyddelan the short distance from Bryn y bedd for reasons of personal security “to the place where it now is, being part of the possessions of the priory of Bethkelert”  (J Gwynfor Jones, 1990, History of the Gwydir Family and Memoirs, Sir John Wynn, p 55; see C A Gresham, 1973, Eifionydd, p 65)

In the early 1500s the monasteries of the diocese, though few in number and of no great importance as compared with those in other dioceses, had already appropriated for their own support many parishes, and the main income thereof, leaving the work to be performed either by a vicar … or a curate who held a more precarious situation with a correspondingly decreased stipend. (A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p xii)

Many Welsh clergy contracted marriages, a status and practice which was not recognised by the Western church. (A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p xiii)

As a result of absentee bishops, pluralism, appropriation of parishes to monasteries, and a largely monoglot Welsh people, there was decay in church life. Life in the church was at a very low ebb. It had been a century of neglect. (A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p xiv)

1503

Pope Pius III

1503-1513
Pope Julius II

Dafydd Conwy, last Prior of Beddgelert from circa1500 - circa1533.

Rhys (Richard) Kyffin, Dean of Bangor  [fl. 1480-1502] married Cecily, d of John Peak of Aberconwy. (Genealogy from Bartrum Genealogies 1400-1500, p809, Gorllwyn 7 (A); Iarddur 5(E))

Their son was Dafydd Conwy, Prior of Beddgelert, who married Jonet ferch Gr [Rs G T (B1)] and their daughter Margred Conwy married Edward ap Howel ap Madoc of Pennarth. ([Gollwyn 7 (A5)]  in Bartrum Genealogies 1400-1500 vol 6 Iarddur 5(D,E) p809). 

It may have been the same Rhys (?Richard) (Bartrum Geneaologies 1400-1500 vol 6 Iarddur 5(D, E)) whose son John [Conwy] was Abbot of Enlli, living in 1507. 

John's son Huw Conwy married Gwennllian ferch Hywel ap Gr. ap LLw ab Ein. of Berach, Llyn [See Lewis Dwnn ii. 85]  
Richard Kyffin, the black dean, was a supporter of Henry VII. He was not of any of the well known branches of the Kyffin clan. He may be the rector of Gyffin who in 1470 obtained a papal dispensation enabling him to take holy orders despite his tainted (illegitimate)  birth. The poets were uncommunicative about his lineage, but gave the following information: he was from uchelwyr (gentry) background; he built a fine house at Llanddwynwen out of the proceeds of the extremely profitable shrine of Dwynwen, to which pilgrims came “like a king’s army”. He was an accomplished husbandman, whose oxen compared favourably with any secular landowner and whose millstones were unsurpassed. He had a keen eye for the mineral resources of his estates and his slates were much in demand. Hunting deer was a passion, as women may have been; his hospitality was lavish and poets flocked to his court. 

His piety was conventual and earned him only conventual tributes. He was an ecclesiastical lawyer appointed dean of Bangor about 1480 until his death in 1502. During Richard III’s reign he had been an ardent upholder of the exiled Tudor cause, and had greatly assisted Henry Tudor by sending him information and building up support for him in Gwynedd. After Henry’s triumph in 1485 Kyffin was handsomely rewarded for his fidelity. He did not get any higher ecclesiastical office, possibly because he was well satisfied with being vicar-general to the bishop and with his deanery and wealthy rectory of Llandwynwen in Anglesey, but he was given liberal grants of land. His subsequent generosity to the bards makes it possible to give a fuller picture of him than of almost any other Welsh cleric of comparable status among the secular clergy at this time. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 319-20)

c1500 Dafydd Conwy may have obtained his position as prior of Beddgelert as a result of being the son of the Dean of Bangor (if Richard Kyffin who died in 1502, and who worked closely with Bishop Henry Deane [1494 -1500], was actually his father).

1501 Aug 21:
Dafydd Conwy’s name on a lease relating to land. 

(PRO Index 1746. LR1 fo 160) 
NOT SEEN  

(Catrin Stevens, “Cywydd i Ofyn March i Ddafydd Conwy, prior Beddgelert”, TCHS, 1976, p 45; translated by Nia & Ellen Powell. )

1501-2  In a suit brought before the Court of Chancery: (PRO Chancery, 1/249/65-6) Complainant: 
Griffith ap Llewelyn, late prior of Bethkelert.

Defendant: 
David Conway, prior of Bethgelert

Context:
Arrears of his pension, granted him on resignation a few years ago. Defendant in his Answer submits the preposterous claim that he was presented to his office by Arthur, late prince of Wales, [1489-1502, eldest son of Henry VIII] the founder of the said priory.

(E A Lewis, Early Chancery Proceedings concerning Wales, 1937, p 15)

It is possible that the Hafod Ruffydd holding  in The Prior's Land was named after this late fifteenth century prior, Gruffydd ap Llewelyn.

There seems to have been considerably doubt about Dafydd Conway’s appointment, since his qualifications for the position of prior were later questioned on the grounds that he was not a professed Austin canon. However his claim that Prince Arthur is  the founder of the Priory cannot be held against Dafydd Conway as “preposterous”, for the term founder is here only a servile piece of hyperbole for “patron”; in other documents Henry VIII is styled “founder” of the priory. (C A Gresham, Eifionydd, 1973, p 66)  A poet characteristically gives a much more favourable view of David Conway (NLW, Cwrtmawr MS 12, pp 710-12) 
1504    The prior & the canons of Bethkelert served the cure of souls in the parishes of Abererch, Dolwyddelan, and Llanidan, and they were responsible for Llanfihangel y Pennant, the parish in which their priory stood, and Llanfair-is-gaer with Betws Garmon. (Return for the diocese of Bangor to Archbishop Warham on the death of Thomas Pigot, Bishop of Bangor. (incomplete list of clergy) in C A  Gresham, 1973, Eifionydd, p 65)

Abererch : 
Prior & Priory of Berthkelert & Dom. Gruff ap Ric. curate.

(A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p 81)

Dolwythelan : Prior & Priory of Berthkelert & Dom. Hugh Pennant, curate. 

(A I Pryce 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p 82)

Llanvair:
Dom John Philip R & Dom Lewis ap Ieuan, Curate. 

(A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p 82)

Llanedanan : 
Prior & priory of Berthkelert  & 


         
Dom. Ric. Gethyn, curate; 

         
Dom. Thomas ap Lli, capellanus.

(A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p 83)

1504:  Bishop Wareham’s Visitation “team” visited some houses in north Wales, since they found the prior of Penmon and two of his monks guilty of incontinence, but no record survives of these visitations. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 394)

1504 The Return of Archbishop Warham on the death of Bishop Thomas Pigot is the earliest extant list of clergy in the diocese.  … The Return gives the names of five monasteries and priories, namely Penmon, Aberconway, Beddgelert, Bardsey and Cymmer, which are brought into the Return by reason of their holding certain churches or parishes, twelve in number, with other smaller parishes not mentioned making a total of 30. It is true that the parishes as appropriated to Monasteries are recorded as supplied either with a Vicar or a curate but a system can hardly be regarded as satisfactory which led to the greater part of the income originally intended for the benefit of the parish, being diverted to the monasteries for their own purposes. (A I Pryce, 1939, TAAS, p43-60, The Reformation in the Diocese of Bangor as illustrated by the Records.)

1505 - 1508: John Penny, Bishop of Bangor. He was also Prior of Bradley, Leicestershire, and possibly Abbot of Leicester.  He was translated to Carlisle.

1508/9-1533 (died): Bishop Thomas Skevington of Bangor; he was an absentee bishop. His Register survives from 1512-1533. (A I Pryce, 1923, The Diocese of Bangor in the Sixteenth Century, Introduction p xiii) 

A complaint was made to Cromwell that he was “the richest monk in England, not having been in his diocese for fourteen years”. (A I Pryce, The Reformation in the Diocese of Bangor as illustrated by the records, TAAS, 1939, p44)

He was also abbot of Bealieu in Hampshire and was said to have left his Welsh see unvisited for fourteen of the twenty five years of his episcopate; but he had an able and militant local deputy in Dr William Glynne, a younger son of Glynllifon, whom he appointed as his chancellor and as archdeacon successively of Merioneth and Anglesey. The rebuilding of the west tower of the cathedral and parts of the nave, and the hanging of a peal of three bells, were undertaken at the bishop’s expense; and as soon as he had finished that, the church at Clynnog was reconstructed “in the latest English style”, probably by the same gang of masons …but paid for by offerings from visitors to the shrine of Beuno, as well as of pilgrims on their way to Bardsey. … Neither Bishop Skevington nor his immediate successors, however, tackled the basic abuses of the church.  More than a third of his recorded appointments were of absentees with livings or abbeys across the border or even offices at court.”

(A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire 1284-1900, p 42)

His Register contains no list of candidates ordained. (A I Pryce, 1939, TAAS, p44, The Reformation in the Diocese of Bangor as illustrated by the Records.)

1509: The priory of (Betykeleth) Beddgelert or Valley St Mary was fined 10s. for not sending its head to a general chapter of the Augustinian Order held at Leicester that year. The Abbot of Bardsey was fined 40s, and the priors of Penmon and Ynys Tudwal were both fined 10s. Fines ranged from £10 to 10 shillings, dependent on the size and wealth of each priory; Beddgelert, Penmon and Ynys Tudwal were in the poorest category. (H E Salter, Chapters of the Augustinian Canons ,1922, pp 129, 187, 268ff) 

1509 – 1547 King Henry VIII

1511 Aug 30 : In a letter relating to the proposed Chapter meeting in 1512, the list from 1509 seems to have been repeated.  OR At the Augustinian chapter at Launde, no one was present from North West Wales and the houses were fined: Bardsey - xis; Penmon xs ; Leyokelyt (Beddgelert) xi ; Medestedewale (Ynys Tudwal) xs. 

(H E Salter, 1922, Chapters of the Augustinian Canons, p 185; also see p 129, 187)

Leasing Church Land: 

This was a practice that had long been prevalent among regular canons and had been legitimised by the wholesale grant of papal indulgences for the purpose.  The monks had, in most instances, long ceased to take any direct interest in the collection of tithes or the working of the glebe of appropriated parishes. The practice of farming them out had been common since the fourteenth century. It was unusual for religious houses to retain in their own hands control of appropriated livings. The practice was most common in north-west Wales where Bardsey retained all four of its appropriated churches, Penmon four out of six and Cymer three out of four. But even in this region Aberconway leased all but one of its five appropriated churches, and elsewhere in Wales leasing was the general rule. … Leases were being made out for long terms, from forty to ninety or more years. There was an obvious convenience in this practice of farming out spiritualities for the monastery, especially if the parish lay at any distance from it. Local landowners in or near the parish were, for their part, only too eager to get hold of such leases. The neglected, even ruinous, condition of formerly appropriated churches noted with such concern by Elizabethan bishops was certainly made worse by lay impropriators; but it goes back to the days before the dissolution. This commercialisation of spiritual income, which evoked spirited protests from contemporary churchmen, whose loyalty could not for a moment be in doubt, inevitably diminished the prestige and popularity of the religious orders. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, 

p 350-52)

1512  June 4 : A lease of 1512 is referred to in 1553 case:

c1553: Complainant. 
Angharrade Vershone {ie Verch Sion}, widow.


Defendants. 
Hughe ap Robert ap William and one other.

David Conway, Prior of Bethkylhart, demised certain lands in parish of St Michael, Pennant. By conventual’s seal, 12 June 4 Henry VIII (c1512) to Ryce ap Evan ap Howell, 80 years (40 years to run) who left them by will to the complainant his wife, for life, tenements called Bulkwin and Pandrynyog. Compl. also had possession of certain copyholds, otherwise bond lands, called Gavell the geryn, according to the custom of manor of Llegheyddiok, at lord’s will.

The Defendant entered into all these lands, def makes no claim to demised lands, as to bond lands, complainant’s husband demised them by will to his son, Ieuan ap Ryce, who entered and on whose death they descended to his son, Lewes ap Evan ap Ryce, who is but thirteenth years of age, and has the Defendant as guardian. (B, A, Rp).
(Records of Court of Augmentations relating to Wales & Monmouthshire. Lewis & Conway Davies 1954 p 62; 519/44-6)

1512 June 14 (4 Henry VIII) : Rhys ap Ieuan of Hendre Cenin (farm) received a lease from David Conway, the last Prior of Beddgelert of certain lands belonging to the priory in the parish of Llanfihangell y Pennant; these lands were Bwlch Gwyn and Pant Ddreiniog in Cenin Fynydd, lying at the southern end of the hill above and adjoining Hendre Cenin (farm).  In 1552  the guardian of Lewis ap Ieuan ap Rhys, the grandson of Rhys ap Ieuan, aged 13 years, was involved in a case before the Court of Augmentations over the lease which still had 40 years left to run. (Records of the Court of Augmentations p 62; PRO 519/44-6). The Crown therefore honoured the lease, probably till its expiry in 1592. (C A Gresham, 1973, Eifionydd, p 202-3)

Post-Reformation work: In the fifteenth or early sixteenth century a square headed window of four lights was inserted into the south wall of the chancel. (GAT: Gazetteer of Churches in Gwynedd 1994/5) The style of this window varies considerably in the different pre 1830 paintings which survive, thus making it difficult to date. Before the dissolution of the priory it is supposed that the east wing of the conventual’s buildings including the chapter house would have been standing immediately to the south of the chancel, not leaving room for a window in this position. However, after 1538 St Mary’s became a parish church and additional light from the south chancel wall may have been required to light the altar. 
1513-1521

Pope Leo X.

1513: Writs of Distringas (Anglesey) directed against defaulting Juries;

Visue from whence Jury summoned: Beaumaris.

Pleas at Beaumaris, Session on 22 July 1513. 

No 62.
David, prior of St Mary of Bethkelert, by Hugh Peeke his attorney, against Morgan ap David ap Llewelin ap Hoell, clerk.

It is not known whether Hugh Peeke was related to John Peake of Conway, who was Dafydd Conwy’s maternal grandfather.

No 63.
Morgan ap David ap Llewelin ap Hoell, clerk, in person put himself against David, Prior of St Mary of Bethkelert, in a plea that he render him 46 shillings 8 pence which he owes and unjustly detains.

(Hugh Owen, ed., The Plea Rolls for Anglesey, 1509-1516, Anglesey Antiquarian and Field Club, Supplement, 1927, p 27; UWB, Porth yr Aur Additional, Ms 146) 

The Registers for the Diocese of St David’s Ordination Lists include many monasteries in Wales. (H E Salter, Chapters of the Augustinian Canons, 1922, p185) These have not yet been studied - see Jnl of the Historical Society of the Church in Wales for transcriptions- in Bangor University.

1508-1532 : Ordinands for Bangor were occasionally ordained by Bishop of Hereford; the majority being ordinands for the Augustinians houses in the Bangor Diocese. 

(A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century p xvi)

A year, certainly a few months, elapsed between the stages of ordination: a) acolyte; b) A sub deacon could read the Epistle at Mass; c) a deacon could read the Gospel at Mass. d) A Priest would celebrate Mass. Training for the priesthood was in medieval monastic communities very often within the monasteries, but by the sixteenth century each abbey might well send one or two monks away for further studies, e.g. at Oxford.

It is nor known why ordinations took place in the Hereford Diocese: it may have been that their own diocesan was absent at court or on business, or maybe there was a vacancy in the Welsh see. (Pers. Comm. Revd. David Williams, Aberystwyth)

1513 March 18 - Vigil of Easter : Richard , alias Rees ap Griffith ap Gwillim, Bangor diocese, monastery of Blessed Virgin Mary, Bethgelert, was ordained subdeacon in Hereford cathedral. (Ed. A T Bannister, 1919, Register of Richard Mayhew (1504-1516), Bishop of Hereford, Canterbury & York Society, vol 23, p 261)

1513 May 21- Vigil of the Feast of Trinity: Richard, alias Rees ap Griffith ap Gwillim, Bangor diocese, monastery of Blessed Virgin Mary, Bethgelert, was ordained deacon in the chapel of Whitmore Manor. (Whitmore became the usual residence of Bishop Mayhew)   (Ed. A T Bannister, 1919, Register of Richard Mayhew [1504-1516], Bishop of Hereford, Canterbury & York Society, vol 23, p 21)

1513 Sept 24 : Richard, alias Res ap Griffith ap Gwillim, Bangor diocese, Bethgelert monastery, was ordained priest in Whitemore parish church. 

(Ed. A T Bannister, 1919, Register of Richard Mayhew (1504-1516), Bishop of Hereford, Canterbury & York Society, vol 23, p 263)

1514 April 1 : Ordination in the chapel of the Blessed Virgin Mary in the Cathedral of

Subdeacon Thomas ap Jevan ap Llewellyn, of Bangor diocese, from Bethgelert priory. (Ed. A T Bannister, 1919, Register of Richard Mayhew (1504-1516), Bishop of Hereford, Canterbury & York Society, vol 23, p 265)

1514 April 15 : Ordination in the chapel of the Blessed Virgin Mary in the Cathedral of Deacon Thomas ap Jevan ap Llewelyn, of Bangor diocese, from Bethgelert priory. (Ed. A T Bannister, 1919, Register of Richard Mayhew (1504-1516), Bishop of Hereford, Canterbury & York Society, vol 23, p 266)

1515 : Ordination in the Conventual church of Monmouth, Sicientes, on Saturday 24 March  by Thomas, Episcopus Lachovensis. 

Subdeacon - David ap Gronow, of Bangor diocese, Bethgelert priory 

Subdeacon - John ap Griffith ap Res, of Bangor diocese, Bethgelert monastery. 

(Ed. A T Bannister, 1919, Register of Richard Mayhew (1504-1516), Bishop of Hereford, Canterbury & York Society, vol 23, p 269)

1516 Feb 16 : Ordination in Ledbury Church by Thomas, Episcopus Lachovensis,

Deacon - Richard ap Robert ap Jevan, Bangor diocese, Bethgelert priory 

Priest - John ap Griffith ap Rys, Bangor diocese, Bethgelert priory.

(Ed. A T Bannister, 1919, Register of Richard Mayew (1504-1516), Bishop of Hereford, Canterbury & York Society, vol 23, p 272)

1517
Martin Luther (1483-1546) Disputation on indulgences & preached salvation in Christ alone.

1517-1520?: Writ for Debt against 

Howel ap Thos, of Bedlew, 

Howel ap Rhys ap Goronwy of the same, 

Thos. ap Dd ap Jevan ap Mered. of the same, 

Jevan ap Gruff. ap Jevan ap Mered. of the same, 

Hugh ap Ll ap Jevan of Porthamel gent.,

on the plaint of the Prior of Beddgelert (Merioneth).

(Cap. ad Respondendum, Alias Cap., Pluries Cap.) (UWB, Porth yr Aur Add, ms179)

 In 1519 Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that hee never knewe nether monkes Chanons nor brethern professed in the saide Pruorye of Bethkelert. But further saithe that he sawe above xltie [40] yeres paste [i.e. c1519].

A certen Friar of the Frierhouse of Denbighe serve and saie devyne service within the parish Church or Bethkelert aforesaide whose name this deponent knowithe nott”. (NLW Elwes ms 263)

The position of the monasteries on the eve of the Reformation: 

 In connection with the fine church at Clynnog, rebuilt about this time, tradition has always been definite that the funds were derived from the alms of the pilgrims on their way to Bardsey so that it may fairly be argued that the Abbey at Bardsey which stood as a guardian of that Isle of Saints, still maintained the prestige and sanctity attached to that famous spot.

On the other hand it is increasingly recognised that the ideal of devoted service implied in monastic life had largely died out, a tendency to decay which even this remote diocese could hardly escape.

The little priory of the Augustinian Order situate at Ynys Tudwal probably existed in 1509, but was described by Leland as containing a little church desolate, although the year of its abandonment is not known. 

In 1518 a letter from Cardinal Wolsey lamented that the Augustinian order was " in danger and threatened with speedy ruin". Another speaks of the " lamentable ruin of all monasticism  that is imminent". It may fairly be assumed that for many generations the Augustinian canons had been a potent influence for good, and possibly they remained so to the end, but their position on the eve of the Reformation is obscure. The existence of married priors suggests a strange falling away from the austere principles associated with monastic life. (A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p xvii, xviii).

The state of the Medieval church: 

“When the bishops were negligent, careless or unlearned, when the priests were lazy and ignorant, when clerics and incumbents were mute and never uttered a word of true learning, and when worldly covetousness had robbed them of their message and made them withhold their voices … and rarely could there be found one reader of God’s word, then there flourished and reigned all manner of falsehood, idolatry, excess, superstition, charms and incantations; faith was extinguished; and all kinds of evil and godlessness were fostered”. Bishop Richard Davies of St David’s from 1561-1581. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 461)

Cults, relics, pilgrimages, legends, literature and traditions all proliferated into a veritable jungle forest of beliefs and practices in which  a tangled undergrowth of abuse threatened to choke sound doctrine. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 504)

The Church & its Sacraments:

“The medieval church taught every man that he had his own individual responsibility towards his creator, but it also left him in no doubt that he could discharge it only with the aid of the ministers, sacraments and the teaching of the Church. The notion that a man might find salvation outside the Church was unthinkable to all save a small heretical minority. There were rare individuals who withdrew into the seclusion of a hermit’s life; and this was still considered in Wales, as it had been from the time of the Celtic church, to be the highest ideal of Christian living, though there is no means of knowing how many hermits there were in the country at the end of the Middle Ages. But the hermit withdrew from society not the church. …Worship and devotion were essentially a corporate activity focussed on the parish church. …Most people, apart from going to church to seal bargains and for other similar functions, only went at the recognised times of service. … On Sundays there were three services. Early in the morning at 6, 7 or 8 a.m., there were matins. This was followed by high mass at 9 or 10 a.m.; and in the afternoon, evensong began at 2 or 3 p.m. according to the time of year. … It seems doubtful whether in the course of the ordinary Sunday services the parishioners heard much in the way of preaching or systematic instruction. …The general criticism was that Archbishop Pecham‘s constitutions of 1281 requiring the priest to expound his programme of instruction four times a year were not being fulfilled. … All those over fourteen years of age were communicants and were expected to attend Sunday services, especially mass. … The recalcitrant few who neglected to come to church on Sundays were liable to be presented by the church wardens and punished by the ecclesiastical courts. … A medieval service was liable to be noisier and more irreverent than a modern one. Many worshippers gossiped and laughed, and gave all but perfunctory attention to the proceedings until the sanctuary bell rang when they rushed to see the host being elevated. After the service was over, there were often pedlar’s wares on display in the churchyard, and games and entertainment for the younger element. The less active enjoyed an hour of two of leisure in the church house (Tynyllan), where one existed, while others went to the taverns. …In addition to the Sunday services there were the festivals of the Church, great and small.” (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 505-11) 

1522-1523
Pope Hadrian VI

1522 Collectors of the  Loan.

Hereafter ensueth the names of all the general collectors which were appointed to the receipt of the king’s loan money, granted by the general clergy in all diocese in England, within the Province of Canterbury, with the total sums of money which they have paid of the same, unto the hands of Edmund Peckham. ….

Diocese of Bangor: 

David abbot of Bethekellert, for archdeaconry of Bangor 
£32 16s 4d

The prior of Penmon, for archdeaconry of Anglesey 
£57 5s

Abbot of Kymer, for archdeaconry of Merrioneghe

£13 6s 8d.

(Letters & Papers. F Domestic, Henry VIII. Addenda vol1 Part1 Nos 1 - 1293. No 358 [S.P. Hen VIII 233 f175])

1523-1534
Pope Clement VII

Leases granted by Prior Dafydd Conway:

Pre 1525 Lease from Prior Dafydd Conwy.

The lease on land known as Tir y Prior, was inherited about 1525 by Robert ap Einion from his uncle Meredudd. The land became crown land under the statute for the dissolution of the monasteries, but the Crown continued to honour the lease in force by grant of the last prior. Around 1570 Robert's grandson, Hugh ap John ap Robert married a daughter of Richard ap Elise who was the tenant of Tir y Prior. Moris ap Elise held the land formerly belonging to the Priory at Maes y llech, on the other side of the river, and both were doubtless the sons of Elise of Clenennau. 

Soon after 1571 Tir y Prior, held by Richard ap Elise, was sold by the Crown to Lord Cheney, who passed it on to John Salisbury, who sold it in 1575 to Cadwaladr ap Meredudd of Y Wenallt in Nanhwynain. In 1582 Hugh ap John ap Robert succeeded in completing the consolidation of his lands by the purchase of Tir y Prior from Thomas ap Cadwaladr of Glasfryn Fawr. (C A Gresham, Eifionydd, 1973, p10-4; NLW Dolfriog Deeds ms 152)

1529
Parliament was summoned, and in the critical years from 1522 -1536 Thomas Cromwell mobilised the strongly anti-clerical sentiment of this parliament to break the ties between England and Rome. (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of the Church in Wales, p 57)

1529/30 : The Prior, David Conway gave a lease, dated 2 January 1529/30, given at the grantor's Chapter house, of holdings called Hafod Ruffydd, Cadair Wrchyn, Cwm Twscl, Cwm llechog and Cwm Du, in the townships of Pennant and Penarth - lands in the north of the Prior's land - to Maurice Gethyn ap Ieuan ap Rhys. The rent was four marks a year, the service of two horses for duties on Christmas day, and the service of two labourers to cut hay and spread manure for one day in the Autumn.

This actual lease has been preserved (NLW, Dolfriog, ms 149)

An impression of the CONVENTUAL SEAL is still appended to the lease. 

     "This lease is probably the only surviving document from those issued by the Priory, and appended to it is the only known impression of the conventual seal.  Until now all that was generally known about the seal was the statement made by Pennant in A Tour in Wales where he says: 'In my possession is a drawing of the seal of the priory, dated 1531: on it is the figure of the virgin and child: but no part of the legend except BETHKELE'.

This may be the seal of another lease dated 1531 on other land belonging to the priory.

     “The 1529/30 seal (Plate 2) is shaped as a vesica piscis with the inscription in Black Letter set in a border round the edge.  In the centre is the figure of the Blessed Virgin, crowned and holding the Child.  She is seated in a cusped and decorated niche flanked by pinnacles.  In a rectangular space below is a male figure, robed and possibly with a tonsure; this might represent St. Augustine or the Prior. I am grateful for comments on the seal from Mr. M. A. F. Borrie, Assistant Keeper of Manuscripts at the British Museum, who tells me that there was no standard design for Augustinian seals, although the Virgin and Child image was common, and that this one can probably be dated to the late fourteenth or early fifteenth century.  The impression of the inscription is worn and partly defaced, and a possible but conjectural reading of it may be:



SIGILLUM V PRIORIS (ET) CONVENTU(S DE) BETH .…”

     The last holder of the lease, Morris Williams of Hafod Garegog, would finally have placed the precious document, still in mint condition, with his family papers, and with them it passed to his grandson, a second Morris Williams, who died young in 17I7.  His daughter and sole heiress died as a child in 1723, and the Hafod Garegog estate went to a nephew, Morris Wynne, who also died young in 1723. His daughter and heiress, Jane, married Zaccheus Hughes of Trefan in Eifionydd to whom she carried her estate in Nanmor.  Early in the nineteenth century Trefan, by means of a law-suit, came into the hands of Samuel Priestley of Leeds, who had married a member of the family.  One of Samuel Priestley's great-grandsons was Francis John Lloyd Priestley, and in 1902 he married Pearl, the second daughter of Llewelyn E. S. Parry of Pengwern, Rhuddlan.  He was the male representative of the family of Parry of Craflwyn, which for so many generations had owned Hafod Ruffydd (see Griffith's Pedigrees, 25, 199, 163, 387).  It was fitting that his daughter in making a gift of the Trefan deeds to the National Library should have therewith handed over David Conwey's lease of Hafod Ruffydd." (NLWJ Vol XVII, No 3, 1972, C A Gresham, A Lease from the Last Prior of Bethkylhert, p 275)

“Although the historian, Dr C A Gresham claims in relation to the terms of this lease, “this shows Davis Conway in the dual role of churchman and farmer”, it does not appear that this is an absolute certainty, because it may well be that the services comprehended ecclesiastical or parochial duties relating to his position as father-prior that he may have had on Christmas day, and it is likely that it was necessary to cut hay and look after the land  in the vicinity of the priory itself once a year.” 

(Catrin Stevens, “Cywydd i Ofyn March i Ddafydd Conwy, prior Beddgelert”, TCHS, 1976, p 45; translated by Nia & Ellen Powell. )

Known leases from the last prior of Beddgelert:

1. 
See 1512 lease of  Bwlch Gwyn & Pant Ddreiniog, Llecheiddior.

2.
See Pre 1525 lease of Tir y Prior, Pennant.

3.
See 1529/30 lease of Hafod Ruffydd, part of the Prior‘s land.

4.
Possible separate lease dated 1531 described by Pennant.

5.
In 1536 when the monastic land was taken by the Crown, Elise of Clenennau's son Moris, was tenant of Maes y llech, in Pennant, by an earlier lease from the Prior of Beddgelert.

6.
Lease to Ellis Morris in Pennant. (See 1559 Answer 14)

7.
Lease to Hugh Conway of Meillionen. ( See 1559 Answer 17)

In 1556-7, William Loveles was complaining to the Court of Chancery, about one tenement, Anode ruffyth - HAVODE RUFFYTH, (Hafod Ruffydd) in the township of Pennant, and consisting of 90 acres of land, meadow and pasture, in the northern part of the Prior's Land. (Early Chancery Proceedings ECP Caernarvonshire 1447/49-53) Loveles claimed that this tenement had been unlawfully entered by Lewis ap Morris Gethin ap Ieuan ap Rice, and held by him. Lewis ap Morris said in his answer that his father, Morris Gethin, had taken a lease on the lands, dated 2 January 1529, from David Conway, Prior of Bethkilhert. 

The Replication of William Loveles says that Davye Conwaye lived in the priory for over twenty years “and caused himself to be caulled and was commonly cauled prior of Bethkilhert”, but if fact he was not, for he was a secular priest and not professed as an Austin canon or elected as prior. Moreover, as he had no convent by whose consent he could sign leases of the property, he brought in some other secular priests when the need arose to form a chapter with himself, but even so deeds made in that manner were not good at law. It was because there were no brethren or professed canons left in the priory that Henry VIII gave the possessions to the Abbey of Chertsey, and that his lease was correctly made to John Gough by the abott with the consent of the convent of that house, and was therefore the only lawful lease.

In his Rejoinder Lewis ap Moris said that “there were dyvers and many Chapells and parsonages appropriate belonging to the said late priorie of Bethkilhert which the said late monastery was bounde to serve. And for that the said late monastery was a house of very small possessions the Canons of the said late monastery (except 2 or 3) did for the most part serve abroade out of the said monastery in other places that is to say in the Chapells and parsonages appropriate which they did for and towards the better maintenance of their sociale livings and some of them did for the better maintenance of their livings did serve the cure of other parsonages and vicarages. But when they the said Canons did or would make any lease or grant of any part of the possessions of the saide late monastery then they were sent for by the prior of the said late monastery to come home to their said monastery. And then did make such grants and leases as they always had and did use to grant and make. And further the said defendant (Lewis ap Morris) saith that the prior of the said late monastery wore always in his vesture like a Canon and had sometimes a secular priest in his said monastery to serve there as other priors did use to have in their monasteries and houses.” 

He also said that David Conway died a little time before the passing of the statute to dissolve the smaller monasteries, when the priory remained empty for a short while until it was taken by the king under the force of that statute. He denied all the evidence that David Conway was not legally Prior of Beddgelert and a professed canon, and claimed that he was lawfully elected and lawfully granted leases.

The final Rejoinder from William Loveles merely repeated the former allegations against David Conway that he was not prior except “ by his own pryvate authoritie”.

(C A Gresham, 1973, Eifionydd, p 67-8; PRO, Court of Augmentations, C1/1774 No 49; C A Gresham, “Parish of Beddgelert”, TCHS, vol 30, 1969, p 23-24)

In 1559 the following statements were made in a dispute regarding these priory leases. They give actual memories of the last days of the priory, although it is not possible to tell whether the witnesses were persuaded to give a particular slant in their answers. The questions are not known.

6. 
Meredithe ap Robert ap Ieuan ap Griffith ap Rice of the parish of Llanfihangell y Penall, aged 66 years “saithe the saide David Conwaye called hym selfe Pryor of Bethkelert. But whether he were lawfullie elected, chosen or made hede or Governor of the saide Pryorye or by what authoritie hee was made Pryor or by what meanes the saide David Conway didd unlawfullye take uppon to dwell in the saide Pryorye this deponent knowith nott”. 

8. 
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that he sawe and knowithe that the said David Conwey occupied the saide late Pryorie of Bethkelert by the space of 24 yeres but whether he occupied the same laufullie or nott or by meanes of the wrongfull entrie geven by Robert Subtell or not he knowith nott”.

9. 
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that hee never knewe nether monkes Chanons nor brethern professed in the saide Pruorye of Bethkelert. But further saithe that he sawe above 40 yeres paste [i.e. c1519] A certen Friar of the Frierhouse of Denbighe serve and saie devyne service within the parish Church or Bethkelert aforesaide whose name this deponent knowithe nott”.

10. 
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that he never knewe nether Monkes Chanons nor Bretherne att all to be of the saide house for this 54 yeres paste”. (i.e. since 1505; THIS DOES NOT APPEAR TO BE CORRECT, since sub deacons, deacons and priests were ordained from Beddgelert until  at least 1516).


Thomas Bowlde of the parish of Llangyrwew, Anglesey, Gent, aged 54 years  saithe “that he never knewe nether monkes Chanons nor Friers of the aforesaid pryorye at all savinge the saide David Conwey by the name of Pryor”.

11.
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that hee knewe no nomber of Monkes Chanons nor Brethern professed in the saide Pryore of all the tyme of Kinge Henrye theighte nor at anye tyme sence”.


Thomas Bowlde of the parish of Llangyrwew, Anglesey, Gent, aged 54 years “saithe as hee hath before saide that he never knewe nether monkes Chanons nor brethren of the saide Pryory save onlye the said David Conwey as Pryor”.

12. 
John ap Robert of the parish of Penmorfa, Clerke, aged 66 years “saithe that he knowith not for what cause the corporacion of the saide Pryorye was dissolved But saithe he never sawe no Monckes nor Chanons there in all this deponents tyme nor remembreth whether the dissolution of the saide Pryorye was before the saide statute of Henry theighte or after”.

13. 
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that he knowithe not certenlye what tyme the saide Pryorye and possession thereto belonginge came to the handes of Kinge Henrye theight nor whether it came before the statute made for dissolution of houses of Religion or after”.

14.
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that there were in the saide Pryorye together with the saide David Conwey nether Monkes nor Brethern that used to make leases upon the possessions of the saide late Pryorye for that he knewe never suche monkes nor chanons whiche myghte make any suche lease as he hathe before deposed, And further saithe that the saide David Conwey alone by the name of Prior and Covent did use to grannte leases upon parte of the saide possessions whereof this deponent hadd a lease grannted to hym upon a parcell of the saide possessions by the saide David Conwey alone by the name of Prior and Covent whiche lease hathe taken noe effect sithence the dissolucion of the saide Pryorye”.


Meredithe ap Robert ap Ieuan ap Griffith ap Rice of the parishes of Llanfihangell y Penall, aged 66 years “saithe that he never harde of any leases made by the saide  David Conwey withe the assent of any bretherne or Monkes for that there were no such there”.

15.
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that the saide late subposed Pryor hadd a certen seale wherewith he used comenlye to make and seale leases without thassent of any monkes or Channons of the saide Priorye for that there were no suche monkes nor Chanons there at any tyme that this deponent ever knewe, but whether the saide seale was a comon seale of that house or not he knowithe not”.

16.
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that the saide David Conwey made certen leases to dyvers of his frendes but whether he made them to deceave the said late Kinge or not this deponent knowithe not”.

17.
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that he herde saie that the saide David Conwey made a lease for certen yeres, the number he knowithe nott, unto one Hughe Conwey upon the tenementes called Millione and sealed the same with the saide usual seale whiche he had in his custodie withoute the assente of any monkes or Chanons for that there were no suche there as he hathe before saide”

18. 
Elice Moris of the parish of Penmorfa, Esquire, aged 66 years “saithe that he never sawe the said Hugh Conwey occupie the saide tenement But whether he receved any benefittt by the saide lease or not he knowithe not or for what cause he did not occupie hit he knowithe not”. (NLW Elwes ms 263)

“Having the cure of parishes was, of course, absolutely acceptable under the rule of the Order of Augustinian canons, and these canons received innumerable pardons from the Pope which allowed this. In the case in question, this description of their poverty of the priory, was an answer to a number of accusations against the prior, Dafydd Conwy. It had been claimed that he was not a member of the Augustinian Order at all, that he had no canons living in the priory, and that he was making a personal profit from his position a prior. The accusers also claimed that it was only when the prior needed witnesses and their signatures on leases that canons were to be seen in the priory. It must be remembered that it was enemies of the priory that were behind these accusations and that Dafydd Conwy himself was not alive in 1547/48 to defend himself”. (Catrin Stevens, “Cywydd i Ofyn March i Ddafydd Conwy, prior Beddgelert”, TCHS, Vol 37,1976, p 47-48; translated by Nia & Ellen Powell.

"The manner in which the Priory came to an end was most unusual. It was never a large house, and the numbers had decreased until by the beginning of the sixteenth century only the Prior was left there by himself. In monasteries of other orders this would have been a situation which could not have been maintained, but according to the rules of an Augustinian house it was quite legal. The last Prior was David Conwey, who drew a comfortable annual income from the rents of his quite extensive lands, and appears to have lived in the Priory rather in the manner of a prosperous country squire. He always wore the white (sic) Augustinian habit, but his worldly behaviour led some men to deny that he had ever been professed a Canon of that Order.

Lewis Daron wrote a cywydd to him begging for a horse on behalf of Sion Wyn ap Maredudd ab Ifan of Gwydir. 

A poet characteristically gives a much more favourable view of him in NLW, Cwrtmawr MS 12, pp 710-12) 

The cywydd by Lewis Daron, contrary to the tradition of the poets, does not mention the prior’s ancestors at all. Rather what is emphasised is his learning - “ the marrowbone of schooling”; his generosity and his bringing both learning and art to Beddgelert. (Catrin Stevens, “Cywydd i Ofyn March i Ddafydd Conwy, prior Beddgelert”, TCHS, Vol 37,1976, p 44, 52; translated by Nia & Ellen Powell).

The Poems requests that Dafydd Conwy gives a stallion to Sion Wyn ap Maredydd of Gwydir. Maredydd ap Ieuan ap Robert died in 1525, and Sion Wyn was his heir.

''Lewis Daron, a Bard of the sixteenth century, in a poem, (the purpose of which is to solicit David, the Prior of Bethcelert, to bestow on John Wynne, of Gwydir, Esq. a fine bay horse, which he possessed) extols the Prior for his liberality and learning. Hence we are led to suppose that this monk was very opulent, and a popular character in his time.''  (1802 W Williams , Observations on the Snowdon Mountains.)

“David Conwey was no doubt a man remarkable for his learning and for his hospitality, and he ran his Priory much as any landed gentleman would run his estate, giving long leases of each of his farms, collecting their rents and availing himself of their services. When he wished to draw up a new lease, having no convent to sit with him, he would call in one or two local parish priests to help with the formalities. He died before the closure of the monasteries, shortly after the King's officials had called to value his property in 1535". (C A Gresham 1972, NLWJ, Vol XVII No3, A lease from the Last Prior of Bethkylhert, p269-70)

The excessive influence of laymen over the life of monasteries was partly because of, and partly the result of the decline in the monastic ideal and the reduced number of monks. For a long time - a century or more probably - the monks had taken little or no direct responsibility for the management of their estates. They had been content to lease the great bulk of them to laymen and live on the rents. In Beddgelert Priory just before the Reformation it was said that the only time that Prior David Conway ever kept his two canons in the priory was when they were needed to sign leases. (1556-57: PRO, Early Chancery Proceedings, Caernarfonshire C1/1447/49-53) (Glanmor Williams, The Reformation in sixteenth century Caernarvonshire, TCHS 1966 p 40)

The last Prior, David Conway, was said to have lived in his house alone, as was allowed by the rules of the Augustinian order. On the death of a single prior the bishop could collate to the priory. (Arch. Camb., 1922, p 400) However it appears that he was married and had at least one daughter. (Dafydd Conwy, Prior of Beddgelert, married Jonet ferch Gr [Rs G T (B1)] and their daughter Margred Conwy married Edward ap Howel ap Madoc of Pennarth. ([Gollwyn 7 (A5)]  in Bartrum Genealogies 1400-1500 vol 6 Iarddur 5(D,E) p809). 

1529. 5 Nov - 3 Dec. List of persons summoned to the Convocation of the province of Canterbury, arranged in dioceses.

Bangor (includes)

-------

 provost of Clannock

Will. Glyn, 
rector of Castry Cabi

John 

abbot of Bardesia

John 

prior of Penmon

------ 

prior of Bethhelorth

Lewis 

abbot of Kymmer, by abbot of Graces etc

The Convocation of the province of Canterbury was for removal of abuses, ordination, morals of the clergy, excess of apparel, simony, appropriations, reforms of regulars … Etc. (Letters & Papers Foreign & Domestic. 21 Henry VIII, ms 6047, page 2701) It is not known whether the omission of the prior’s name indicated his non attendance.

1532 Sept 20:
Escheators came to the priory of Beddgelert to investigate the property of the former prior. (PRO CR1./213 fo 1596 NOT SEEN) (Catrin Stevens, “Cywydd i Ofyn March i Ddafydd Conwy, prior Beddgelert”, TCHS, Vol 37,1976, p 48; translated by Nia & Ellen Powell). Dafydd Conwy must therefore have died before this date.

1533 June 23:
Sir Richard Bulkeley of Anglesey wrote to Thomas Cromwell,

Thanks him for his gentleness when he was last with him. Reminds Cromwell that he promised to him the farm of the priory of Bethkellerd for his brother the bearer, at 100 marks a year. Will be a surety for him, or take a bond of him to the King’s use. Hol p1; Add: of the Privy Council. Endd. 

(Cal of Letters & Papers Henry VIII, VI, 308) 

[There was a local struggle between Sir Richard Bulkeley in 1535-36 with Bangor chancellor William Glynne- Glynllifon v Penrhyn - involving Wolsey then Thomas Cromwell] (A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire 1284-1900, p 43)

It appears that the land almost became forfeit after the death of Dafydd Conwy because there was no one to succeed him in his office. (PRO List & Index XXIII, Index of Inquisitions, 11, p 59; Chancery Series 2, vol 59, no 32, 33)   NOT SEEN

1533 Bishop Skevington made his will on 10 May 1533 and died in June 1533. 

1533/4 -1539 Bishop John Salcot alias Capon was elected to Bangor 30 January 1533 and consecrated on 19 April 1534.  He was also abbot of Hyde, Winchester, and was an absentee bishop. A brief Register survives. (A I Pryce, 1923, Diocese of Bangor During the Sixteenth Century, p xix). There were further alienations of episcopal property; he did not tackle the basic abuses of the church. (A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire 1284-1900, p 43) He was translated to Salisbury in 1539 on rendering Hyde abbey to the crown. (Browne Willis, 1721, A Survey of the Cathedral Church of Bangor, p 98)

It is possible that Dafydd Conwy died during Bishop Skevington’s absence from Bangor and/or the bishop’s final illness, and this could have delayed the election of a new prior. It may have passed to the Bishop of Bangor before passing into the control of the crown. It is not known why the priory passed to the Crown then instead of the election of a new prior. The deteriorating situation between the Pope and King Henry VIII may have had an influence on the failure to elect another prior. The political and religious situation may be why in June 1533 Bulkeley asked Thomas Cromwell for the farm of the priory, rather than expect a new prior to be elected.

The Priory was in the hands of the Crown by May 1535 and was given by the Crown to Cherstey Abbey in January 1536.

1533 John Calvin (1504-1575) was converted. He later wrote the Institutes of the Christian Religion.

1534-1549 Pope  Paul III. 

1534 Nov 3: The Act of Supremacy  by which King Henry VIII proclaimed himself the Head of the Church of England. The Act was also concerned with payment of a tenth of the possessions of the church, spiritual and temporal, to the King and his heirs.

The pope’s authority was finally and completely extinguished in the United Kingdom in 1536. (D Walker, A History of the Church in Wales, 1990, p57)

1534
The first stirrings of the religious revolution in Wales came in 1534 when, under the patronage of Anne Boleyn, a new prior was appointed to the Augustinian priory at Haverfordwest. He was William Barlow, a convinced and belligerent exponent of new ideas in religion and a violent opponent of papal authority. … He was appointed prior of Bisham Abbey in 1535 and bishop of St Asaph in 1538. Soon he was translated to St David’s see  which he was to rule until 1548 when he became bishop of Bath and Wells. (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of Wales, p 58)

1534 Commissioners travelled around the country to receive the oath of supremacy. There is no evidence that any Welsh monks refused the oath. No surviving list of signatories for Bangor diocese. (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of Wales, p 58)

In 1535 an injunction was issued that clergy must commend the royal supremacy to their flocks by sermons. Bishop Salcot, who owed his preferment to zeal for the royal divorce, excused himself on the ground of his ignorance of Welsh, but promised that some of his clergy would do something about it. 

Bishop Salcot arranged the voluntary surrender of his abbey at Hyde, and was rewarded by promotion from Bangor to Salisbury, to be succeeded by another monkish absentee. (A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire 1284-1900, p 45)

In 1535 Jan-June: Thomas Cromwell sent commissioners to enquire into the condition of all religious houses and in 1536 it was decided that the property of all religious houses with an income of less than £200 a year should be surrendered. All the Welsh houses fell within these terms of reference and were suppressed. 

There was a sudden spate of leases which committed the use of monastic land  for substantial periods of time ahead. … The lands which the Tudors gained through the dissolution of the monasteries were at first leased for short terms, and later many of them were sold by the crown. … The dispossessed religious were treated with some generosity, many being given pensions or livings. (D Walker, ed., 1990, A History of Wales, p 59-62).

Many of the smaller houses …which had fallen on evil days, presented a dismal scene of  debt, neglect and decay. …The canons of Beddgelert, it was said by the prior’s enemies, were non existent; even his friends had to admit  that the only time they were ever in the monastery was when they were needed to append their signatures to leases. (PRO C1/1447/f142; Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 387)

The average number of monks in the houses of the Austin Canons was about five. …

That divine service could not be properly observed in small convents and that lapses of discipline were more frequent in their midst, had long been recognised. …

In such circumstances many of the observances instituted as aids and safeguards to the ideals of religious life could become an intolerable burden. Some were, inevitably, neglected. With the best of good will there could not but need to have been makeshifts and concessions, exemptions and dispensations, developing with the years into customs that were almost a second rule; customs, sometimes, which necessarily weakened the monastic spirit seriously. It is not necessary to posit the hypothesis of riches or sinful living in order to explain the decay of the religious community. Scandals, at this time, there were indeed; here and there very grave scandals. But the main troubles, it may be thought, were the necessary abridgment of those spiritual acts which are the monk’s real life; the abandonment within the shrunken monastic community of the life in common; the inability to give novices the training they needed; and the gradual contentment with a state of things that, in its nature, worked towards the utter negation of the life professed.

(Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 390)

1535 Papal indulgences were said to be circulating freely in the diocese of Bangor.

(Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 518)

Forces making for change:

The foundations of the medieval Church in Wales had, by the beginning of the sixteenth century, been weakened by the operation of factors which affected the whole of western Christendom. They had been subject to the violent earthquakes of war, plague, slump, heresy and schism. Devastating though these had been in the short run, they might have been more easily overcome than the erosion by slower and less spectacular processes with which they were interlinked. Foremost among the latter was the steady decline of the papacy over the previous two centuries. … Equally important was the increasing encroachment of secular authority into all spheres of ecclesiastical life. …Partly caused by, partly the cause of, this situation were its accompanying developments: the secularisation of the clergy, the cooled ardour of the religious orders, the decline of ecclesiastical learning, the divorce of faith from reason, the predominance of the study of law over theology, the separation of dogma from morality, the obsession with the external mechanisms of grace, the under-emphasis on the role of the Church by some of the more devout, the growth of superstition among the ignorant, flippancy among the heedless, anti-clericalism among the irreverent, and heresy among the rebellious. 

Whatever the shortcomings of the Church, there was little serious criticism, still less opposition. …This easy unquestioning acceptance of so much that needed correction was a symptom of weakness not strength. …The very absence  of criticism or controversy … came about because most Welshmen, laymen and clerics alike, were ill-instructed and superficial about their beliefs. They had largely been cut off from the sources of criticism,…partly by the physical structure of Wales, …and by pronounced regional patterns of economic and social life. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 521-2)

1535 Writing from north Wales, John Vaughan told Thomas Cromwell that the sermons the being preached were opening people’s eyes  to their romish errors for the first time. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 535)

The laity were sceptical of the Church’s need for its vast estates. These large endowments had outlived the sense of idealism and purpose which had once justified them. Administrator-bishops, worldly abbots, absentee chapters, and shrunken convents appeared to many an ambitious and acquisitive layman to be grossly over endowed with temporal goods. As stewards, bailiffs and farmers to the clergy, they had few illusions about how little the latter did to justify the revenues they enjoyed. Lay influence had even before the Reformation, penetrated deeply into the management of church possessions. They had long become, in the eyes of the gentry, not the inviolable patrimony of the Church, but valuable assets to be controlled and exploited. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 554-55)

In view of the complete collapse of the clergy in Wales, high and low, regular and secular, before the hammer-blows of Henry VIII and his vicar-general, the passive acceptance of the Reformation can hardly come as a great surprise. The reasons why the clergy should have offered no resistance has already been adduced: the absence from Wales of some of the most enlightened clerics of Welsh origin, the willingness of the higher clergy to do the king’s bidding, the cleavages between the higher and lower clergy, the lack of training among the parish priests and the secularisation of the religious orders. … Many of the Welsh clergy were as susceptible to the popular appeal of the Tudors as were the laity.

(Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 557)

1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: 

The temporalities of the priory of Beddgelert were described as being the Manor of Bethkylhert. (Arch Camb, 1847 pp 164-5). 

In the record this is divided into two parts : first, 'the demesne lands there' valued at £1, and, secondly, 'the lands in the hands of diverse persons', of which the rents are valued at £6-6-8d, giving a total of £7-6-8d. ... 

The Manor of Beddgelert (probably) was the original land of the early community surrounding the church in the valley bottom, and The Prior's Land given by Llywelyn ap Gruffydd in 1268, comprising the farms of Cwm Cloch, Meillionen and Hafod Ruffydd, which were rented out.

The spiritualities held by Beddgelert in the county of Caernarvon and Anglesey were many. (Valor Ecclesiasticus vol vi; C A Gresham, Parish of Beddgelert, TCHS,1969, p 23)

1535: 
Valor Ecclesiasticus 26 Henry VIII Monastery of Bethkylhert

Temporalities of the county of Caernarvon, Manor of Bethkylhert.

Value in rents of desmesne lands there, per ann.
£1

Rents of lands in the hands of divers persons 
£6 6s 8d

£ 7 6s 8d

( H L Jones, Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., 1847, pp 164-5)

In Spiritualities in the county of Caernarvon. Rectory of Bethkelhert, 

in the Deanery of Evionydd, value
In the gross in common years by the scrutiny & examination of the  
£6 13s 4d

Commissioners

Rectory of Llanviangell y Pennant in the aforesaid Deanery, value in

Tithes & other profits of the Church in that place
£7 5s 8d

Glebe land in the vill of Llechither


  18s 4d

Glebe land in the vill of Penant


  13s


£8 17s 0d

(H L Jones, Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., 1847, pp 164-5)

Rectory of Abererch, in the aforesaid deanery, value in

Glebe land there, per ann.



         5s

Tithes & oblations, in common years, by scrutiny etc £13 6s 8d

£13 11s 8d

[This high figure may indicate monies brought in by pilgrims whose presence had resulted in the recent enlargement of the church.]

(H L Jones, Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., 1847, pp 164-5)

Rectory of Llan Vaire and Bettocharmon, in the aforesaid Deanery, value in

Glebe land there, per ann.



          3s 4d

Tithes & oblations, in common years, by scrutiny etc  £6 13s 4d

£ 6 16s 8d 

(H L Jones, Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., 1847, pp 164-5)

Rectory of Dolwethlan, in the Deaneries of Issaph, Nanconwey & Cruthyn, value in

Glebe land there, per ann.



          5s

Tithes & oblations, in common years


   £4 13s 4d

£ 4 18s 4d

(H L Jones, Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., 1847, pp 164-5)

County of Anglesey, Rectory of Llanredan, in the Deaneries of Meney and Maltraith, value in gross by the scrutiny & examination of the commissioners, with 40s for glebe land







£70 3s 8d

And there remains in the King’s hands




£22 0s 0d

(H L Jones, Beddgelert Priory, Arch. Camb., 1847, pp 164-5; Valor Ecclesiasticus: 26 Hen VIII)

1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, pages xiv-xxxvi.

Diocese of Bangor: Tax of the first fruits of the churches of Bangor diocese, the Bishop of Bangor owes as much as those livings belonging to it.

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Llyn:

Coming from Abererch
x marcs 
ibi Vic.

[Kylynok Vaw: xl marcs; Llan Beblyk xij marcs; Abererch & Nevyn (Haughmond Abbey) x marcs. The remaining 38 entries in the Deanery range from 4-9 marks. Thus Abererch has a high value, possibly from Pilgrimage income] 

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xiv)

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Llyn:






Llan Vair Isgayr

vij marcs (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xiv)

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Arllechwedd:

Dolwythelan


vj marcs.  Bethkelert

18 entries ranging from 6marks -12 marks 10 shillings, with  7 being at 6 marks. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xiv)

1535 Archdeaconry of Merionyth: Deanery of Evionyth:

Llanvihangell y Penant
vj li. x s. (£6 10s)

9 entries ranging from 11 shillings to 12 marks 

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xv)

[1535 Deanery of Ardudwy: Llanvrethen
viij marcs]

23 entries ranging from 6 - 37 marks. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xv)

1535 Archdeaconry of Anglesey: Deanery of Meney & Malltraith:

Bethkellyert - 

R. of Llan Nedan
xiij li. vj s. viij d. 
(£13 6s 8d)

11 entries ranging from £6 13s 4d - £13 6s 8d (Llan Nedan) with one being incomplete. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, xv)

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor. Deanery of Llyn:

R. de Aberche

£6  13s 4d


V. ibm


-

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xvi)

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor. Deanery of Uwch and Isaf (Gwyfrai)

Monastery of Bethkilhert

R de Llan Ddeiniolen

iiij li.

R de Llan Ruge

iiij li.

V de Lanfair Is y Gaer

-

R de llan beris


liij s. iiij d.

Vicar de Llangedell

-

Etc. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xvi)

[This appears to be just a list, and not indicating that Llandeiniolen, Llanrug, or Llanberis belonged to Beddgelert monastery as some have supposed.] 

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor. Deanery of Issaph, Nanconwey and Cruthyn;

Bethkylhert 
- Church of Dolwyddelan
-

11 entries ranging from 104s 8d - £12 15s. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xvi)

1535 Archdeaconry of Merioneth: Deanery of Evion.

R de Llan vihangell ypenant
£4 10s.

5 entries ranging from £4 10s - £11 13s 4d.

[1535 Deanery of Ardudwy: 
R de Llanwrothen
cvj s. viij d.] 

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xvi)

1535. Heading of section incomplete:

Monastery of St Mary of Bethkylhert - only in the hand of the Lord King.


Archdeaconry of Anglesey: Deanery of Menai & Malltraeth:

chapels of Llan Edan, Llan Edwen, Llan ddeynyiol vab & Llan vair in y comote

attached to the said monastery.


Archdeaconry of Merionyth: Deanery of Efion.

Llanfihangel in y penant is attached to the said monastery.


Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Iscor & Uchaf in Arvon:

Llanvair Isgayre & Bettus Garnion is attached to the same monastery.


Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Issaphe & Nanconwey:

Chapel of Dolwethelan is likewise attached to the said monastery.



(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xvi)

1535 Archdeaconry of Anglesey; Deanery of Menai & Malltraeth:

Attached to Bethkelert:

Rectory of Llan Nedan with its chapels of ease namely Llan dewen, Llan ddwen, Llan ddeinnel vab & Llanvair yny comote belonging to the Monastery of Bethkelert, the said monastery is in the hands of the Lord King. 

Master  Gregorius ap Lli is the vicar of the same. 

xx marcs. (receives the small tithes) (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xvii)

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Llyn: 
attached to Bethkilerte

Rectory of Abererch is attached to the monastery of St Mary of Bethkelert in the hands of the Lord King. Vicar of Abererch previously said - Master Hugo ap Dd ap Thomas is only the vicar of the same - 

£ n . ( nil or not available)

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xviii)

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Uwchgwyfai & Isgwyfai: 

attached to Bethkelhert: Monastery of St Mary of Bethkelert with chapel Y bettus Llanvair is y gadr in the hands of the Lord King: 
vij marcs.

Vicaria de Llanvair is y gadr: Master Ric. Ap William is only the Vicar of the same: -.

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xviii)

1535 Archdeaconry of Bangor: Deanery of Issaph Nanconwey & Kreuddyn: 

attached to Bethkelert: Church of Dolwyddelan attached to the Monastery of Bethkelert in the hands of the Lord King:  
6 marks. 

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xviii)

1535 Archdeaconry of (Meri)onnyth: 

Deanery of Ysionydd: attached to Bethkelhert:

Rectory of Llanvihangell y pennant

vj marcs x s.

belonging to the monastery of Bethkelhert in the hands of the Lord King.

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xix)

1535 Archdeaconry of (Meri)onnyth: 

[Deanery of Ardudwy: Rectory of LlanVrothen
viij marcs.

D. Lodowic ap Hoell, Rector.]

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xix)

1535 All the revenues of the Lord Archdeacon of Anglesey in his own - Menay:

Llan Nedan cu Capl’ 
viij s iiij d. 
8s 4d. 

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, Page xxi)

1535: At Beaumaris on the 1st day of June in the 27th year of King Henry VIII. Archdeaconry of Merioneth in Bangor diocese: M William Roberte Bachelor in both the lawes, Archdeacon ther by the oothe of Sir Thomas Davide his officiall which Sir Thomas dothe certifie upon his oothe that the intire value of his Archdeaconry by yearly estimacion as calculated annualy be as he can esteme as hereafter foloweth:

Annuall aforesaid revenue:

Deanery of Ardudwy- Evionydd: Llan vihangell Penant ij s. ij d. gifts & iijd part gifts.

Deanery of Ardudwy - Llanvrothen


     xx d. 

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxi)

April 1535. The spiritual Jurisdiction of the Archdecon of Bangor, Thomas Runcorn … doth extende such zeris as the said Archdecon or his Officiall schall visite & kepe spirituall jurisdiction unto the sumes that particularly folowe:

Annual revenues in deanery of Uchaf Isaph & Nanconwey:
…. Dolwythellan
ij s.

Revenues received at the time of the visitation of the said Lord Archdeacon of Bangor: .… Dolwythellan 
ix d. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxii)

1535 The spiritual Jurisdiction of the Archdecon of Bangor, Mr Runcorn … : 

Annual revenues in deanery of Arvon & Uchaf & Isaph & deanery of Llyn: 






…. Aberch 

ijs.






…. Llan vorez isygaer xij d. 

Revenues received at the time of the visitation of the Lord Archdeacon of Bangor: 

Deanery of Llyn


…. Aberch

ij s.

Deanery isco & uwch (Gwyrfai)
…. Llan vaer isgo
-


(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxii)

1535 Annual revenues of the Lord Archdeacon of Anglesey in his own archdeaconry:

Deanery of Menai: Llan nedan with chapels:
 viij s iiij d.

Deanery of Llivon, Malltraeth & Menai  fact p probes virous eozd decanat.

The value of Llan Nedan with chapels:
xx mark.

[Along with the xx mark for Llanddwyn, these are the highest values apart from Holyhead] (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxiii)

1535 Lord Archdeacon of Anglesey: Menai:

Llan nedan with chapels
viij s. iiij.d. (8s 4d)

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxiii)

1535 Lord Archdeacon of Anglesey: Malltrayth:

Llan edan with chapels 
viij s. iiij d. ( 8s 4d)

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxiii)

1535 LLAN EDAN with its chapels of ease now in the King’s hand as a Rectory and not counting as a Vicarate.

The value of the benefice of the Rectory of Llan Edan annually in offerings of lambs and wool, and milk tithes and every other small tithe deemed to be due by the estimation of the Vicar of the said Rectory, Gregory ap Llewelyn, are as follows:

Firstly £20 on behalf of appropriation

Item in £10 on behalf of the Vicar

Item in glebe lands of the said church £2 of which glebe lands the said Vicar is entitled to / owns 4 virgates of land …. 32 ….

And next, the said Vicar asks for a reduction of 26s and 8d to defray the annual Cathedral charges by the Bishop and Archdeacon of Anglesey and 15s in respect of their visitations.

Gregory ap Llewelyn, Vicar of the said church.

Item the said Vicar (Gregory ap Lli) paeth iiij li (£4) of annual cellarie for the cure of Llanadwen & Llanddemel Vab belonging to the sayd Benefice wherof he desireth to be allowed & to be deducted. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, page xxv)

1535 R. Llanvrothen in the Deanery of Arduddwy, in the diocese of Bangor:

The valew thereof extendith as it foloyth

Item for corne flax hemp



6s 8d

Item for lames and woll



7 nobitt

Item for milk & other oblations & emoluments 
11 nobitt

Item for glebe land




4s 4d

…….. 10 mark paying to be dismissed for annual … to my Lord of Bangor 3s 4d

Item to the Archdeacon of Merioneth 20d.

Sr Lewis ap Hoel Rector of Llanvrothen. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxvi)

1535 Llanvayr Isegayr, Deanery of Isca & Ucho, Archdeaconry of Bangor:

Sr Ric ap William Vicar of Llan vaer ysegaer and the Betthowse by the virtue of his oyth sayth that the yearly sprituall valeue with the emolumente to the said vicarage any wyse beloyng extendyth to the sum of iij li. vj s. viij d.

Of the which sum the said vicar desyryth alloance as well as for anuall pxys to the Bysccopp and archicom as odr ordinary charges sum iij s.

P me Dnm Rychardu ap William. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, page xxix)

1535 Deanery of Llyn, in the diocese of Bangor:




YBERERCH from the Rectory appropriated by the priory of Bethkellyth. 

Rectoria. S Hugh ap Dd ap Thomas fermour of the parsonage of Abererch and fermour of the Benefice by virtue of his oothe shewithe and testifieth that the teythe corne, hempe, flax and hey of the said benefice extendithe  on yere with an other ad suma. 



viij d.

Suma … for the parsonage  
viij li. v s. (1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxxii)

Ex pte Vicarij itm

Vicaria - The Teythe wole






   xx s.

Also the offerings oblations emoluments and other profits thereto belonging iiij marke

Also in pigge geese kydd and such oder smalle teythe to the value of
 vj s. viij d.

The lambs and lactuall teythes extend the to the sum of

         xxvj s. viij d.

And askith alowance of the pxcus to the Bushope



 xj s. viij d.

And to the Archdekyn







  ij s.

Per me Dnm. Hugonem ap Dd ap Thomas  vicar. 

(1535 Valor Ecclesiasticus: Vol 6, p xxxii)

1535 Beddgelert Net income £69. (Bardsey: £46; Penmon: £40; Conway : £162; 

Cymer : £51)  (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, Appendix B p 560)

Sources of bishop’s income:

Spiritualities: income from appropriated churches, pensions from other churches, tithes, synodals, procurations …. (These last two were paid by houses in possession of appropriated parishes); 2-3% of gross income. 

Temporalities: revenue derived from the episcopal estates. 

Bangor had the lowest income in Wales (£131) . The twelve Welsh abbots were better off than the bishop of Bangor who possessed a solid concentration of territory in Bangor & the surrounding districts of Garth & Llanfaglan; they held a valuable manor at Edern, and across the Menai Strait, some of whose ferries they owned, they held important interests at Tre-ffos, Cantred & Talybolion. They also held two groups of farms in the Vale of Clwyd. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p271, 274, 371)

Monk’s Income:

Their Spiritualities consisted in the main of the profits accruing from benefices appropriated to the monastery, and to a lesser extent from oblations and offerings of various kinds. … Regular canons depended most on appropriations, since the original purpose of these orders was to make good the deficiencies in the ministry of secular priests. …The provision made by monasteries for the vicars on whom rested the cure of souls in appropriated parishes was not uniform. In general the monastery took the great tithes of corn and hay, and assigned the vicar the lesser tithes of natural increase and also any customary offerings. This meant that about two thirds of the fruit of the living went to the monastery.

The Bangor registers are too scrappy to enable any deductions about what the regular canons of north Wales were doing. But it is worth noting the assertion, made about twenty years after the dissolution it is true, that the canons of Beddgelert had been obliged, on account of the poverty of their house, to serve the cure not only of appropriated livings but of other parishes as well. (PRO, LR 6/152/2) NOT SEEN. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p347-50) 

Temporal sources of income were derived from estates. Bardsey had high number of free tenants - 113, nearly all occupying small parcels of land. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 356, 361) 

WITNESSES STATEMENTS taken in 1559 concerning the last days of the priory: NO QUESTIONS survive, ONLY ANSWERS.

1577 June 17 :  Exemplication of deposition of witnesses taken at Bethkelert co C on 31 May 1559 before Elice Price & Rice Thomas, Commissioners, in a case in the high court of Chancery between 

David ap Robert ap Griffith, & Griffith ap David his son, and 

William Conway & Agnes ap Hoell, widow.

Witnesses are 1. Elice Moris of Penmorfa, co C esq,

2. Thomas Bowlde of Llangynwen, co A, gent,

3. John ap Robert of Penmorfa, clerk. &

4. Meredydd ap Robert ap Iean (sic) ap Gr. ap Rice of Llanfihangell y Penull, co C

Depositions relate to the Priory of Bethkelert and leases.

Endorsed: Exemplification of depositions of wytnesses exemplifyed at the request of Morryce Wynn, Esq,  (NLW Elwes ms 263)


Summary of the four depositions taken at Beddgelert on 31 May 1559: 

Witnesses:

A. Elice Moris of the parishe of Penmorva in the countie of Caernarvon Esquire of thaye of lxvi [66] yeres and upwardes sworne and examyned upon his othe,( ie 43 in 1535)

B Thomas Bowlde of the parishe of Llangyrwew in the countie of Anglesey Gent. of theye of liiii [54] yeres or thereaboutes sworne and examyned saithe and deposethe uppon his othe. ( ie 21 in 1535 - where did he live then?)

C. John ap Robert of the parishe of Penmorfa in the Countie of Caern[arvon] Clerke of theye of lx [60] yeres or thereaboutes sworne and examined uppon his othe saithe and deposeth ( ie 37 in 1535; was he clerk there then?)

D. Meredithe ap Robert ap Ieuan ap Gr[riffith] ap Rice of the parishe of Llanvihangill y Pennall in the countie of Caern[arvon] of the age of lxvi [66] yeres or thereaboutes sworne and examyned saithe and deposeth uppon his othe. (ie 43 in 1535).

I.

A.
to the firste Article saithe and deposethe that he herde saye that the late dissloved Pryory of Bethkelert and all the possessions thereto belonging were unyted and annexed unto the late dyssolved monastery of Chartsey,

B
To the firste Article he knowithe nothinge.

C
To the firste Article that he herde saie that the late Pryorye of Bethkelert was united and annexed unto the late monasterie of Chartsey.

D
To the firste, second and thirde Articles that he knowith nothinge.

2.

A
and to the seconde Article he saithe that he herde say that the late Abbott of Chartsey didd lawfullie lette ferme under the Covente and Comyn seate of the saide house the whole posssessions of the saide Pryorye of Bethkelert unto John Gogh for terme of yeres yet enduringe and further saithe that he sawe John Goche and his assignes occupie the same by vertue of the saide lease.

B
Item to the seconde Article this deponent saithe that he herde saie that the late Pryorye of Bethkelert was lawfully demysed by the Abbott of Chartsey unto John Gogh for yeres yet enduring And that he have been a fermour to the saide John Gogh is assignes upon parcell of the said Pryorye.

C
Item to the second and third Articles he saithe the same be true for that he sawe the two severall leases made thereon.

D
To the firste, second and thirde Articles that he knowith nothinge.

3.

A
Item to the thirde article this deponent saithe that he harde saie that David ap Robert hathe laufullie thintereste and terme of yeres of and in the saide Pryorye of the saide John Goch and further saithe that he sawe the said David ap Robert occupie the same as assigne unto the saide John Goch.

B
Item to the thirde Article the saide deponent saithe that he herd saye that David ap Robert ap Gr[iffith] ap John had lawfullye thintereste of the saide John Gogh upon the saide Pryorye And he thid deponent was likewise Fermour to the saide David ap Robert of parcell of the saide Pryorye.

C
Item to the second and third Articles he saithe the same be true for that he sawe the two severall leases made thereon.

D
To the firste, second and thirde Articles that he knowith nothinge.

4.

A
Item to the fourthe article this deponent saithe that he herde and sawe David Conway call him selfe Prior of Bethkelert But he knowethe not whether he was laufull Prior in dede or not.

B
Item to the fourthe Article this deponent saithe that David Conwey called himselfe Prior of Bethkelert But whether he were Prior in dede or by what meanes this deponent knowithe not.

C
Item to the fourthe, fifte and vi Articles this deponent saithe the saide David Conwaye called hym selfe Pryor of Bethkelert But whether he were lawfullie elected, chosen or made hede or Governor of the saide Pryorye or by what authoritie hee was made Pryor or by what meanes the saide David Conway didd unlawfullye take uppon to dwell in the saide Pryorye this deponent knowith nott.

D
Item to the fourthe article this deponent saithe that he hrede the saide David Conwey call hym selfe Prior of Bethkelertt But whether he were Prior in dede or nott this deponent knowithe nott.

5.

A
Item to the fifte Article this Deponent saithe that he knowithe nothinge of the lauful election chosinge or makinge hedd or Governor of the saide Pryore of Bethkelert nor by what authoritie hee was Pryor nor whether he occupied the saide Pryorye  as Prior and was nott Pryor in dede nor professed.

B
Item to the fifte Article this deponent saithe he knowithe nothinge savinge that he sawe the said David Conwey occupye the saide Pryorye as pryor thereof.

C
Item to the fourthe, fifte and vi Articles this deponent saithe the saide David Conwaye called hym selfe Pryor of Bethkelert But whether he were lawfullie elected, chosen or made hede or Governor of the saide Pryorye or by what authoritie hee was made Pryor or by what meanes the saide David Conway didd unlawfullye take uppon to dwell in the saide Pryorye this deponent knowith nott.

D
Item to the fifte, vi, vii Article this deponent knowithe nothinge.

6.

A
Item to the vi Article this deponent knowith nothinge as he saithe. 

B
Item to the vi Article this deponent knowithe nothinge.

C
Item to the fourthe, fifte and vi Articles this deponent saithe the saide David Conwaye called hym selfe Pryor of Bethkelert But whether he were lawfullie elected, chosen or made hede or Governor of the saide Pryorye or by what authoritie hee was made Pryor or by what meanes the saide David Conway didd unlawfullye take uppon to dwell in the saide Pryorye this deponent knowith nott.

D
Item to the fifte, vi, vii Article this deponent knowithe nothinge.

7.

A
Item to the vii Article hee saithe likewise that he knowithe nothinge.

B
Item to the viith Article this deponent knowithe nothinge.

C
Item to the viith and viiith Articles the saide deponent saithe that he knowith nothinge but that he sawe David Conwaye occupye the saide Pryorye of Bethkelert for the space of xx [20] yeres or thereaboutes by the name of Pryor but by what meanes or authoritie this deponent knowithe nott.

D
Item to the fifte, vi, vii Article this deponent knowithe nothinge.

8. 

A
Item to the viii Article this deponent saithe that he sawe and knowithe that the said David Conwey occupied the saide late Pryorie of Bethkelert by the space of xxiiii [24] yeres but whether he occupied the same laufullie or nott or by meanes of the wrongfull entrie geven by Robert Subtell or not he knowith nott.

B
Item to the viiith Article this deponent saithe that he knewe and sawe David Conwey occupyenge the saide Pryorye for the space of viii [8] yeres or thereaboutes but whether he were by the preferment or puttinge in of Robert Subtell or not this deponent knowith nott.

C
Item to the viith and viiith Articles the saide deponent saithe that he knowith nothinge but that he sawe David Conwaye occupye the saide Pryorye of Bethkelert for the space of xx [20] yeres or thereaboutes by the name of Pryor but by what meanes or authoritie this deponent knowithe nott.

D
Item to the viiith article this deponent saithe that he sawe the saide David Conweye occupie the Pryorye of Bethkelert for the space of xx [20] yeres or more But by what means or authoritie this deponent knowithe nott.

9.

A
Item to the ixth Article he saithe that hee never knewe nether monkes Chanons nor brethern professed in the saide Pruorye of Bethkelert. But further saithe that he sawe above xltie [40] yeres paste A certen Friar of the Frierhouse of Denbighe serve and saie devyne service within the parish Church or Bethkelert aforesaide whose name this deponent knowithe nott.

B
Item to the ixth Article this deponent saithe that he never sawe nor knew eny monkes Chanons nor Brethren proffessed in the saide Pryorye of Bethkelert.

C
Item to the ixth, xth, xith Article the saide deponent saithe that he never knewe nor herde of any Chanons Monkes or Brethren to be of the saide house in all this deponents tyme.

D
Item to the ixth, xth, xith Articles this deponent saithe that he never harde of any Monkes, Chanons nor Brethren to be of the saide howse of Bethkelertt.

10.

A
Item to the xth Article this deponent saithe that he never knewe nether Monkes Chanons nor Bretherne att all to be of the saide house for this liiii [54] yeres paste.

B
Item to the tenthe Article the saide deponent saithe that he never knewe nether monkes Chanons nor Friers of the aforesaid pryorye at all savinge the saide David Conwey By the name of Pryor.

C
Item to the ixth, xth, xith Article the saide deponent saithe that he never knewe nor herde of any Chanons Monkes or Brethren to be of the saide house in all this deponents tyme.

D
Item to the ixth, xth, xith Articles this deponent saithe that he never harde of any Monkes, Chanons nor Brethren to be of the saide howse of Bethkelertt.

11.

A
Item to the xith article the saide deponents saithe that hee knewe no nomber of Monkes Chanons nor Brethern professed in the saide Pryore of all the tyme of Kinge Henrye theighte nor at anye tyme sence.

B
Item to the xith Article this deponent saithe as hee hath before saide that he never knewe nether monkes Chanons nor brethren of the saide Pryory save onlye the said David Conwey as Pryor.

C
Item to the ixth, xth, xith Article the saide deponent saithe that he never knewe nor herde of any Chanons Monkes or Brethren to be of the saide house in all this deponents tyme.

D
Item to the ixth, xth xith Articles the saide deponent saithe that he knowithe nothinge.

12.

A
Item to the xiith Article this deponent saithe that he knowithe not whether the corporacion of the saide Pryorye was dissolved for lacke of bretherne Monkes or Chanons there or not. But he never knewe no monkes Chanons nor Brethern there as hee hathe before saide.

B
Item to the xiith Article the saide deponent saithe that he knowithe not whether the crporacion of the saide Pryorye was dissolved for want of monkes Chanons and brethren or nott or howe longe it is since the same was dissolved he remembreth not.

C
Item to the xiith, xiiith Article the saide deponent saithe that he knowith not for what cause the corporacion of the saide Pryorye was dissolved But saithe he never sawe no Monckes nor Chanons there in all this deponents tyme nor remembreth whether the dissolution of the saide Pryorye was before the saide statute of Henry theighte or after.

D
Item to the xiith, xiiith Articles the saide deponent saithe that he knowithe nothinge.

13.

A
Item to the xiiith Article the saide deponent saithe that he knowithe not certenlye what tyme the saide Pryorye and possession thereto belonginge came to the handes of Kinge Henrye theight nor whether it came before the statute made for dissolution of houses of Religion or after.

B
Item to the xiiith Article this deponent saithe that he knowithe nott whether the saide Pryorye came to the handes of king Henrye theight before the makinge of the statutue made for the dissolucion of monasteries or nott.

C
Item to the xiith, xiiith Article the saide deponent saithe that he knowith not for what cause the corporacion of the saide Pryorye was dissolved But saithe he never sawe no Monckes nor Chanons there in all this deponents tyme nor remembreth whether the dissolution of the saide Pryorye was before the saide statute of Henry theighte or after.

D
Item to the xiith, xiiith Articles the saide deponent saithe that he knowithe nothinge.

14.

A
Item to the xiiiith Articles this deponent saithe that there were in the saide Pryorye together with the saide David Conwey nether Monkes nor Brethern that used to make leases upon the possessions of the saide late Pryorye for that he knewe never suche monkes nor chanons whiche myghte make any suche lease as he hathe before deposed, And further saithe that the saide David Conwey alone by the name of Prior and Covent did use to grannte leases upon parte of the saide possessions whereof this deponent hadd a lease grannted to hym upon a parcell of the saide possessions by the saide David Conwey alone by the name of Prior and Covent whiche lease hathe taken noe effect sithence the dissolucion of the saide Pryorye.

B
Item to the xiiiith Article This deponent saithe that he never knewe of any Chanons monkes nor Brethren that used to sett leases together with the saide David Conwey upon the possessions of the saide Pryorye save onlie the saide David Conwey by the name of the Pryor himselfe grannted the same.

C
Item to the xiiiith Article this deponent saithe that he knowithe not of any leases made for that there were no Channons nor Monkes of the saide house to make the same.

D
Item to the xiiiith Article the saide deponent saithe that he never harde of any leases made by the saide  David Conwey withe the assent of any bretherne or Monkes for that there were no such there.

15.

A
Item to the xvth Article this deponent saithe that the saide late subposed Pryor hadd a certen seale wherewith he used comenlye to make and seale leases without thassent of any monkes or Channons of the saide Priorye for that there were no suche monkes nor Chanons there at any tyme that this deponent ever knewe, but whether the saide seale was a comon seale of that house or not he knowithe not.

B
Item to the xvth Article the saide deponent saithe that the saide David Conwaye did use to lett owte leases upon the possessions of the saide Pryorye but under what seale he knowithe nott.

C
Item to the xvth Article this deponent saithe that he herde saie the saide late Pryor had a seale wherewith he used to seale leases But whether the same were a comen seale or not he knowith nott.

D
Item to the xvth Article the saide deponent saithe that he harde saye that there was a seale with the saide Davide Conwey that he used to seale withe butt he never sawe itt.

16.

A
Item to the xvith article the saide deponent saithe that the saide David Conwey made certen leases to dyvers of his frendes but whether he made them to deceave the said late Kinge or not this deponent knowithe not.

B
Item to the xvith Article the saide deponent saithe that he herde saie that the saide David Conwey made leases to dyvers of his frendes upon certen of the possessions of the saide Pryore but whether he ment any comyn fraude or decepte therein  or nott this deponent knowith nott.

C
Item to the xvith Article this deponent saithe that the saide late Pryor made dyvers leases to certen of his frendes But whether he ment any coven or decpte therin this deponent knowithe nott.

D
Item to the xvith, xviith, xviiith, xixth and laste articles this deponent can depose and saie nothinge.


17.

A
Item to the xviith Article this deponent saithe that he herde saie that the saide David Conwey made a lease for certen yeres, the number he knowithe nott, unto one Hughe Conwey upon the tenementes called Millione and sealed the same with the saide usual seale whiche he had in his custodie withoute the assente of any monkes or Chanons for that there were no suche there as he hathe before saide.

B
Item to the xviith, xviiith, xixth and laste articles this deponent saithe that he therein knowithe nothinge.




C
Item to the xviith Article this deponent saithe that he herde saye that the saide David Conwaye made A lease unto Hughe Conwey for certen yeres but for howe many yeres he knowith nott.

D
Item to the xvith, xviith, xviiith, xixth and laste articles this deponent can depose and saie nothinge.

18.

A
Item to the xviiith article this deponent saithe that he never sawe the said Hugh Conwey occupie the saide tenement But whether he receved any benefittt by the saide lease or not he knowithe not or for what cause he did not occupie hit he knowithe not.

B
Item to the xviith, xviiith, xixth and laste articles this deponent saithe that he therein knowithe nothinge.




C
Item to the xviiith, xixth and laste Articles this deponent knowithe nothinge.

D
Item to the xvith, xviith, xviiith, xixth and laste articles this deponent can depose and saie nothinge.


19 & 20.

A
Item to the xixth and laste Article this deponent can depose nothinge. 

B
Item to the xviith, xviiith, xixth and laste articles this deponent saithe that he therein knowithe nothinge.




C
Item to the xviiith, xixth and laste Articles this deponent knowithe nothinge.

D
Item to the xvith, xviith, xviiith, xixth and laste articles this deponent can depose and saie nothinge.


(The articles / questions are not known; the above replies are summarised from a translation of NLW ms Elwes 263)

COMMENTS on the above statements:

The statements were made 23 years after the dissolution  so memories may not have been accurate. It is not known whom the witnesses were supporting, and whether they free to speak openly. 

The numbers of ordinations of men from Beddgelert made between 1508-1515 was likely to indicate that canons were present at Beddgelert after that period. It is possible that the canons lived in the appropriated parishes and not in Beddgelert priory.

It is not known who Hugh Conway and William Conway were. They may have been related to Dafydd Conway. A Hugh Conway was a son of John Conway, the Abbot of Enlli, and possibly a nephew to Prior Dafydd Conway.

DISSOLUTION:
1535: The Priory of Beddgelert had been suppressed before 7th May, when it was in the King‘s hand. The Prior David Conway was dead before 1535; there was said to be no one to take his place and the priory became the property of the King who thus received the rents from tenants. 

“Lewis ap Morris said that Dafydd Conway died a little while before the passing of the statute to dissolve the smaller monastic houses, when the priory remained empty for a short while until it was taken by the King under the force of that statute. He denied all the evidence that Dafydd Conway was not legally Prior of Beddgelert and a professed canon, and claimed that he was lawfully elected and lawfully granted leases”. (C A Gresham, Eifionydd, 1973, p 67-8)

By 7 May 1535 Beddgelert priory had been suppressed. 

John Gostwicke. To be Treasurer and General Receiver, and Commissioner of Forest Fruits and Tenths, in accordance with the statute 26 Henry VIII, in every diocese in England and Wales, Calais, Hammes and Guynes. Also Commission to receive the issue of the possessions acquired by the King ……. and especially of ….. the late priories of Bethekellard and Caldwich (?Cardigan), in the lordship of Wales or elsewhere, which came to the King’s hands on the suppression of the said late “abbeys” or priories. Also to receive all profits, fines, etc which belong to the King by the voidance of sees and monasteries and religious houses ……… with an annuity of £100. Westminster 7 May 1535. (SP Pat. 27 Henry VIII p1 ms8-10). 

(Henry VIII Letters & Papers Foreign & Domestic, vol VIII [1535] ms 802[20] )

1535 November 30. R.O. Margaret Calywery (?) and John Lord Husey to Cromwell.

Requesting his favour of John Reignold, one of the Princess’s footmen, who desires a farm of the priory of Bethekelert, co Carnarvon, lately suppressed. The favour will be agreeable to her Grace. Knolle. 30 Nov. Signed.

P 1 Add: To our right loving friend Mr Cromwell. 

(John Lord Husey was chief butler of England)

(Letters & Papers Foreign & Domestic. 27 Henry VIII vol IX Ms 900)

On 15 January 1536, Greenwich : King Henry VIII granted Beddgelert to the Abbey of Chertsey in Surrey in exchange for the manor of Chabham etc. granted to John abbot of St Peter, Chertsey by their charter dated 1 May 27 Henry VIII (1535).

John Corderey, the abbot and the convent of St Peter, Chertsey, Surrey. 

Mortmain grant of the ground, site, etc of the monastery of St Mary, Beethkilhert, Anglesea, and all those messuages, 100 acres of land, 40 acres of pasture, 3 acres of meadow, 100 acres of wood and £6 rent; all the messuages etc in the vills, fields etc of Tresbyerth, Llandam (?), Treverth, Anglesea, and in Penarth Pont Dolewethlan Ebererche Llanvairisgaer in Beethkylhart and Woytheer, Carnarvon, which David Conway, the late prior held in right of the said priory; with the patronage of the churches, vicarages, chapels and chantries of Beethkylhart Llanyddan, Dolongand alias Dolithlond, Llanwayer, Abberagh and Bettus, in Anglesea and Carnarvon.

This grant is made in exchange for the following possessions granted to the King by John the abbot and the convent of St Peter, Chertsey, by their charter dated 1 May (1535) 27 Henry VIII. Viz: …. the Manor of Chatham ……. With the annual rent of £6 13s 4d. Greenwich, 15 Jan 27 Henry VIII. (Enrolled 1 Jan).

(Henry VIII Letters & Papers Foreign & Domestic, vol X [1536] ms 226. 17 page 80)

It is not known why  the King granted Beddgelert monastery to Chertsey It may have been linked to the fact that Thomas bishop of Bangor had also been Abbot of Chertsey. No documents survive in the Chertsey records relating to how the Beddgelert priory lands &  churches were managed.

Chertsey was also granted Cardigan priory where in 1538 the shrine of the miraculous taper of the Virgin at St Mary‘s was worth 20 nobles a year to Chertsey. (Glanmor Williams, 1962, The Welsh Church from Conquest to Reformation, p 353)

Between January 1536 and July 1537, the Abbot of Chertsey granted a lease of the site, manors, messuages etc of the Priory of Beddgelert to John Gouch who was dead by 1544. (PRO Court of Augmentations, 251/35) 

John Gough was Ieuan ap Llywelyn ap Gronw of Eifionydd, who of 1533 bought Hendre Gadredd (Tuthyn John ap Illa) in Gest from William ap Howel ap Madog ap Howel of Pennarth Fawr. In 1647 John Goch’s son William ab Ieuan mortgaged Hendre Gadlan and redeemed it in 1549; he sold it to William Maurice of Clenennau (NLW, Clenennau Deeds 71, 90, 91; C A Gresham, Eifionydd, 1973, p 66, 315-6).

1536 : Beddgelert priory was dissolved when just three canons served the church and community. (R Cooper, Abbeys and Priories of Wales, 1992, p 41) No references are given to support this statement.

There are said to have been (under ten) 9 religious at Beddgelert at the time of its suppression, and it was granted to the newly founded Benedictine abbey at Bisham. 

(D Knowles & R N Hadcock, Medieval Religious Houses: England & Wales, 2nd edition 1971, p 147)

1536 The property of all religious houses with an income of less than £200 a year was to be surrendered to the crown. This included all the religious houses in Wales. 

(D Walker, A History of the Church in Wales, 1976, p59)

1537 July 6: The abbot, John Cordrey, and 14 monks at Chertsey surrendered on the understanding that they would be moved to the monastery at Bisham.

1537 Dec 18: The King granted to the newly founded Benedictine monastery of Bisham with all possessions of the late Abbey of Chertsey (Surrey), thus Cherstey was re-established at Bisham. These possessions included chantries at ...... Bethkilhert in addition to possessions at ..... Bethekilhart. Bisham was a new foundation. The foundation was on the site of the late priory of Bisham alias Bisham Mountague alias Bustelesham, Berks, now dissolved, granted to the King by William, bishop of St David’s, late commendatory prior of the same, and the convent there by their new charter dated 5 July 28 Henry VIII. The Charter was for the foundation of a new monastery to consist of  one abbot and 13 monks of the Benedictine order, to pray for the good estate of the King and for the soul of the late Queen Consort Jane, etc, to be called King Henry the Eighth’s new monastery of Holy Trinity of Bustelesham. John Cordrey, monk of the above order, was to be the abbot. Also grant (in consideration that the said John Cordrey, late abbot and the convent of  the late monastery of St Peter, Chartesey, Surrey, by their charter dated 6 July 29 Henry VIII, granted to the King their said monastery all its possessions in England and Wales) of incorporation to the said new monastery, with the privilege to the abbot to wear a mitre like any other abbot of that order in England, and of the following possessions, viz:

1) Possessions of the late priory of Bisham ………

2) Possessions of the late abbey of Chertsey ………

… the late priory of Cardigan, S Wales, (which belonged to Chertsey), with the rectory of Cardigan, and all possessions of the priory;

… The late priory of St Mary Beechekilhart alias Bethelkellard, Carnarvon, Wales (which belonged to Cherstey), with all its possessions in Tresburth, Llandam, and Treberth, in co Anglesea, Penarth, Penant, Delewethlond, Eberererighe, Llanvairisgar, Bethekilhart and Wayther, in co Carnarvon, or elsewhere, and the rectories, vicarages and rights of patronages, of the churches, vicarages, chapels and chantries of Bethkilhart, Llanyddan, Dologand alias Dologheland, Llanaure, Llanveugle, Abberagh, and Bettus, in cos Anglesea and Carnarvon. (Henry VIII Letters & Papers Foreign & Domestic, vol 12 part II [1537] ms 1311 [22] page 469)

1538 June 19 : Bisham Abbey was forced to surrender along with the larger monastic houses. (C N Johns, 1960, The Celtic Monasteries of North Wales, TCHS, Vol 21, p 41; D Knowles & R N Hadcock, Medieval Religious Houses: England & Wales, 2nd edition 1971, p 59-60, 62)
At the Dissolution the Government enforced a rule that all under the age of 24 or who had professed before the age of 20 should be dismissed. (Monastic Life in Medieval England, Dickinson, 1961, Adam & Charles Black., p 112-113)
Llanvair is gaer, Bethkelert, Abererch, Dolwythelan & Llanfihangel y Penant : which five parishes with their chapels belonging to Bethkelert Priory were, on the annexing of that priory to Bisham Abbey, co Berkshire, for some time part of the possessions thereof, till the general Dissolution as may be seen in the Monasticon Vol 3, p 21.

Llanidan belonged to Bethkelert , and so for some time to Bisham.

(Browne Willis, 1821, Survey of the Cathedral Church of Bangor, p327-8)

The lands and revenues of Beddgelert were then placed under the jurisdiction of the Court of Augmentations. (C A Gresham, Eifionydd, 1973, p 66 )

There is a tradition that great opposition was offered to the surrender of the emouluments of the above Priory into the hands of the Commissioners, ending in fighting and bloodshed in the Nanmor and other districts. A full account is to be found in the History of the Families of Hafod Gargog (sic), Dolfinz yn Nanmor, and Cae Dafydd. (Elias, c 1897, Abbeys and Convents of the Vale of Conway, p 31) This source has not been traced.

Tanner p 704-5
Bethkelert, or De Valle S. Marie in Snaudonia.

A priory of Black canons dedicated to St Mary of a very ancient foundation. For, upon its being much damaged by fire about AD 1283, Anianus, bishop of Bangor granted an indulgence to all those that should contribute towards the rebuilding it, and therein calls it, the oldest Religious House in all Wales except Bardsey. 

It was valued, 26 Hen 8 at £70 3s 8d as Dugdale, and £69 3s 8d as Speed; and granted 27 Hen 8 in exchange to the monastery of Chertsey in Surrey, and in 29 Hen 8 together with Chertsey, to the abbey of Bisham in Berkshire, and now (1730) belongs to Lord Radnor.

Vide in Mon, Angl. Tomii p100: Cartam 14Ed I n5 recit. Ex testimonio Aniani erisc. donationes diver sorum principium, et confirmautem priori et con. Onnes terras quas antea possedderunt. (From the evidence of Bishop Anian different grants of divers chief … and confirming to the prior and convent all the lands which formerly they possessed.)

In Prynni Recordor. tom iii. P572, pat 21 Ed I m3, licentiam eligendi priorem, et pro restitutione temporalium. (It is recorded in Rymer that the right of choosing a prior should be granted to them and for the restitution of property); P 1292 brev.16 Ed 1. de lite inter episc. eliensem et priorem conv. St Mariae de Bethkelert sedanda. (=? in the litigation between the bishops that the  bounty of the convent St Mary of Beddgelert should be established).

In Rymeri (1818) Foederi etc vol ii p316: literas testimoniales Aniani episc. Bangor. Super antiquities et cartis istius conventius etc indulgent benefactor bus. AD 1286. (printed in Steven’s Append. p182) (=?In Rymer - the written testimony of Anian the bishop of Bangor concerning the former agreement and charter of the convent etc the benefactor allows…)

In Willis’s Survey of Bangor p208: bona temporalia prioratus de Bethcelert AD 1291.

In bibl. Harleiana MS 696 fol 101. Narrationem Placiti de quo Waranto super liberatibus Prioris Vallis B Mariae de Bethkelethe.

Dugdale: 1718, Monasticorum Angl. Vol VI p 200

The Priory of Bethkelert, or de Val S Mariae de Snaudonia, for black canons, was of early foundation, though it has by some been ascribed to Llewellyn the last reigning Prince of Wales.

The first two Instruments given in the Appendix to the present Account relate to its restoration after having been destroyed by fire accidentally, in or about AD 1283. In the second of them, Anianus bishop of Bangor, enumerating its early benefactors, grants an indulgence of forty days to all who should contribute to the rebuilding, and declares it to have been the oldest religious house in all Wales except Bardsey.

In 1291 the rents and profits of the Convent amounted to £70 4s 2d.

In the 27 Hen VIII the revenues amounted to £70 3s 8d.

Priors of Bethkelert: Madoc occurs in the 14 Edw 1.(cf Cart 14 Edw I n5) 

Llewellin received the Temporalities as Prior  20th May, 15th Edw II. (Pat Edw II p2)

His successor was John de Leyn; he received the temporalities 10th April, 11th Edw III (Pat 11 Edw III p1)

David Conway was the last Prior. ( Ms Cole, vol xxvii fol 120b)


The site of Bethkelert was granted in the 27th Hen VIIIth in exchange to the Monasterty of Chertsey, in Surrey; and, in the 29th Hen VIIIth together with Chertsey, to the Abbey of Bisham, in Berkshire. It now belongs to the earl of Radnor.


There are no Ministers’ Accounts of this Priory in the Augmentation Office, the return in the Ecclesiastical Taxation 26th Hen VIII is therefore given in lieu of it.


[Penmon: Dugdale vol IV, p 581-3
Bardsey: Dugdale vol IV, p 659-662.]

In 1536 at the dissolution of the smaller monasteries … the king took the property into his hands, and either gave it away to favoured courtiers or sold it to speculators who generally resold it locally, often to men like sir Richard Bulkeley at Penmon in Anglesey, who had served the monastery as stewards and so had an inside knowledge of its estates. … The widely scattered lands of Beddgelert were first assigned as part of the jointure of Anne of Cleves, the “Flanders Mare” who was Henry VIII’s wife for six months; they were later dispersed among a numbers of purchasers.

(A H Dodd, 1968, A History of Caernarvonshire 1284-1900, p 45-6)



